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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been established as a market designed to accommodate companies
to which a high investment risk may be attached. In particular, companies
may list on GEM with neither a track record of profitability nor any obligation
to forecast future profitability. Furthermore, there may be risks arising out of
the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM and the business sectors or
countries in which the companies operate. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater
risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more
suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is publication on the
internet website operated by the Exchange. Listed companies are not generally
required to issue paid announcements in gazetted newspapers. Accordingly,
prospective investors should note that they need to have access to the GEM
website in order to obtain up-to-date information on GEM-listed issuers.

The Exchange takes no responsibility for the contents of the report, makes no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

The Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility for this
report which is given in compliance with the requirements (Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM) of the Exchange. The Directors confirm, having
made all resonable enquires, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, (i)
the information contained in the report are accurate and complete in all material
aspests and not misleading; (i) there are no other facts the omission of which
would make any statement herein misleading; and (iii) opinions espressed in
this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration on the basis
and assumptions of reasonableness and fairness.
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MISSION STATEMENT 2 8{#Eds

Phoenix provides Chinese communities around the world with a continuous stream of
Chinese-language programming, ranging from entertainment and talk shows through to
balanced, accurate and up-to-the-minute news and information about developments around
the globe. By performing this mission, Phoenix brings China closer to the world and the
world closer to China.

BEEEAXMNEILHIZTEMNNEZGNE  BHERE  TENFWROE - ERARF
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2006 represents the tenth

anniversary of Phoenix as a Hong
Kong-based television broadcaster.
During this ten-year period Phoenix
has grown from being a single
channel to a global system, with
three channels broadcasting to
China and across the Asia-Pacific
region, a North-American channel
and a European channel. Phoenix
has also established itself as the
main conveyer of Mandarin Chinese
news and information programming
to mainland China and the broader
global Chinese community.
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MILESTONES EiE#

1997

1 JUNE Phoenix sponsored and

staged “Leaping the Yellow River”,
in which the dare-devil driver from W 9 9 8
Taiwan, Ke Shouliang, drove his
W 9 9 6 motor car in a spectacular leap 19 MARCH While answering a
across the Yellow River. question from Phoenix presenter
Sally Wu, Chinese Premier Zhu
31 MARCH Phoenix Chinese 6A1H mEEHRENRLLEN Rongiji told a National People’s
Channel began broadcasting. [RBET ] > AEMNRAAZRER Congress press conference
3B318 BEEEEHA FRRKIE - SEER I ERE S — 8 o that “I reaIIy’I]ike to watch her
programme.
30 JUNE -2 JULY For sixty 3A198 MEEEABEEZBAK
hours Phoenix provided detailed
and multi-faceted news coverage REE LEERBARIRHARNA
of the ceremonies surrounding KRR - WRR [KRIEFTSEEF ML
the handover of Hong Kong’s EE] o
sovereignty to the People’s
Republic of China. 23 JUNE - 3 JULY Phoenix
. provided live coverage of the visit
6A30R -7A28 Zaw#A @ to China by former U.S. President
BTN ABRHRS - 24 Clinton and the press conference
ZAEEEREREOEANGEN of former President Jiang Zemin
HERERRBERER2BIE - and Clinton.

6A 23H -7A 3H EEREFEE B
RARIERIE - EERIEREEITERAM
RAEES
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1999

1 NOVEMBER Phoenix signed an

agreement with the main Malaysian
DTH broadcaster, ASTRO, making

Phoenix available to more than six

million Malaysian Chinese.

11A18 REARERARESNK

P B B N AIASTROERK 15 -
AENESNERADEABREN
#1A o

BER 1999

2000

FEBRUARY - MAY Phoenix
reported extensively on the Taiwan
election, including broadcasting
live the inaugural address by
Chen Shui-bian.

2R-5R REGRESERRE
BEBERRRKBRBER -

30 JUNE Phoenix Satellite
Television held an IPO on the GEM
Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

6A30H EEMREEBH A
BIZMR £ -

T =
‘.if

2007

1 JANUARY Phoenix InfoNews
Channel and Phoenix North
America Chinese Channel began
operating, giving Phoenix the
capacity to bring a constant flow
of news to the global Chinese
community and also extending its
reach to North America.

1A1R BEARERA REEMER
EMABERRME - BEFRE—F
REHNEFHEERGRIREA - LA
IR & B A 2IEE -

11 SEPTEMBER Phoenix cut

all scheduled programming to
broadcast 36 hours of live reporting
on the terrorist attacks on New
York and Washington.

9A11H FEFREEI6NKEE
EBOI1FEMH -

o

JUNE 2000
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MILESTONES EiE#

2002

23 OCTOBER Phoenix reported
live on the hostage crisis in
Moscow

10A 230 REAREEEIREIR
BRI AEEM -

2003

20 MARCH With the outbreak

of the Irag war Phoenix began
reporting from the front line for 25
consecutive days, producing a total
of 506 hours of reporting.

3A 208 =S BEFRE—
B A B - (3 H20 B4R
25K - BOB/NETMEE# ©

24 MARCH Phoenix reporter Rose
Lugiu and cameraman Ken Choi
faced serious dangers in Baghdad
after the outbreak of hostilities and
were the first Chinese reporting
team to do so.

3A24H BE#HEXLEREER
TR B ST S A el I EA
BRZE  RRBFITEREHEA
BEEHOEALE -

8 NOVEMBER The first Miss
Chinese Cosmos pageant final was
held in Hong Kong.

11A8H HE [hENERKAE]
BRBEREERRETLET

06 EEFEBFHR 2005

MARCH 2003

zee

MARCH Mr. Rupert Murdoch and

Mr. Liu Changle, JP, the chief executives
of the two companies that established
Phoenix Satellite Television, met in
Los Angeles and to mark Phoenix’s
eighth anniversary held a televised
seminar in which they expounded their
personal views on the role of the media.

38 AIZBEEREFEENREEAFEIHA
2| & 24 K F 4+ K Rupert Murdoch4t
SR ER  TE—ELSBR
B JVGAFMEREAE L wmit
TE 45 2 BRI B8 S TS P SR B, ©

25 OCTOBER While on a visit to
Beijing, United States Secretary

of State Colin Powell met with the
Chairman and CEO of Phoenix,

Mr. Liu Changle, JP, and was
interviewed by Phoenix’s chief
commentator Anthony Yuen.
Phoenix Satellite Television was the
only Chinese-language television
broadcaster invited to interview Mr.
Powell.

10A 250 <EIRBEMBEMEILR
AEEE @R TREHREZRER
RITBAARHBIRERN L - WEZT
BEER i 8RBT - BERR
2 ME— 558 AR RO AR TR o




20005

18 - 25 AUGUST Phoenix
reported at length on “A Peaceful
Mission — 2005”, a joint military
exercise involving both Russian
and Chinese military forces.

8A18 - 250 AEIEHAERRITER

[FF{£ap —2005] MBEERES -
LR BI20% F AR B2 N B XTI AR
HURIAER o

19 - 30 SEPTEMBER At the
invitation of Phoenix’s Chairman
and CEO, Mr. Liu Changle, JP, and
the famous Taiwan scholar, writer
and political figure Li Ao undertook
a twelve-day cultural visit to China,
during which he addressed
universities in Beijing and Shanghai.
This was Li Ao’s first visit to the
mainland since his departure 56
years earlier.

9A19-30H KBEAREERE
FERITRBRBRER T8
AEELER R ERELZEE
FRELR - LENEBETRE
12 R XL » = 2F AR Bl KR
B56F & B REBALE

8 NOVEMBER Phoenix was the only
Chinese Broadcaster to have the
personal interview with the United
States President George Bush
before he visited China, Japan,
Korea and Mongolia.

11A8R =EEHSMKRELDTE -
BAR - BERRGH > £FAZERT
BEBRZED - Bk M EMA

ERHE—— R XERREET

21 - 23 NOVEMBER The
Chairman and CEO of Phoenix,

Mr. Liu Changle, JP, served as the
Chairman of the International Emmy
Awards ceremony in New York.

11A21-23 HERBEKEEHER
BRET-R R BRI BRI AR BT
REERESRREFERTRAHE| KL
AFHLTEBEENEREROET -

25 NOVEMBER Phoenix became
the first international Chinese-
language television broadcaster
to gain the approval of the
Canadian Radio-television and
Telecommunications Commission
to broadcast in Canada.

11A25H BEARERE —REE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Group’s revenue exceeded
one billion, maintaining the positive
performance Phoenix achieved in
2004. Revenue for the year ended
31 December 2005 was 7.8% higher
than the previous year, and was
approximately HK$1,034,768,000*.

The increase in revenue generated
an annual profit attributable to
equity holders of approximately
HK$181,482,000, which was a
20.6% improvement over the profit
achieved in 2004.

The performance of InfoNews
remained relatively stable, with a
marginal increase in revenue being
offset by a rise in operating costs.

The Board recommended a final
dividend of HK$0.012 per share.

BB E

AEEMWABBTEL  TETHEE
FBER_ZETOFNESHOIFELESE
RE  -BE_ETZEAF+_RA=+—H
LEFE MR AES4)1,034,768,000
BT BEFEH7.8% -

WA RS RS ITE ARG FEER
#49181,482,0008 7T - | _ZTTM4F
&M EF20.6% °
BEEREMaNEERRIAEY
SE WAREEREEREEALSE
BRAS BT -

EEgRARERPREFR0.012
BT e

BEERFHR 2005
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RESULTS

The Group’s revenue for 2005 increased 7.8% over that of 2004,
which was itself a major turn-around after several loss-making
years. The main driver behind this result was the further growth in
advertising revenue, which represented over 90% of the Group’s
total revenue. Profit attributable to equity holders reached a record
high of approximately HK$181,482,000.

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2005
was approximately HK$1,034,768,000%, which represented a
moderate growth of 7.8% as compared with 2004. Operating costs
increased by 6.7% to approximately HK$876,083,000*, mainly as a
consequence of the increase in doubtful debt provisions.

The Group'’s profit from operations and profit attributable to equity
holders for the year ended 31 December 2005 were approximately
HK$158,685,000 and HK$181,482,000 respectively. These figures
represented improvements of approximately HK$20,149,000 and
HK$30,988,000 respectively as compared to the same period of
2004. Profit attributable to equity holders was mainly generated by
the increase in advertising revenue. The aggregate amount of the
gain on disposal in May 2005 of 50% of the Group’s interest in the
property to be built in Shenzhen of approximately HK$12,000,000
and the revaluation of the Renminbi in July 2005 of approximately
HK$10,000,000 had boosted the profit attributable to equity
holders. However, the Group’s tax expense in 2005 increased by
approximately HK$16,000,000 as compared with that of 2004.

The chart of results presented below compares the performance
of the year ended 31 December 2005 with that of the same period
of 2004 in order to give a clearer picture of the overall trend of the
Group’s operations.

E3

AEE_ZERFMBERUAR_ZTMF LT
7.8% M_ZENERAEEELERFER
REENEAEBLSAN—F - TRELEEEN
IZ2HNREFWRARBE —FTEE  HAEH
BUABOI0% - mFAARMEENEEIER

#9181,482,000/% 7T °

AEEBE—_ZTERF L+ A=+ "RLFEN

WA K £A1,084,768,000/ T -

BEFRAEE

7.8%  BEKA FF6.7%ZE4876,083,000
B TERHNREREMBEMMAE -

$$Iéﬁi_§§£¢+_ﬂ

S+—AIEEE

MEEREMEESHEABRMGEND RO S
158,685 000787t & 181,482,000/ 7T * Lt M 1A

& A 2 Bl B — F = PO F [/ HY 4 A

#720,149,000

5aﬁ&SO 988,000/ 7T ° m A MEZEAR
EWRALARMBR - R-_ZZERAFHEALELRS

lft/ I B2 ) 9 3550 % 7 25 P ER 15 E’]Hﬂ(ﬁﬁ?’]
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T A=t HLEFEE-_TETM
B ABREBRBRTIASERTNE

ﬂAﬁéﬁn%*ﬁ)\
R_ZETHFH
00,000/ 7T, °

HE_TTAF
FRMEER
ERERBY -

Year ended 31 December

HET-_A=T—HILFE

2005 2004

—EERF —ZETMF

HK$’000F#&x HK$ 000F#T

Phoenix Chinese Channel BERFE 749,650 707,005

Phoenix InfoNews Channel BERENE 165,186 161,700
Phoenix Movies Channel, J—UEL@HE?E%‘:T °

Phoenix North America Chinese Channel & BEREME &

Phoenix Chinese News and Entertainment Channel BEREMa 51,298
Other businesses Ei\‘rﬁlii‘% 39,657
Group’s total revenue REEB AU A 1,034,768 * 959,660
Operating costs FEEAD TN (876,083)* (821,124
Profit from operations 5 g A 158,685 138,536
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company RAalE=EE AEARTF 181,482 150,494
Earnings per share, Hong Kong cents BRAZF - B 3.67 3.05

* Due to the change of accounting policy in 2005 on the presentation of “Advertising Revenues”, relevant figures were restated and the change had no effect
on the profit/loss of the Group. Please refer to the “Management Discussion and Analysis” for a detail explanation and the effect of the change in

accounting policy.

CHRE-—ZTRFHAMEY [BESKRA] IR RREMER  HHEFEFHES  HABEYTEHAEENGT / BREXETAZE -

HAEMEBERAYEFSH [EERHBREAW] -
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND PROSPECTS

2005 was a remarkably successful year for the Phoenix Group.
The Group’s income exceeded one billion Hong Kong dollars,
continuing the strong performance recorded in 2004. The profit
attributable to equity holders rose by 20.6% over the figure set in
2004, and the Directors recommend a final dividend of HK$0.012
per share.

The Group has expanded its audience, both internationally and
even more dramatically within mainland China. At the same time
Phoenix has been recognized by the international press and major
foreign governments as a unique Mandarin Chinese broadcaster.

The current advertising sales system, which has the flexibility to
allow advertising agencies across China to market advertising
on behalf of Phoenix, has produced a much more dynamic and
comprehensive network of advertising agencies with an interest in
marketing Phoenix.

Phoenix Chinese Channel remained the Group’s flagship, and
continued to generate the bulk of the Group’s income, accounting
for 72.4% of the Group’s revenue, with its own income increasing
by 6% over the last financial year. The Chinese Channel maintained
the Phoenix tradition of innovative programming, and provided the
Chinese audience with cutting edge entertainment and up-to-the-
minute information on economic and political developments.

Another major driver behind the Group’s continuing success has
been the steady performance of InfoNews. Higher operating costs
prevented InfoNews reaching the break-even point, but surveys
show that the InfoNews audience has been expanding.

When it was first established in 2001 InfoNews was a serious
financial strain on the Group, but in the past two years it has
made major progress in expanding its revenue and its audience.
Its first-hand coverage of major international events, such as
the violence in Irag, the ongoing tension in Israel-Palestinian
relations, and the terrorist attacks on London, matches the
coverage provided by other major international television news
services. But InfoNews also covers regional issues, such as the
visit to mainland China of key Taiwan political figures, Taiwan
elections, the humiliation of some female Chinese visitors to
Malaysia, and the evolution of Japanese policy towards China,
Taiwan and East Asia in general, that are of direct interest to the
global Chinese audience but which are rarely covered by any
other international television news services. No other Chinese
broadcaster combines international and regional, Chinese-related
news as InfoNews does.

InfoNews has also made a major contribution to the image of the
Phoenix Group at large, underscoring the Group’s reputation for an
extremely comprehensive and timely coverage of major international
events and developments. This was highlighted in 2005 by interviews
with the British Prime Minister Tony BLAIR during his visit to China
and with United States President George BUSH shortly before he
visited Beijing late last year.

The Group’s role in mainland China as the most widely watched
external Mandarin Chinese-language broadcaster has also
attracted an unprecedented level of international press coverage
of Phoenix. During 2005 the Washington Post, which described
Phoenix as “the channel of choice for much of China’s new elite”,
Newsweek, and the Sydney Morning Herald all ran major stories
that highlighted Phoenix’s unique position in the Chinese media

BEFREFR 2005
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world as a vehicle that delivers large quantities of information and
entertainment from the outside world to the Chinese audience.

The success of both Phoenix Chinese and InfoNews channels
reflects a substantial growth in awareness of the Phoenix brand
name. The most dramatic example was Phoenix’s sponsorship
of the visit to Beijing and Shanghai by the Taiwan-based writer,
scholar and parliamentarian, LI Ao, whose speeches at universities
in both cities aroused a high level of interest and controversy and
tested the limits of freedom of expression in contemporary China.

The Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications
Commission gave permission to distribute Phoenix North America
Chinese Channel and the channel was launched in Canada by
Rogers Cable Communications Inc. in late 2005. In addition,
Phoenix has set up a joint venture in Malaysia, which has the
largest number of Phoenix viewers outside mainland China, to
tap into its advertising market with a view to translating Phoenix’s
brand name into money.

2006 is the 10th Anniversary of Phoenix. As Chairman | would
like to acknowledge the enormous contribution that the staff
of Phoenix has made to the Group’s success, not just during
2005, but throughout the past ten years. The hard work, team
spirit and creativity that the staff has collectively displayed had
been an essential factor in Phoenix’s evolution from a one-channel
broadcaster in Hong Kong in 1996 into a multi-channel system
that has global reach and which is the preferred Chinese-language
media platform for foreign leaders who want to communicate with
key audiences in China. This same sense of commitment and
professionalism has enabled the Group to be at the forefront of
global media organisations reporting on international crises and
conflicts. | look forward to the coming years, confident that the
spirit that the Group’s staff has displayed over the past ten years
will continue to carry Phoenix forward to even greater successes
in the future.

LIU Changle
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 March 2006
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@ ASIA PACIFIC TEAE

As a satellite broadcaster Phoenix
is primarily distributed by AsiaSat,
which has a footprint covering the
Asia-Pacific region. On the Chinese
mainland Phoenix is downloaded to
many regional cable networks by
SinoSat, and in Hong Kong it is on all
major distribution systems. In many
other countries and regions Phoenix
is also carried by local operators.

ER—EEZREANETEHEE -
BEGERERATH =-"RSEEZEE
TAME - EREKE - BEFH
BEBHXHEEAZBEARBER
e BBEREMET - BEFRD
BREMARRRRIEEN

BEFREFR 2005

Phoenix is distributed by ASTRO, the
major DTH operator, in Malaysia.

BUR# R @A SRAEASTRO -
NEEZEEIP(DTH) R faEE -

@ SINGAPORE #f fn

Phoenix is carried by Starhub in
Singapore.

Bl Bl 87 18 A Fh o0k B AR 5
(StarHub)

@ INDONESIA E1/2

Phoenix is carried by Kabelvision
and DirectVision in Indonesia.

Bl B & 1R £ A B JE Kabelvision &
DirectVision & #t ©

7

///////
s

AN\

@ JAPAN A &

Phoenix is carried by Rakuraku
Communications in Japan.

Bl B\ 718 A B N 44 44 dh (Rakuraku
Communications) °

@ NEW ZEALAND #t 7

Phoenix is carried by WorldTV in
New Zealand.

BUERTAR A R EERHE
(WorldTV) & 4t ©



@ Phoenix news bu
BEZHIENHS

x‘1d O)rters worldwide
5

@ NORTH AMERICA 1t 3 M

Phoenix North America Chinese
Channel is carried by DirecTV and
EchoStar in the United States and
by Rogers in Canada.
BREEREZEMNEEEREB
DirecTV & EchoStar & £ il & X5 1B
Rogers #&#% °

@ EUROPE BUM

News and
Entertainment, the Phoenix European
channel, is carried by Sky Digital,
Eurobird 6, and a number of other
national cable systems in Europe.

LT AR M & B T 2 A BOM A £ 7
HEERMSky Digital + Eurobird 6
AR ZEBRRERERBLE o
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GLOBAL OUTLOOK 2 IR &

Phoenix has a global outlook, and in its
approach to covering news it seeks to
provide the Chinese audience with up-to-
the-minute information about the major
events and developments happening
around the globe. Underlying this approach
is the belief that no one is isolated
from global developments and that the
Phoenix audience needs to have access
to information about the key internationa
events at any particular time.

REFREAZREE - MAEHFERES
—HERNRMEZIBERREHERSMELD
EXEHREREENEHEM W=
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THE CHINESE GATEWAY H E 9 R

CSM Media Research conducted a thorough survey from August
to October 2005 of the penetration of the Chinese market by
Phoenix Chinese Channel and Phoenix InfoNews Channel. This
research revealed that Phoenix Chinese Channel’s coverage of the
Chinese television audience has already reached 14.23%, reaching
over 52,270,000 households, and an audience approaching
180 million people. Phoenix InfoNews Channel has a coverage
of approximately 8.44%, reaching 31 million households, which
represents an audience of 100 million viewers.

The Audience Appreciation Survey of Phoenix TV conducted by
CTR Market Research also shows that Phoenix Chinese Channel is
outstanding among foreign broadcasters operating in China, with
an audience comprising 80% of those watching foreign channels,
far surpassing the viewership of any other channels, and is also
the television media most watched in offices.

The China Business Executive Survey conducted in 2005 by
CTR Market Research about the viewing habits of business
executives in eight major cities showed that the daily reach of
Phoenix Satellite was 10.4%, which is as high as the top ten
national broadcasters, with CCTV2, CCTV3 and CCTV4 and other
long-established broadcasters achieving the same level of daily
reach. This demonstrates that Phoenix Chinese Channel has a
comparatively strong influence among China’s business executives.

GENERAL SATISFACTION INDEX WEEHZEEH

79.2

69.7

20045 FH4F

2004F NH4F 20054 FH44F

Source: CTR Market Research — Audience Appreciation Survey of Phoenix TV
BRAR : RETSHERNERLF — BEAGRERAEEAS
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R - RBIREN AR AR R EE2005F8 AF108
BEHEERGRRT N aREMaNAEREEMT
—E2EMERAE - FEBET BEARFIXA
FEANEERBLIER14.23%  HEBEN
FB@6227T8EF  BEMALEIIESTS :
BEARENAEPEANMNEE R E8.44% -
EBEFYUN3100BF BEAOBBIE -

REBRETHHEENERIFNASET - BE
BEPXBERSEIMBET B LR BIER
ZEH80% - MEBBEMEE  TREEZHE
MMAEERERE - BEERERAEEEETH
WO TEE  ZRRERRZEINET -

RIETIBHEBRD AR A RED E A M\ KBS
HEEEALHETN—BIRER - BEAEF
NEAEMAIERDEI104%  SE2EMEEEE
BRI +4 - EBCCTV2 - CCTV3MCCTVAE R &
ZEAEERBATHNBIER FRER —EK
T BEREBRERP XA EEBATREPERR
MBS -

( N
Fortwo successive years Phoenix Chinese
Channel has given greater satisfaction to
viewers than any other channel.

BE2E  BEARPXABREMBEES

BRmME
\§ J
78.3
76.5
70.8
. Phoenix Chinese Channel
BEFERHPXA
. CCTV 1
PRE—E
. Phoenix Movies Channel
BEEREEA
. CCTV 5
FRERE
20055 T4
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AUDIENCE APPRECIATION SURVEY - VIEWING IN THE OFFICE HWAZEREBREERE

Phoenix Chinese Channel
BEHRPXAE

Phoenix InfoNews Channel _ 33.7 7~ N\
BEE&ESS ; Phoenix Chinese Channel stands out as the
most watched of all foreign broadcasters.

Xing Konggsit%g P oo In offices Phoenix Chinese Channel is also
o the most watched television media.

79.8

CETV
o e 13.5 _— k' =
ERAER _ BEAEPXAEMEINRERE R RERK
Phoenix Movies Chamel  [Sy 11 o B ERAE  BBERTXATRES A
REGREYS : BB - )
Sun Satellite
s I 57
National Geographic
azoeme MR oS
ESPN | B

DISCOVERY | RS
CHANNEL [V] I 1.0
CNN I 1.0
Source: CTR Market Research — Audience Appreciation Survey of Phoenix TV UNIT:% S Bt

EHTR : RETSHRABRNHERLR — BRFEERREERE

2005 CHINA BUSINESS EXECUTIVE SURVEY G EEHALTHAE

CCTV 1
Woaagy B
CCTV NEWS
eaammme I 5.0
CCTV 5
mranz I .
CCTV 2
Wby B
cace NN s
I = 10.
s The daily reach of Phoenix Chinese
Phoenix Chinese Channel _ 10.4 Channel among Chinese  business
P2 .
REERHXA executives is in the top 10.
CCTV 4
whans I o6 ﬁ@@fﬁmyaﬁﬁﬁAﬂmggwﬁE
0 o
wiagy |
FRERE 7.1
Hunan Satellite
MR EE _ 6.9
Shanghai Dragon TV
LERsERa I -
Source: CTR Market Research — China Business Executive Survey 2005 UNIT:% E4I: Bkt
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CORPORATE INFORMATION A T & #

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
9th Floor,

One Harbourfront

18 Tak Fung Street

Hunghom

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Registered Office

Century Yard, Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681GT, George Town
Grand Cayman

British West Indies

Principal Share Registrar

Butterfield Fund Services (Cayman) Ltd.
P.O. Box 705

Butterfield House

68 Fort Street

George Town

Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar
Hong Kong Registrars Limited

Shops 1712-1716

17/F., Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Bank of Communications

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

Citic Ka Wah Bank Limited

GEM Stock Code
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS BBt ko4

COMMENTS ON SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

57 K8 AR o i

The table below shows the comparison of operating results of the
Group’s businesses for the year ended 31 December 2005 and 2004
respectively.

Phoenix Chinese Channel BESEEXE
Phoenix InfoNews Channel J—Uﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁ ik
Phoenix Movies Channel, J—Lﬁmﬁ BEA

Phoenix North America Chinese BEEEME
Channel & Phoenix Chinese News H%ﬁﬂﬁ BN &
and Entertainment Channel

Other businesses Hfth 75
Corporate overheads SETHBE SN
Profit from operations A

Revenues from television broadcasting, comprising both advertising
and subscription revenues, which accounted for 94.4% of the Group’s
total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2005, increased by
6.2% to approximately HK$976,797,000 (year ended 31 December
2004: HK$920,002,000). The segmental result for television
broadcasting recorded a profit of approximately HK$281,610,000 for
the year (year ended 31 December 2004: HK$274,477,000).

Revenue from the Group’s flagship channel, Phoenix Chinese Channel,
which accounted for 72.4% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2005, increased by 6.0% to approximately
HK$749,650,000 (year ended 31 December 2004: HK$707,005,000).

Phoenix InfoNews Channel’s revenue maintained a steady level, and
amounted to approximately HK$165,186,000 (year ended 31
December 2004: HK$161,700,000). However, due to the increase of
operating costs, the operating loss widened to approximately
HK$12,573,000 for the year ended 31 December 2005 (year ended
31 December 2004: HK$3,493,000).

:§§E¢+_H er EIJJ:EEH‘]K%@%%%%%

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLEE

2005 2004
—EERF =
HK$°000 HK$000
T T8t
353,569 324,302
(12,573) (3,493)
(60,495) (63,082)
(3,760) (543)
(118,056) (128,648)
158,685 138,536

REBHREBRENRA (BIEESREHREBEWA) EF
6.2% £ 49976,797,0008 T (BEZ—ZTFTWHF+—H
=+—HIFE : 920,002,000/ T) ' HEE T
THE+-_A=T—BHLEFENLAEBmARKA
94.4% - REEMERERE D BEESFRFL
281,610,000 T (BEZ=TZTNF+=-_H=+—H
IEEEJE ¢ 274,477,000/ 7T) °

RENEEAGEESEE — BEFEFXERKA L
F+6.0% = %3749,650, ooo,%yz F#HzE=—ZZTHF+=
A=+—HI1FE : 707,005,000/ 7T) * GEZE—
TERE+-_A=+—HILEENAREBRBKA
72.4% ©

BEEREAGNBALEZEEKTE 8B4
165,186,000/ (B E=_TTMF+_A=1+—H
LEFE : 161,700,000 7T) © #AT + AR AR A
EH HEZETRF A=+ —ALEFENK
LESIBIEE4)12,573,0008 T (EHE—ZTNF+=
A=+—HB1EFE : 3,493,000 7T) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS BEREE:T# R 2

COMMENTS ON SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

\ Eg*JrnTnFH] (/»E'

(CONTINUED)

Advertising sales of Phoenix Movies Channel showed improvement in
2005. However, the effect of such increase was offset by the increase
in doubtful debt provision, and the operating result only marginally
improved compared with 2004. Revenue of Phoenix North America
Chinese Channel and Phoenix Chinese News and Entertainment
Channel remained at a steady level for 2005. On the other hand, the
launch of G3C platform in North America unavoidably increased
operating costs, which explained the increase in the operating loss for
2005.

Revenue from programme production and ancillary services improved
steadily to approximately HK$32,799,000, which included intra-group
sales of approximately HK$28,808,000, for the year ended 31
December 2005 (year ended 31 December 2004: total revenue —
HK$27,219,000; intra-group sales — HK$23,812,000). Segmental
results for programme production and ancillary services hence recorded
a profit of approximately HK$3,489,000 for the year, which represented
a satisfactory increase of 101.3% as compared with 2004.

The revenues of the internet services were relatively stable. The increase
in loss was mainly attributable to the increase in operating costs.

Other activities, which included advertising and subscription revenue
from the Phoenix Weekly magazine and handling income from television
subscriptions, contributed marginally to the Group for the year ended
31 December 2005.

Please refer to note 5 of the notes to the financial statements for a
detailed analysis on segmental information and the “Business Overview”
in this report for commentary on our core business.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend of HK$0.012
per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2005 (2004:
HK$0.01 per ordinary share). Upon approval by the shareholders, the
final dividend will be paid on or about 30 June 2006 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on
22 June 2006.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS BBt ko4

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

Pursuant to an agreement dated 29 October 2003 (the “Agreement”)
entered into by the Phoenix Group and Qasiscity Limited (“Oasiscity”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited
(formerly known as “Neo-Tech Global Limited”), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, Oasiscity acquired
a 60% interest in Phoenix Real Properties Limited (“Real Properties”),
which owns a 90% interest in A BB E 3 B R A 7). The acquisition
was completed on 13 January 2004.

On the same date, Oasiscity executed a share charge in favour of the
Phoenix Group, under which it charged 30% equity interest in Real
Properties, as security for the due performance of its obligations under
the Agreement. Pursuant to the Agreement, Oasiscity shall be
responsible for providing all required financing for the development of
the building and the Phoenix Group is not required to provide any
further financing for the development of the building but will be entitled
to a portion of the non-saleable area.

On 12 May 2005, the Group and Qasiscity entered into a supplementary
agreement, pursuant to which, inter alia, (i) Phoenix shall transfer 10,000
square meters of the building to which Phoenix would be entitled after
the completion thereof to Oasiscity at RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$55,800,000) payable by 3 installments and (ii)
Qasiscity shall be allotted an additional 33 shares in Real Properties at
par value so that after the allotment Oasiscity should hold approximately
70% interest therein. The Group’s entitlement to the relevant portion
of the non-saleable area will then be reduced by half. As a result, a
gain on disposal of approximately HK$11,599,000 was recorded in
the year ended 31 December 2005.

In addition, upon the fulfillment of Oasiscity’s relevant obligations under
the Agreement, the 30% equity interest in Real Properties charged as
security was released accordingly in May 2005.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the year ended
31 December 2005.

B Ja 2> W % W T s D B9 WS R

RARBE S B B rh 2R E (J2AR) B R A A (T8 (R
EEEBRAR]  ERGRERATER LT HE
& Mff/B A FlOasiscity Limited ([Oasiscity |) R =FE
=F+ A=+ MBI A% ([Ha]) @ Oasiscity
BENEEEEXARAR (BEEZ]) HESRI
BEE ¥ G MR A RM0%IER) 60%ER - WIEE
HER-ZZEWNF—A+=H%EMK °

ME B - Oasiscityz] . —HABEERE AZ AR
IR HEIRE - Bt - Oasiscity B E AN BEE
¥MB0% KM - (EAEEZEEITHHRIAER
ERHER o BIEWZ - Oasiscityl$ B & X MERZ
BEEYN—IIFRES  MEERSEEEAERERZ
BEYE—DINEMNES  HERERIER TR
VB ZEER B MHIEL EmMERNER ©

A—ZETRFRAA+T=H ' ANEE EOasiscity 513 —
DT ¢ B - (B eR) () BEEREEZE
SRR R A A B B ETR FT = A A1 o,ooo%‘ﬁ%ﬁ
# T Qasiscity ' {EE4 A R#60,000,0007t (B
#955,800,000 #7T) * =B AT - &(u)@asmtyﬁzz
MEREINER 33 BB B XE/%1D MEE
Oasiscity#F G BB & % 4)70% s $E EPEER=)
B R A RARRAEM A IE L B EE - Eit » HFEATS
IWE4911,599,0008 TE R ABE—ZETHAF T+ A
=+—HIEFENTEHREA -

LA Oasiscity@ﬁﬁ%%%?ﬁ%ﬁF‘ﬂffﬂé e iR
FHB0NREBEXBRARRER _TTRAFHAE

FRRR e
B EXFRESN  BE—ERRF T _HA=+—H

EFEER AREMEETHBARRBERFN
BEAKBHHE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS BEREE:T# R 2

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

B & B IR

The liquidity and financial resources of the Group as at 31 December
2005 gradually improved compared to those of the Group as at 31
December 2004. The aggregate outstanding borrowings of the Group
as at 31 December 2005 were approximately HK$4,900,000,
representing current accounts with related companies which were
unsecured and non-interest bearing (as at 31 December 2004:
HK$8,085,000). Such fluctuation was within the normal pattern of
operations of the Group.

The gearing ratio of the Group, based on total liabilities to equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, was 15.5% as at 31
December 2005 (as at 31 December 2004: 24.6%). Accordingly, the
financial position of the Group has remained very liquid.

As most of the Group’s monetary assets are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, US dollars and Renminbi, with minimal balances in UK
pounds and Taiwan dollars, the exchange rate risks of the Group is
considered to be minimal. The management considered that the new
exchange rate control mechanism for Renminbi adopted in July 2005
does not have any material impact on the Group.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2005, deposits of approximately HK$3,407,000
(as at 31 December 2004: HK$3,700,000) were pledged with a bank
to secure a guarantee given to the landlord of a subsidiary.

Other than the above, the Group did not have any charge on its assets
as at 31 December 2005 and 31 December 2004.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 December 2005, other than the exercise of
share options granted (detail as per note 25 to the financial statements),
there is no change in the Company’s share capital. As at 31 December
2005, the Group’s operations were financed mainly by equity holders’
equity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS BBt ko4

STAFF

As at 31 December 2005, the Group employed 710 full-time staff (31
December 2004: 624), at market remuneration with employee benefits
such as comprehensive medical coverage, insurance plan, defined
contribution pension schemes and an employee share option scheme.
Staff costs for the year ended 31 December 2005 increased to
approximately HK$242,207,000 (year ended 31 December 2004:
HK$220,798,000).

The Group did not experience any significant labour disputes or
substantial change in the number of its employees that led to any
disruption of its normal business operations. The Directors consider
the Group’s relationship with its employees to be good.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 December 2005, the Company invested in certain unlisted
security investments with an estimated fair market value of
approximately HK$89,729,000 (as at 31 December 2004:
HK$583,461,000).

Save as disclosed above, the Group has not held any significant
investment for the year ended 31 December 2005.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

=il
il

N_ZERFE+—A=1+—8  AEEEA7I0Z
BEE W==ZZTWF+=_A=1+—8 : 62401 ' &
BFENFHNEATSEKE  BEIRACEEZER
BRE - REBRETE - EEERERSHTEIRESR
B E - HE_TTRE T _A=+—HILFE
B 8 TRAFHZE#9242,207,0008 7T (B E —ZTZ Y
F+—A=+—HILFE : 220,798,000/ T) °

AEBWRAREREMNERFEREREBKEE

MBEARBENNIEEBRBEANE - EZRBA/AE
SEREESHARRLY o

Prfe A B E REE

R_EERF+_A=1+—08 2&£EKRENET
JEEMES - HEETAFM{EL89,729,000%8 T (7
—TENME+=F=+—H : 53,461,000/ 7T) °

BRI  RBE—ZETRF+-_HA=+—H
EFE - AEELEFAEAEARE -

AR R 5w B KT A R

AND EXPECTED SOURCE OF FUNDING

The Group will continue to consolidate its existing businesses while
exploring new business areas that will complement and enhance its
existing businesses.

Other than disclosed herein, the Group did not have any plan for
material investments and acquisition of material capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Other than disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, the Group
had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2005 and 31
December 2004.

AEBBEERSERERY Y RAKFEAAHE
SQIIE:-BSERCE ST 0EIE 0 L
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS EIEE i & 2

CHANGE OF ACCOUNTING POLICY

In previous years, the Group reported advertising revenue at gross
value, and advertising agency commission was presented as operating
expenses. To improve the Group’s comparability with similar companies
in the same industry and provide more relevant information on the
revenue transactions, in 2005 the management decided to change
the accounting policy, and to report advertising revenue at net value
and not at gross value. Net value represents the advertising revenue

1 B 5

RAEF  AEFRBEEERESKA > MESRE
MERFIEREER - BEEAEEEAERITE
FREUARIMAT LM - BRIRAR ZHIREE 24
@éﬂ R-ZEERF  BEEERATRESETH
IFEMIFBEZIESRA  FERESK
ﬂiﬁﬁﬁ% RSB TG AE BT
F B EER AR E -

net of agency commissions. This change has no effect on the profit/
loss of the Group.

ATERIEBR - 2R FOESFEANERET

The chart presented below compares the relevant figures for the four

quarters of 2005 in order to give a clearer picture of the effect on the LAMBEEFREAT S BRENZE
change of accounting policy:
For the year 2005
—EERFEE
1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter Total
EF—FE E-FE F=FE FNFEE AEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FABT FET FET FET
After the change of BT BERBER
accounting policy
Revenue WA 258,449 251,140 252,411 272,768 1,034,768
Operating expenses 4 5 (155,152) (160,747) (165,889) (151,401) (633,189)
Selling, general & HE - —MRK&
administrative expenses THE A (62,659) (57,493) (55,948) (66,794) (242,894)
Operating profit (AR 40,638 32,900 30,574 54,573 158,685
Result reported before B BERBEA
the change of FrEmES
accounting policy
Revenue WA 299,029 291,230 293,070
Operating expenses B A (195,732) (200,837) (206,548)
Selling, general & HE - —RE
administrative expenses 1T E A (62,659) (57,493) (55,948)
Operating profit 1 Al 40,638 32,900 30,574
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Mr. LIU Changle, aged 54, appointed on 2 February 2000, is the
chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. LIU graduated
from the Beijing Broadcasting Institute in the early 1980s and joined
China Central People’s Radio Station, with which he has held over the
years the positions of reporter, editor, news commentator and senior
management, and participated in the reporting and commentary of a
number of important national occasions and events.

Mr. LIU’s PRC domestic and overseas investments include
broadcasting, petroleum, infrastructure construction, real estate
development, trading and cultural businesses.

On 31 March 1996, Mr. LIU, through Today’s Asia Limited, which is
93.3% owned by him, together with Satellite Television Asian Region
Limited and China Wise International Limited, jointly founded Phoenix
Satellite Television Company Limited (“Phoenix Satellite TV”). He
became and remains the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of Phoenix.

Mr. LIU Changle gained widespread accreditations from local and
overseas for his enthusiasm and achievement in the media industry. In
the January 2000 issue of the “Voices of China” monthly magazine,
Mr. LIU was selected as one of the top ten personalities of the “Voices
of China 1999”.

In August 2000, The Journalist of Taiwan, Ming Pao of Hong Kong
and Hong Kong Metro Broadcast Corporation Limited jointly held a
survey of “Power 50 Year 2000”. Mr. LIU ranked 78 among the 150
nominated candidates from the Greater China region.

In December 2000, Mr. LIU was selected as “Intellect of the Media” in
the “Top Ten Pairs in Focus 2000” election organized by A Bl ¥ £ b
EEFIChinanews (FEIFTEET)), operated by China News
Services (A EIFTEL) .

In June 2001, Mr. LIU was ranked 17th of Asia’s most influential
communicators in “The Power 50 2001” survey organized by Asia
Week. Mr. LIU was also listed in the “Man of the Cover in the 21st
Century Award” (2142 5 E A#) jointly organised by United Nations
Development Programme, Proverty Reduction Office of the State
Council (E7FtEkE##) and Hong Kong Commercial Daily.
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Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. LIU Changle received the Robert Mundell Successful World CEO
Award, an award named after the Nobel Prize winning economist,
Professor Robert Mundell, “Father of Euro”, by “leaders of the global
Chinese television program providers” (2 EkEE B T 45 50 B 1R ry B
#) in May 2004. At the Singapore Asia-Pacific Overseas Chinese
Commercial Leaders Forum in June 2004, Mr. LIU Changle together with
Mr. LI Ka-Shing, Mr. KUOK Hock Mien and Mr. Zhang Ruimin were
amongst the 30 shortlisted Chinese leaders and they were also honoured
with the “2004 Most Creative Asia-Pacific Overseas Chinese Business
Leader Award”. In the most outstanding CEQ in the China region 2004
campaign, organized by an association of the world CEO “Association of
International CEOs” in March 2005, Mr. LIU Changle was selected as top
ten outstanding CEO.

Mr. LIU Changle was appointed to the board of directors of Nanjing
University in December 2003, and is an honorary visiting professor at
the Communication University of China and at Tianjin’s Nankai
University. He is also cultural adviser to the Tianjin Municipal
Government, adviser on Foreign Economic Cooperation to the Heboi
Provincial Government, and vice chairman of the Outstanding Chinese
Fund.

Mr. LIU Changle was appointed a Justice of the Peace by the
government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in July
2004.

Mr. LIU Changle is one of the substantial shareholders of the Asia
Television Limited and he is also a member of the International Board
of the US National Academy of Television Arts and Sciences. He was
appointed the Chairman of both the 2005 and 2006 iIEMMYs Festival
by the International Academy of Television Arts & Sciences on 22 Nov
2004.

On 1 March, 2005, Mr. LIU Changle was appointed as Member of the
Tenth National Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative

Conference (FEIARBUAHI B EZFE TEEZEZES).

Mr. CHUI Keung, aged 54, appointed on 5 June 2000, is the executive
director and deputy chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. CHUI
graduated from the department of journalism of Fudan University in
Shanghai and served in the China Central People’s Radio Station for
over 10 years. Since the establishment of Phoenix on 31 March 1996,
he has been in charge of the overall daily operations, the public relations
and promotion strategies of Phoenix, and the coordination of the
relationships with PRC government entities. He also assists in
establishing and implementing the corporate development strategies
of the Company.
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Non-Executive Directors

Throughout the term of office with the Phoenix Group, Mr. CHUI has
been instrumental in Phoenix’s PRC domestic business development,
programme production, advertising operation, marketing network and
public relations. In 1996, he was in charge of the production of “Flying
over the Yellow River”, a major television programme of Phoenix, which
achieved popular success and heightened the popularity of Phoenix
in the PRC and overseas Chinese communities.

Prior to joining Phoenix, Mr. CHUI was a director and the general
manager of Tianhua International Culture and Art Company Limited in
Beijing focusing on developing various cultural, arts and publication
businesses.

Ms. Michelle Lee GUTHRIE, aged 40, appointed as director of the
Company on 31 July 20083, is the chief executive officer of STAR. She
joined STAR in June 2000. Before that, she was director of Legal and
Business Affairs at FOXTEL from 1998 to 2000, responsible for all
legal and business development functions. Before FOXTEL, Ms
GUTHRIE was corporate counsel in London for News International plc
and British Sky Broadcasting Limited. Ms GUTHRIE has extensive pay-
television experience in Asia, Australia and Europe. She graduated
from the University of Sydney with Bachelor of Arts and Bachelor of
Laws (Hons) degrees.

Mr. LAU Yu Leung, John, aged 43, appointed on 5 June 2000, holds
the position of chief financial officer and executive vice president,
Business Development of STAR. Mr LAU has overall responsibility for
all financial matters of STAR, including corporate strategy, management
and financial reporting, internal audit, treasury and tax. In addition, he
heads the business development division, identifying and developing
growth opportunities for the company.

Prior to joining STAR, Mr LAU was the chief financial officer of San
Miguel Brewing International Ltd, responsible for the company’s
financial operations throughout Asia Pacific.

Before this role, Mr LAU also held senior financial positions at GE
Information Services, Philip Morris Asia Inc and Deloitte & Touche in
Los Angeles, USA.

Mr LAU graduated from Brigham Young University in Utah in August
1988, with a Master’s degree in Accountancy and Information Systems
and a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting. He is a member of
the California Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHEUNG Chun On, Daniel, aged 46, is executive vice president
of STAR, News Corporation’s Asian satellite television and multi-media
services. He is also chief operating officer of China Network Systems,
a joint venture between STAR and the Koos Group in Taiwan,
responsible for managing Koos’ cable systems, their upgrade and
digitization processes.

Before assuming his present positions, Mr. CHEUNG was general
manager of STAR in Taiwan overseeing advertising sales, subscription
television service and television program production. He was previously
deputy regional director for Greater China, responsible for distribution
and marketing in the market.

Mr. CHEUNG graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic in Electronic
Engineering. Before joining STAR in 1991, he was the technical
consultant of The Hong Kong Telecom for the Global Virtual Private
Network.

Mr. XU Gang, aged 48, is a non-executive director of the Company
since 13 November 2000. Mr. XU has extensive experience in banking
and investment. He was the deputy chief executive officer of BOC
International Holdings Limited (“BOCI”) and the Chairman of a number
of subsidiary companies of BOCI. Currently, he is the director and
chief executive officer of Bank of China Group Investment Limited
(“BOCGI”) and director of a number of companies controlled by BOCGI
or in which BOCGI has an interest.

Mr. CHEUNG San Ping, aged 50, appointed on 2 January 2001 as a
non-executive director of the Company. Mr. CHEUNG has extensive
experience in trading.

Mr. CHEUNG graduated from Xian Political Academy of China (4 B 7g
ZHUAZRE) and Senior Research Studies for Chief Executives of
Business Centre of Peking University (3t A Z3 (b Ffh O A EL = AR A
1EIT) . He was awarded Master Degree in Business Administration
from Macao University of Science and Technology. Before joining
Phoenix, he was the project managing director of Sinochem
Corporation and Today’s Asia Limited. He has extensive experience in
project investment, trading and management.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. LO Ka Shui, aged 59, appointed on 5 June 2000, is the deputy
chairman and managing director of Great Eagle Holdings Limited. He
is a non-executive director of The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited, Shanghai Industrial Holdings Limited and China
Mobile (Hong Kong) Limited. He is also a director of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (also a past chairman of the listing
committees of the Main Board and Growth Enterprise Market), a vice
president of The Real Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong, a
Trustee of the Hong Kong Centre for Economic Research and a member
of the Airport Authority, and a past chairman of the Hospital Authority.
He graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree from McGill University
and M.D. from Cornell University. He is certified in Cardiology. He has
more than 25 years’ experience in property and hotel development
and investment both in Hong Kong and overseas.

Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim, aged 70, is a fellow member of CPA Australia, a
member of the Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants, a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the taxation institute of Hong
Kong. Mr. LEUNG is the founding and senior partner of PKF, Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. LEUNG obtained his fellowship with Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in 1973. He is a non-executive director
of Beijing Hong Kong Exchange of Personnel Centre Limited. Mr.
LEUNG is the independent non-executive director of a number of listed
companies namely Yangtzekiang Garment Manufacturing Company
Limited, YGM Trading Limited, S E A Holdings Limited, Bright
International Group Limited, Fujian Holdings Limited and High Fashion
International Limited.

Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK, aged 55, is the independent non-
executive director and a member of the audit committee of the
Company since 11 March 2005. Mr. Beczak is currently a senior advisor
to Nomura International (Hong Kong) Ltd. and an independent non-
executive director of a number of listed companies namely Arnhold
Holdings Limited and Namtai Electronic and Electrical Products Limited.
He is also the non-executive chairman of Lahtide Capital.

From September 1997 until December 2003, Mr. Beczak was a director
of Kerry Holdings Limited. During this time he also held various board
and operating positions within the group. Most recently, he was deputy
chairman of SCMP Holdings Limited and publisher of South China
Morning Post Publishers Limited. Previously, he had been deputy
chairman of Shangri-La Asia Limited, deputy chairman of Kuok
Philippines Properties, a director of China World Trade Center Limited
and a director of Kerry Properties Limited.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

From November 1997 until December 2002, Mr. Beczak was chairman
of the Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(*Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) and a member of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange Board of Directors from 1998 until 2001. Currently, he is a
member of the Advisory Committee of the Securities and Futures
Commission in Hong Kong.

Prior to joining the Kerry group, Mr. Beczak was a managing director
of J. P. Morgan Inc., and president of J. P. Morgan Securities Asia
from 1990 until 1997. While at J. P. Morgan, Hong Kong, he was a
director of the Bank of the Philippine Islands and a committee member
of the Hong Kong Association of Banks. He joined J. P. Morgan in
1974. Mr. Beczak has over 20 years of experience in Asia.

Mr. Beczak is a graduate of Georgetown University (B.S.F.S.) and
Columbia University (M.B.A.). He is a member of the Board of Advisors
of the School of Foreign Service at Georgetown.

Alternate Director

Mr. GONG Jianzhong, aged 43, is an alternate director to Mr. XU Gang,
non-executive director of the Company, since 18 April 2001. Mr. GONG
has extensive experience in banking and investment. He was the Head
of Bank of China, Shao Yang Branch. Currently, he is the deputy chief
executive officer of BOCGI and director of a number of companies
controlled by BOCGI or in which BOCGI has an interest.
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Senior Management

Mr. LEUNG Noong Kong, aged 57, currently holds the position of
deputy chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. LEUNG had been
instrumental in the setting up of the Phoenix Group and has been part
of its senior management team ever since its inception. His primary
responsibilities include the supervision of the day-to-day operations of
the Phoenix Group, the establishing of management structures
pertaining to the evolving operations of the Phoenix Group, as well as
the mapping out of strategies, in conjunction with the chief executive
Officer of the Company, for the business development of the Phoenix
group. Mr. LEUNG joined Satellite Television Asian Region Limited in
1991. From 1991 to 1995, he was involved in various tasks relating to
the development of STAR'’s business in the Greater China region. He
also played a pivotal role in the launching of STAR Chinese Channel
and STAR Movies Channel in 1991 and 1993 respectively. Following
the formation of Phoenix Satellite TV, Mr. LEUNG was again instrumental
in the launching of the Phoenix Chinese Channel and the Phoenix
Movies Channel and the taking control in the management of the
Phoenix CNE Channel.

Mr. LEUNG is a well-known figure in the Hong Kong media and
broadcasting field. He hosted a film magazine programme for the Jade
Channel of Television Broadcasting Limited (“TVB”) in the late 1960s.
From 1969 to 1972, he then worked as a translator and editor for one
of Hong Kong'’s first finance newspapers, Ming Pao Evening News.
From 1971 to 1978, he worked respectively for the United States
Information Service in Hong Kong and the BBC External Services in
London as editor, programme producer and news announcer.
Thereafter, he spent 10 years with TVB, programming for its Jade
Channel and Pearl Channel at different times. He had also been with
ATV for a short period. While at TVB and ATV, and subsequently at
STAR, he set up the internal standards and practices departments for
all three and he was well versed in all the regulatory issues involved in
television broadcasting in Greater China region.

Apart from being an experienced personality in the media field, Mr.
LEUNG is also a renowned writer on the cinema and on cultural studies
in Hong Kong and Taiwan, as well as a published author of several
books in these fields. He had also been a programme consultant to
many international film festivals, including the Hong Kong International
Film Festival, and had sat on the editorial boards for many prestigious
publications at various times.
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Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. WANG Jiyan, aged 57, joined Phoenix in March 1996. Mr. WANG
is the executive vice president of Phoenix Satellite TV and the Company
and Head of the Phoenix Chinese Channel. Mr. WANG has taught in
Beijing Broadcasting Institute for more than twenty years.

Mr. WANG is one of the leading television programme producers in
China and participated in the direction and production of a number of
television programmes in early years. His television programme
productions have won numerous domestic and overseas awards.

Mr. WANG is also a scholar in the television industry and has been the
panelist of various international television festivals and the presenter
of international Chinese language television festivals. He is also a
renowned media educator and enjoys a professor title. During the two
decades of teaching in the Beijing Broadcasting Institute, he was the
head of the television department for over ten years and was the deputy
dean of the Beijing Broadcasting Institute for six years.

Mr. YEUNG Ka Keung, aged 46, is the executive vice president and
chief financial officer of Phoenix Satellite TV and the Company in charge
of corporate finance and administration. Mr. YEUNG joined Phoenix in
March 1996 and has been in charge of all of Phoenix’s internal and
external financial management and arrangements as well as the
supervision of administration and personnel matters.

Mr. YEUNG graduated from the University of Birmingham and remained
in the United Kingdom until 1992 after obtaining his qualification as a
chartered accountant. Upon returning to Hong Kong, he worked at
Hutchison Telecommunications and STAR in the field of finance and
business development.

Mr. CHAU Kwan, aged 50, is the executive vice president of Phoenix
Satellite TV. He graduated from the Beijing Broadcasting Institute in
July 1990 with a major in Editing Studies in School of Television.

Mr. CHAU Kwan joined Phoenix in 1998. He has been the head of
Phoenix Movies Channel, general manager of Phoenix Film and
Television (Shenzhen) Co. Limited (B4R CxII) ERAF)), vice
president and deputy director of programming of Phoenix Satellite TV.
He is currently responsible for advertising and marketing networks.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT H%EBHE

We are committed to ensuring high standards of corporate governance
in the interests of the shareholders of Phoenix Satellite Television
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and devote considerable effort to
identifying and formalising best practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

In line with the increasing regulatory and investor focus on corporate
governance standards, the Stock Exchange has issued the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) with effect from
1 January 2005.

On 26 December 2005, the Company adopted its own Code on
Corporate Governance (“Phoenix’s Code”) which combined its existing
principles and practices with most of the mandatory provisions of the
Code - all with the objective of taking forward a corporate governance
structure which builds on Phoenix’s own standards and experience,
whilst respecting the benchmarks set in the Code.

We will explain in this Corporate Governance Report where our
approach deviates from the Code. Unless otherwise disclosed herein,
the Company has, throughout the year ended 31 December 2005,
complied with the Code.

DISTINCTIVE ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provisions

Under the Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The
division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Deviation and its Reasons

Mr. LIU Changle is both the chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company who is responsible for managing the board of directors (the
“Board”) and the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) . He has been both chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company since its incorporation and the
management is of the view that the assumption of those positions by
Mr. LIU, who is very experienced in the media industry, is in the best
interest of the Company.
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APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL

Code Provisions

Under the Codeg, (i) non-executive directors should be appointed for a
specific term, subject to re-election; and (i) all directors appointed to
fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at
the first general meeting after their appointment. Every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Deviation and its Reasons

Apart from the executive directors, no other directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) are currently appointed with specific terms. According
to the articles of association of the Company, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not greater
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, but the chairman of
the Board and/or the managing Director shall not, whilst holding such
office, be subject to retirement by rotation or be taken into account in
determining the number of Directors to retire in each year. As such,
with the exception of the chairman, all Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation. The management considers that there is no imminent need
to amend the articles of association of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
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Code Provisions

Under the Code, the chairman of the board should attend the annual
general meeting and arrange for the chairmen of the audit, remuneration
and nomination committees (as appropriate) or in the absence of the
chairman of such committees, another member of the committee or
failing this his duly appointed delegate, to be available to answer
questions at the annual general meeting. The chairman of the
independent board committee (if any) should also be available to answer
questions at any general meeting to approve a connected transaction
or any other transaction that is subject to independent shareholders’
approval.

Deviation and its Reasons

Whilst the Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue
with shareholders, the chairman may not always be able to attend the
annual general meeting due to other important business engagement.
Mr. CHUI Keung, an executive Director, and Mr. Thaddeus Thomas
BECZAK, an independent non-executive Director and also chairman
of the audit committee of the Company, attended the 2005 annual
general meeting and were available to answer questions if raised at
the meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

HRENEFL S

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set
out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have

complied with the required standard of dealings regarding directors’
securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2005.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising the Company affairs.

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, five non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
Their brief biographical details are described in the annual report.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to rules 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive directors to be
independent.

The Board meets at least four times a year to review the financial and
operating performance of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

There were four Board meetings held in the financial year ended 31
December 2005. Individual attendance of each Board member at these
meetings is as follows:

EEG (H)

ARRERBE-_ZETAF+ - A=+—HIMK
FEARTTOREEEEH - SNEFFHER
ZEGHELWEASIEBRET

Attended/

Note Eligible to attend
Name of Director BEEfF Hiat BIE EEIEIIE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. LIU Changle (Chairman & CEO) B RBEE (EEFTEAEER) 4/4
Mr. CHUI Keung EREE 4/4
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. Michelle Lee GUTHRIE Michelle Lee GUTHRIEZ = 3/4
Mr. LAU Yu Leung, John B\t 3/4
Mr. CHEUNG Chun On, Daniel RIS 4/4
Mr. XU Gang I SE A& 0/4
Mr. CHEUNG San Ping RITESLAE 0/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BIEHITES
Dr. LO Ka Shui ERInEE 4/4
Mr. KUOK Khoon Ean SRFLIESL A 0] 1/1
Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim REFRSE (i) 4/4
Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK %t 4 (i) 8/8)
Alternate Director BREES
Mr. GONG Jianzhong LA (iv) 1/4

Notes:

it -

(i) Resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 10 March 2005.

(i) Appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 21 January 2005.

(i) Appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 11 March 2005.

(iv)  An alternative Director to Mr. XU Gang.

During the regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and
formulate the overall strategies of the Group, review and monitor the
business and financial performances and discuss the quarterly, half-
yearly and annual results, as well as discuss and decide on other
significant matters.

The management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group. For significant matters that are specifically delegated by the
Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior approval
from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference based upon the guidelines recommended by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the mandatory
provisions set out in the Code.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the Company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports
and to provide advices and comments thereon to the Board. The audit
committee meets at least four times a year with management to review
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and to
discuss auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters.

The audit committee currently comprises one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. LAU Yu Leung, John and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. LO Ka Shui, Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim and Mr.
Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK.
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The audit committee met four times in 2005. Individual attendance of EREZEEN_STRAFRITTHOREH - SUE
each committee member at these meetings is as follows: sBgkERzEez LMEAATIEEROT
Attended/

Note Eligible to attend

Name of Director BEEfE Hiat BIIE AEIEIIE

Independent Non-executive Directors BIEHITES

Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK (Chairman) Thaddeus Thomas BECZAKZ 4 (£/%) (i) 3/3

Dr. LO Ka Shui Exines 4/4

Mr. KUOK Khoon Ean SRFLIESL A (ii) 1/1

Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim BRI A (iif) 4/4

Non-executive Director FHTES

Mr. LAU Yu Leung, John 2\ 2/4

Notes: Bitat -

()  Appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 11 March 2005. () REEZERF=AT+— AEZERBUENTES -

(i) Resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 10 March 2005.
(i) Appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 21 January 2005.
The audit committee reviewed the Group’s audited results for the year

ended 31 December 2005 with management and the Company’s
external auditors and recommended its adoption by the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the remuneration committee in 2003. On
26 December 2005, the Board adopted the new terms of reference of
the remuneration committee in alignment with the mandatory provisions
set out in the Code.

The principal responsibilities of the remuneration committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management and
reviewing the remuneration packages of all executive Directors and
senior management staff of the Company.

The remuneration committee now comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. LAU Yu Leung, John and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Dr. LO Ka Shui, Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim and
Mr. Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK.

In 2005, the remuneration committee made recommendation to the
Board on the bonus payments and increment in salary and housing
allowance (if any) for the Executive Directors and senior management
staff by way of written resolutions passed by all the committee
members.

Ad Hoc Committee

The Company adopted the terms of reference of the ad hoc committee
in 2003 to deal with ad hoc matters, which set out detailed directions
as to the powers delegated to the ad hoc committee. Any two Directors
shall form a quorum for the transaction of business.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Group.

The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the financial

statements and the auditors’ responsibilities are set out in the Auditors’
Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance
and review of the Group’s system of internal control. The Board has
conducted a review of, and is satisfied with the effectiveness of the
system of internal control of the Group.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) has been appointed as the external
auditors of the Company by shareholders at the annual general meeting.

The remuneration in respect of services provided by PwC for the Group
is analysed as follows:

Audit Service ENZ RS
Tax Service 7% AR %
Total FEE
CONCLUSION

The Company strongly believes that good corporate governance can
safeguard the effective allocation of resources and protect shareholders’
interest. The management will try to maintain, strengthen and improve
the standard and quality of the Group’s corporate governance.
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31 December 31 December
2005 2004
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458,000 476,000
2,688,000 2,285,000
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements of Phoenix Satellite Television Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2005.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY AND GEOGRAPHICAL

EXRZREHEERERAR ([ARF)) KEMH
BAR(GRAAKEDHE_STAF+_A=
T—RLEFENHRE MEEZMBERE

F B KO B [ o A

ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 21 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in note 5 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 79.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.012
per ordinary share, totaling HK$59,264,000, to be payable to

shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 22 June 2006.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the year are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$1,249,000 (2004: HK$10,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of the
Company are set out in note 25 and note 26, respectively, to the
financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

No pre-emptive rights exist under the Company’s articles of association
and the law in the Cayman Islands in relation to the issue of new shares
by the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2005,
calculated under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately HK$740,494,000 (as at 31 December
2004: HK$788,780,000).

FIVE PERIOD/YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial period/years is set out on page 151 to 152.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold
any of the Company’s shares during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(A) Share option schemes of the Company

On 7 June 2000, two share option schemes of the Company
were approved by the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”), namely Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. In order to enhance the flexibility
in the implementation of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, the committee of two and
four Directors established for the administration of each of the
share option schemes (the “Committee”) approved certain
amendments to the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
on 14 February 2001 and 10 December 2004 and the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme on 14 February 2001, 6 August 2002 and
10 December 2004, respectively.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

I JBZ A

it # ()

(A)

Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)
(1) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2005:

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the scheme, though not explicitly stated in
the scheme document, is to recognise the contribution of
certain employees to the growth of the Group and/or to the
listing of shares of the Company (“Shares”) on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (“GEM”).

The participants of the scheme

Employees of any member of the Company, including any
executive directors of any member of the Group who have
commenced working for the Group for not less than one
month prior to the date of grant of an option and spent not
less than twenty hours per week in providing services to
the Group may take up options to subscribe for Shares.

The total number of securities available for issue

The total number of Shares available for issue under options
which may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of listing of the Shares on GEM on 30 June
2000 (the “Listing Date”).

The total number of Shares in respect of which options are
issuable under the scheme is 484,706,000 Shares,
representing 10% and 9.8%, respectively, of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the Listing Date and as
at the date of this report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
scheme

No option may be granted to any eligible person which, if at
the relevant time exercised in full, would result in the total
number of Shares the subject of such option, when added
to the number of Shares which may be subscribed by that
eligible person under any outstanding options granted to
that eligible person and to the number of Shares previously
subscribed by the eligible person under any options granted
to the eligible person under the scheme exceeding 25% of
the aggregate number of Shares available for subscription
under the scheme at that time.
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S b HE w1 (AF)

(A)

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the scheme at any time during the period commencing
one year from the date of grant of the option and expiring
ten years after the date of grant of the option in accordance
with the following schedule:

Date of exercise of an option

ITREERERS

Between the date of grant of an option and less than 12 months
following the date of grant of an option
RHBEREE A EREBREE B R OR12AR

Between the period falling 12 months or more but less than 24 months
from the date of grant of an option

REERES Bem12(@ Az - BoR24E AR

Between the period falling 24 months or more but less than 36 months
from the date of grant of an option

REERES Bem24@ Az & - B2R361EARERA

Between the period falling 36 months or more but less than 48 months
from the date of grant of an option

RBREE RRM36ME Az - B 748(E A HM A

Any time falling 48 months from the date of grant of an option and thereafter

R RERES B 12804818 A R A& R E

Minimum holding period
As stated above, no option can be exercised within the first
twelve months following the date of grant of an option.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

The date by which the option must be applied for being a
date not more than three days from (and including) the date
on which the letter of offer of the grant of option is issued
by the Company (“Offer Date”). Upon acceptance of the
option, the option holder shall pay HK$1 to the Company
as consideration of the grant.

The basis of determining the exercise price
Same as the offer price for the Shares as set out in the
prospectus of the Company dated 21 June 2000.

Share option schemes of the Company (Continued) (A) ARATHERETE (&)
(1) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued) (1) BXRABHERABRETEZ (B

1T BRI IR
BT NMR LB AR E RER —FF
ERHERERBR T FEmBAREAE
IR PR IR A BIAO 6N IRIRIA TR R R
T LATTIE :

Percentage of Shares
comprised in options
which is exercisable
A F 1T AR R AR A

FRr G BR 43 LE 51

zero
up to 25%
&®%25%
up to 50%
=%50%
up to 75%
&®%75%

100%
100%

R H R
AN_EXCRRSI - M AR P AR R AR
BHEETZEARTE -

BABIREEN 7R

RN B BB AR A AR E LIRS
ErBERELtER(RR2AH) (85
#Z B) TR =RE B - FEAE
Petgrs - EARER B AR MBI TA
DA ERETEORE -

BEETTIEEAEE
EARNBR _EZTF A - +— AT
R ERZH IO B EERER o
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(A)

Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

(1) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The remaining life of the scheme
The scheme period expires upon the listing of the Company
on the GEM, for which the option expires when the vesting

period ends.

The details of share options granted by the Company under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to the Directors of the
Company and the employees of the Group to acquire shares

were as follows:

Type and
number of
remaining
grantees

BR T HIERA
HERIREE

2 Executive
Directors:
2EHITES :
LIU Changle

Elb=

~

CHUI Keung

R

~

81 other
employees

1B HMES

~

Total: A&t :

o A

=+

o A
+ 4

Jo A

—+ A

Date of
grant

R A

14 June
2000

=R

14 June
2000

IER]
m f

14 June
2000

IERU]

83 employees 83%1EE

REERF®R 2005

Vesting
period

BES

14 June
2000 to

13 June
2004
—ETTTF
ANATHBEZE
ZEENE
~A+=H

14 June
2000 to
13 June

2004
—EEEF
NATHEEZE
ZEEF
~A+=8

14 June
2000 to
13 June

2004
—EEEE
NATHEBEZE
—ZTTF
~A+=8

Exercise
period

1T

14 June
2001 to
18 June

2010
T —F
ANATHBEE
—E=—ZF

RA+T=H

14 June
2001 to
18 June

2010
—TT—F
AAtTHEBE
—E-TF

NA+=H

14 June
2001 to
13 June

2010
—ET 4

—==

ANATHBEZE
T —TF

NA+Z=H

Exercise
price
per share

2R
TREE

HK$
BT

1.08

1.08

(A) AXBWEERES S (F)
(1) BRAFBRAEREZ ()
FTEIfR T EH]
FTEIBAERN AR AR ZEMR ETHEREE R
5 B R AR 1 T 15 B 4 SRS
RRRIRRE R A FRBRATERERT S
RNRREERAE B E B KT AT RER G
BT T -
Number of share options
B ER B
Balance Balance
as at Lapsed Exercised as at 31
1 January during during December
2005 the year the year 2005
R=BERF R=BERF
—-A—H +=A=+-~
B RERKN RERTE 3
5,320,000 - - 5,320,000
3,990,000 - - 3,990,000
31,662,000 (60,000)  (554,000) 31,048,000
40,972,000 (60,000)  (554,000) 40,358,000
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(A)

Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

(1)

2

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The remaining life of the scheme (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2005, 554,000 options
granted to employees were exercised. At the date before
the options were exercised, the weighted average closing
price per share was HK$1.54.

During the year ended 31 December 2005, 60,000 options
granted to an employee lapsed when she ceased her
employment with the Group.

Save as disclosed above, no other option has been
cancelled during the year.

Save as stated above, no option has been granted to the
Directors, chief executive, management shareholders,
substantial shareholders, or their respective associates, or
to the suppliers of goods or services under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme. No participant was granted any
option in excess of the individual limit as set out in the GEM
Listing Rules or under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2005:

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
retain and provide incentives to the employees of the Group
to achieve its business objectives.

The participants of the scheme

Employees of any member of the Company, including any
executive directors of any member of the Group, in full-
time employment with the Company (or its subsidiaries) may
take up options to subscribe for Shares.

The total number of securities available for issue

(@) The total number of Shares available for issue under
options which may be granted under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes must
not in aggregate exceed 10% (or such higher
percentage as may be allowed under the GEM Listing
Rules) of the issued share capital of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the scheme unless
Shareholders’ approval has been obtained pursuant
to paragraphs (b) and (c) below.

Wi B R w31 ()
(A) EDTWIBIRESE (&)

(1) BRAPIEREEREE (B)
R T F 5 (i8)
REZE-_EERE+-_A=1+—HILEE
A R TIEBR554,0001) B HEET
i o REEISHEIEIT(ERT B EE - B IMEF
HUW B A1.548TT °
REE-_EERE+-_A=1+—HILEE
A R —%E B #/60,00017 A% HE F E
THRERRNEEMmERR
B EXCEEESN - WIEBRENERETE
8H o
M EXPrtiE SN - BRI DR E E X
NARRATEREZIMETES « T
BE - THEERRE TBRE - IEES
AR EAL - S REREHEER -
WS HEER H A ERERARI R &
TR BFTET SRR B X AR R AR ATEE R
R 2R B AR o

(2) BRABBREBKETS

UTAR_ZEERF+_A=1+—HHE
KA FBRR 1 BB AR AT B /0 = E AR T

aF .
2

&89 8 /Y
BRAFRBRIRERET 2B AR
FARHERE) T AL ERE ERE XA

CETCY
BN

At E|a 2 E
FEARRE GEMBLR) 2BIIENAR
AEAKE R AINES (BREASEER
B RRIMEAIAITES) AIRARA BB
A OB A HE -

A (7T 8 HABE

(@) REBEERRFEHBBRERBRETSR
R E AR ET 315 H A0 RB AR M A
BITONRMDERAFTTRBELAR
AIRHLERT I E BB BITRAR
10% (RBIFER ETARRHLENE S
B - HERET X (b) R ()FREUS
PRERHLAEBRAD <
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it # ()

(A)

Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)
(2) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The total number of securities available for issue (Continued)

(©)

The Company may seek approval by Shareholders in
general meeting to refresh the limit as referred to in
the above paragraph (a).

The Company may seek separate Shareholders’
approval in a general meeting to grant options beyond
the limit as referred to in the above paragraph (a)
provided that the total number of Shares subject to
the scheme and any other schemes does not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the relevant class of
securities of the Company in issue from time to time.

Shareholders’ approval has been obtained on 6 August
2002 to refresh the 10% limit. The Directors may grant
options for subscription of up to 493,173,000 Shares
(which do not include those options that are
outstanding, cancelled or lapsed), representing
approximately 10% of the issued share capital as at
the date of this report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
scheme

Unless approved by Shareholders, the total number of
securities issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the relevant class of securities of the Company
in issue.

REERF®R 2005

(A)

RATFHERESE ()

)

BERAFAREERESE (E)

A 770 B AR B ()

b) ARRARBIRAEG LSRR
JESE T |3 () BRI YRR IR 1] ©

€ ARBARBRAE EITERE
SR T B _E 3 () ER AT AR
ROBBARAE - TSI RAEMEMET S
HR BB HRBETNFBBAQRT
BB 317H B RIFE 5 R80% ©

d BEA-—ZZ-F)\[NBHER
F10%MRH - EBA R HRAERS
493,173,000 i 10 (MR IE# AT
# SRS AR Z SR RAE) MR
BefE - BRERHE B ARE B
RIE B TARAAI10% ©

Rigat &5 2 HEE B RAIRE
BRASBRALIESN - IMER+ =8 A HEA
AE2EER THRBEE (BERTER
RITHEEVEIRME) TR 2 BT R ET

VEFEBTNSEANAR R HTERA
RIFEZHI1%



SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE S+ 2

B HE S ) (AF)

(A)

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the scheme at any time during the period commencing
one year from the date of grant of the option and expiring
ten years after the date of grant of the option in accordance
with the following schedule:

Date of exercise of an option

ITREERERS

Between the date of grant of an option and less than 12 months
following the date of grant of an option

REEREE AEREBREE BRI 12[EAR

Between the period falling 12 months or more but less than 24 months
from the date of grant of an option

BB RRm12(8 Az ik - Bn24(E A ER A

Between the period falling 24 months or more but less than 36 months
from the date of grant of an option

KBS BRr24E Az 12 - 1850361 A &Y #RfE A

Between the period falling 36 months or more but less than 48 months
from the date of grant of an option

BB E RRr36(E Az ik - BAR481E A ERA

Any time falling 48 months from the date of grant of an option and thereafter

R RERES B 1284818 A R A& ERFE

Minimum holding period
As stated above, no option can be exercised within the first
twelve months following the date of grant of an option.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

The date by which the option must be applied for being a
date not more than twenty one days from (and including)
the Offer Date. Upon acceptance of the option, the option
holder shall pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration of
the grant.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price for the Shares under the scheme
shall be determined by the Committee and will be no less
than the highest of (a) the closing price of Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the Offer
Date which must be a business day, (b) the average closing
price per Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the Offer Date and (c) the nominal value of the
Share.

Share option schemes of the Company (Continued) (A) ZATWBRAETE (&)

(2) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued) (2) BXRAFBREBRETEZ (8

TR IR

BB AR L B S FERT —F A
ERHERE R BR T FEmREAE
IR AR IR A IR0 IR RIR A TR
FIATTEE

Percentage of Shares
comprised in options
which is exercisable
A FAT AR A AR
FRr& B 43 LE 51

up to 25%
=%25%
up to 50%
=%50%
up to 75%
=%75%

100%
100%

RAZFF B AR
AN_EXCRREI - M AR PR R AR
BHEETZEARTE -

ERBIR (T30 R

e B M A IR 2 B (B
% B) RE AR+ — KA » FERE
PR - BERRER B AR UBTTTA
RA] AERETHRE -

EEITIEENZEE
REFTENRNABBERREZESETE
W RDRIAT=EPHRREQBRDNEE
A AREXER) ERXMEBARER
FrEEURTI(E - (D) IR RIZIEE A
R BB % B 7R X P B RERAIN
FIHUTHE K () IR EE °
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED) it
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(A) Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)
(2) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The remaining life of the scheme

The scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years

commencing on the date of the adoption of the scheme.

Upon termination, no further options may be granted under

the scheme.

(A)

The details of share options granted by the Company under
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to the employees of
the Group to acquire Shares were as follows:

Type and
number of
remaining
grantees

BR T IR A
ERIREE

2 employees

2% S

17 employees

178ES

4 employees

4%EEB

Total: A%t :
23 employees

56 REEBRFR 2005

Date of
grant

RHAM

15 February
2001

10 August
2001

— T4

—==

NA+H

20 December
2002

o A
[ 44

=+ |
m

+

23% (B R

Vesting
period

SRy

15 February
2001 to
14 February

2005
T
—At+HBEZE
—ZETHF

—A+mH

10 August
2001 to
9 August

2005
—ET—F
NA+RZE
—TTHEF

NAAR

20 December
2002 to
19 December

2006
—TE 4

+=—A=+BA=
ZETREF

+=A+AhAH

Exercise
period

TSR

15 February
2002 to
14 February

2011
T F
—A+EHBEZE
—ET——F
—A+mAB

10 August
2002 to
9 August

2011
=T CF
NA+AZE
—T——%F

ANANA

20 December
2003 to
19 December

2012
—ETT=F
+=—A=+tB=
—ET—_4F
+=A+A1AH

RATFHERESE ()

(2) BARAFMFBKREBKRETE (E)
FtEIER FF R
FHEImEMET 8 R R T FARETEE
R o AR IR - AR BREF B TR
1o

ARAMREERAFIRR B &R
AEE R BRI RBERNOBRENF

BT
Number of share options
B ER B

Balance Balance

Exercise as at Lapsed Exercised as at 31

price 1 January during during December

per share 2005 the year the year 2005

R=BERF R=BERF

—HA—H +=H=t+—H

BRITEE R OFRAKRR  FRTE 5323
HK$
BT

1.99 1,700,000 - 1,700,000

1.13 12,040,000  (500,000)  (952,000) 10,588,000

0.79 2,230,000  (134,000) (364,000) 1,732,000

15,970,000  (634,000) (1,316,000) 14,020,000
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(A)

Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

(2) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The remaining life of the scheme (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2005, 1,316,000
options granted to employees were exercised. At the date
before the options were exercised, the weighted average
closing price per share was HK$1.50.

During the year ended 31 December 2005, 634,000 options
granted to two employees lapsed when they ceased their
employment with the Group.

Save as disclosed above, no option has been cancelled
during the period.

No option had been granted to the Directors, chief executive,
management shareholders, substantial shareholders, or their
respective associates, or to the suppliers of goods or
services under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. No
participant was granted any option in excess of the individual
limit as set out in the GEM Listing Rules or under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme.

(B) Share option scheme of a subsidiary of the Company

PHOENIXi PLAN

On 7 June 2000, PHOENIXi Investment Limited (“PHOENIXi”), a
member of the Group, adopted the PHOENIXi 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan (the “PHOENIXi Plan”). The following is a summary
of the principal terms of the PHOENIXi Plan as at 31 December
2005:

Purpose of the scheme

The purposes of the PHOENIXi Plan are to attract and retain the
best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to its
employees and executive directors and to promote the success
of its business.

The participants of the scheme

The employees of PHOENIXi, including any executive directors,
in the full-time employment of PHOENIXi (or the subsidiaries of
PHOENIXi) or the Company are eligible to take up options to
subscribe for shares in PHOENIXi. In addition, to be classified as
an eligible person, where the employee is employed by a holding
company of PHOENIXi or a subsidiary of PHOENIXi, the employee
must perform an executive role for PHOENIXi.

(A)

AAT N RAETE (&)

(2) BERABBRERKREE (E)
FTEIRR T F A (4B)
REE-ZTERE+-_A=1t—HIEE
A RFIEEH1,316,00010 B HEEST
o REBRAERITERT B HR - SAIMET
HURTEA1.5078 7T °

REZE-ZZRF+-_A=1+—HIFE
A & T E B #1634,00017 i i A
RETHXENALBEMAERR °

B ESUIREEES

F AL AR R AR

BEES  TRER  EEERER X2
BRREEEEBHBMEAL - HERFIR
BHERRIR & X AFRIREA B S
R T EMERE - SiES2EERBER
H Y ERIRBBERR A ZAR AR AP
FISARYR BIR AR R AR (& B A it 1RO (&
APREE

AAT—RHBE D TR EREE
PHOENIXizt 2/

R-TZTEALH - AEBEMNKE AR
PHOENIXi Investment Limited (PHOENIXi|) %
MPHOENIXIi — =TT FRMDIERE
([PHOENIXiETELD) - A TAR=ZZHF+=
A =+—HBKPHOENIXiFtEIMEZEFHE ¢

Era= o) =N:0)

PHOENIXizt 818 B R R RE MG EERSET -
WREEES RATESRMUERINER) - RfEE
HEBEKA o

FrEIR R HE

PHOENIXIfI/E & * B #EFEPHOENIXisk A A 7]
(8XPHOENIXigFI & A 7)) 25 T{ER I T
BE - AEREMRA]REPHOENIXIR D KB
#E o AN - iR IERPHOENIXIAYIZERE A &8k
PHOENIXIFIHI B A RIREB ZRE AEERA
+ » ZIEB7BAPHOENXIEITITHELE -
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(B) Share option scheme of a subsidiary of the Company

(Continued)

The total number of securities available for issue

(@)  The total number of shares available for issue under options
which may be granted under the PHOENIXi Plan and any
other schemes of PHOENIXi, must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the issued share capital of PHOENIXi as at the Listing
Date unless approvals of the Shareholders of the Company
and PHOENIXi have been obtained pursuant to paragraphs
(b) and (c) below.

(b)  PHOENIXi may seek approval by the Shareholders of the
Company and PHOENIXi in a general meeting to refresh
the 10% limit. However, the total number of shares available
for issue under options which may be granted under the
PHOENIXi Plan and any other schemes of PHOENIXi in these
circumstances must not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of PHOENIXi at the date of approval of the refreshing
of the limit.

() PHOENIXi may seek separate approval of the Shareholders
of the Company and PHOENIXi in a general meeting to grant
options beyond the 10% limit provided that (i) the total
number of shares subject to the PHOENIXi Plan and any
other schemes of PHOENIXi does not in aggregate exceed
30% of the total issued share capital of PHOENIXi and (ii)
the options in excess of the 10% limit are granted only to
participants specified by PHOENIXi before such approval is
sought.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the scheme
No options may be granted to any eligible person which, if at the
relevant time exercised in full, would result in the total number of
shares of PHOENIXi the subject of such option, when added to
the number of shares already issued and/or issuable to him/her
under the PHOENIXi Plan exceeding 25% of the aggregate
number of shares of PHOENIXi in respect of which options are
issuable under the PHOENIXi Plan.

Time of exercise of option

Generally, an option may be exercised at any time during a period
of no more than ten years commencing from the date of grant.
However, in the case of an Incentive Stock Option (“ISO”) granted
to a person, who at the time of the grant, owns shares in
PHOENIXi representing more than 10% of the voting power of
PHOENIXi, the Company or any subsidiary of the Company, the
option period will be five years from the date of grant thereof.

REERF®R 2005

(B)

AT — RHED T QR B (&)

A BT AR AR 2L

(@ ARIEPHOENIXiET & & PHOENIXI{E R EAth
ST S5 I A BB AR T Al (L 351 TR IR (D 4R 2K
ABEFNSREER £ B BHRMPHOENIXE
BATIRARBI10% » HEARIR T XX (b) K (c) B,
B AR 7 & PHOENIXi &9 A% 5 4
G o

(o) PHOENIXIAJAAIREAE ESKARF KR
PHOENIXif% B HLEE FT10% R Hl o 4
i R ISR TRIEPHOENIXIFT 2 K
PHOENIXiEr E A 5HE] 3% 1 79 88 A% 4
A 31 TR (D AR BT S B B A L EE T T
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(B) Share option scheme of a subsidiary of the Company

(Continued)

Minimum holding period

As stated above, there is no minimum holding period for which
an option can be exercised.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

The date by which the option must be applied for being a date
not more than twenty one days from (and including) the Offer
Date. Upon acceptance of the option, the option holder shall

RA2FH A
WA EXCRS - AR E BN TERAN &
BAERA IR e

BB IRAE N AR

RREiBAEN A BB ARRE A (BHEZA)
AR T —RA - FRABLER - B
BEFEARAMELTTARE  EART

pay US$1 to the Company as consideration of the grant. HIRAE ©

The basis of determining the exercise price ETETEERNEE

The price for the shares of PHOENIXi upon the exercise of an IRAZRPHOENIXizT 2177 {5 8% A4 7R B PHOENIXi
option under the PHOENIXi Plan will, in the case of: R EVERE

(@ anISO or a Non-Qualified Stock Option (“NQS”), where the
grantee owns more than 10% of the shares of the Company,
PHOENIXi or its subsidiaries (each a “Related Entity”), be
equal to not less than 110% of the Fair Market Value (as
referred to below) per share of PHOENIXi on the date of the
grant.

(b) anISO or NQS, where the grantee does not own more than
10% of the shares of PHOENIXi or a Related Entity, be equal
to not less than the Fair Market Value per share of PHOENIXi
on the date of the grant.

(c) an option which is neither an ISO nor an NQS but where
the grantee owns more than 10% of the shares of PHOENIXi
or a Related Entity, be equal to not less than the Fair Market
Value per share of PHOENIXi on the date of the grant.

(d) an option which is neither an ISO nor an NQS but where
the grantee does not own more than 10% of the shares of
PHOENIXi or a Related Entity, be equal to not less than
85% of the Fair Market Value per share of PHOENIXi on the
date of the grant, but if the shares of PHOENIXi are listed or
if a Director of the Company or PHOENIXi or their associates
participates in the PHOENIXi Plan, the per share price must
not be less than the Fair Market Value per share of PHOENIXi
on the date of the grant.

(@)

FISOIEMREEME (INQSH T E - &
AR AFEG AR A« PHOENIXi sk E B
A (BTEHEEEL]) BiB10%RIA7 -
BB & MER FAXPHOENIXIAR 5 TE 1%
EE BERAFISEE (I T XAT) &
110% o

FBISOINQSHE  EEEAER
PHOENIXizk1H %8 & 88 2810 % K A%
5+ BB MER ZIPHOENIXIIZ D
EREEANATTISEE -

FLISOKNQSLAIMNEERREM & + BAEE
AEBPHOENIXi Sk #HR B 2B 10%H)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

I JBZ A

it # ()

(B) Share option scheme of a subsidiary of the Company
(Continued)
The basis of determining the exercise price (Continued)
For the purpose of the above “Fair Market Value” means as of
any date, the value of shares of the Company, PHOENIXi or any
subsidiary of PHOENIXi (as the case may be) determined as
follows:

()  where the shares of PHOENIXi are listed on any stock
exchange, the fair market value shall be (a) no less than the
higher of the closing price for a share on the date of the
grant of an option which must be a business day, or (b) the
average closing price of the share for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant (the closing price
shall be the price on the stock exchange on which the shares
of PHOENIXi are listed) or (c) the nominal value of a share;
or

(i) in the absence of an established market for the shares of
the type described in (i) above, the fair market value thereof
shall be determined by the Committee in good faith on a
fair and reasonable basis but in a manner consistent with
Section 260.140.50 of Title 10 of the California Code of
Regulations but in any event must in no circumstances be
less than the latest audited net tangible assets per share of
PHOENIXi unless none of the Directors or their associates
of PHOENIXi or the Company participate in the Plan, in which
event, reference does not need to be made to the latest
audited net tangible asset per share of PHOENIXi for the
purpose of determining the fair market value of the shares.

The remaining life of the scheme

The scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing on the date of the adoption of the scheme. Upon
termination, no further options may be granted under the scheme.

As at 31 December 2005, no options had been granted under
the PHOENIXi Plan.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year were:

Executive Directors:
LIU Changle (Alternate Director to CHUI Keung)
CHUI Keung (Alternate Director to LIU Changle)

Non-Executive Directors:
Michelle Lee GUTHRIE (Alternate Director to
LAU Yu Leung, John
and CHEUNG Chun On, Daniel)
LAU Yu Leung, John (Alternate Director to
CHEUNG Chun On, Daniel)
CHEUNG Chun On, Daniel  (Alternate Director to
LAU Yu Leung, John)
XU Gang
CHEUNG San Ping (Alternate Director to LIU Changle
and CHUI Keung)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

LO Ka Shui
KUOK Khoon Ean (Resigned on 10 March 2005)
LEUNG Hok Lim (Appointed on 21 January 2005)

Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK  (Appointed on 11 March 2005)

Alternate Director:
GONG Jianzhong (Alternate Director to XU Gang)

In accordance with Article 87(1) of the Company’s articles of
association, Dr. LO Ka Shui, Mr. CHEUNG Chun On, Daniel and Mr.
LAU Yu Leung, John will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
Dr. LO Ka Shui, Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim and Mr. Thaddeus Thomas
BECZAK, and as the date of this report still considers them to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

On 10 September 2003, each of the executive directors of the Company
has entered into a new service contract with the Company commencing
from 1 July 2003. The term of each contract will be for a term of three
years commencing from 1 July 2003 and thereafter may be terminated
by either party giving to the other not less than three months’ written
notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not terminable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The terms of office of each of the executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors are subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

EHRE A
R-BT=FNA+A  AAASHTEFHER
ARRETIHRBEL - :ﬁm%émm:zzz

FLHA-—BRBER - ERHAH—_TZE=F+H—H
HEET= ¢ HEZETAH S —HEHTPR=(EH
WEEBAALIESL ©

Br EXFTREES - RERERFASTAE LEE
EENESHEEAR R EMAERE OEER
ERRIN T AR —F AR LEIRIEE 4 ©

EHITES  FNTEFRELIFMTESNEN
EERBARBNARZERERERER L

EENGAOE G

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company, or any of its fellow subsidiaries or its parent company
was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AT AR AR A A B AT A
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN AH R L ) B~ A B AR A M fE 5
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES B RE 45 M IR

AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2005, the interests of the Directors and chief RZZZRF+-A=1+—H  EFRITBREEE
executives in the shares of the Company and its associated BRIBEBR ARG ES7T1 BB HMEAE KRG ([FH M

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and EIEH)) EXVEBRET R ESD I BMEARR A RE
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) B ERXSFBRAR ([HRAT]) RERARRAFA

which were notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong RIEBHF NS IEFFE352(5FBERNELM - siiRiE
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of B R PTRIZEAR E AR A ([BZEMR _ EMEAI) 85.46
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they EESTIREBESETESFRIMAMNEARAA
are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) and NMEEZ TR AN A B R EARE A B (AR B B H L EEE
required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company BIZEXVESE TR E) Bk iEm (BERIERE S &
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were notified to the HEGHA BIE X ESAE A S AR EE A B s
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of FORB) AT ¢

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise

Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) relating to

securities transactions by Directors, were as follows:

Number of ordinary shares held

FEFEEREE
Personal Family Corporate Other Total number Percentage of

Name interest interest interest interest of shares  shareholding

#E EAER Rk AT Hith iz % 17 48 2 REBD L

LIU Changle! - - 1,854,000,000 - 1,854,000,000 37.54%

ey

LO Ka Shui? 3,200,000 - - - 3,200,000 0.06%

#E=Im’

Note:  Mr. LIU Changle is the beneficial owner of approximately 93.3% of the Hiat - BIR$ESEERS BEMNERAFLI3.3%E BT
issued share capital of Today’s Asia Limited, which in turn has an interest AHERBEEA  MZATRZZTZTAF+=A
in approximately 37.54% of the issued share capital of the Company =+— B BB HI37.54% M ANA TIE BT
as at 31 December 2005. WS o

1 Being an executive Director of the Company L BRARHMPITES -

2 Being an independent non-executive Director of the Company 2 BRRARNBENLIENITES
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
(CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2005, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company, had any interest or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Under the terms of the Company’s share option schemes approved
by the Shareholders on 7 June 2000, the Committee may, at their
discretion, invite any employee of the Company or any of the Group
companies, including any executive directors, to take up options to
subscribe for Shares. The maximum number of Shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the share option schemes must
not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company. The terms
of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were amended on 14 February
2001 and 10 December 2004 and the terms of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme were amended on 14 February 2001, 6 August 2002
and 10 December 2004, respectively. A summary of the amended
share option schemes is set out in the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” of this report.

Save as disclosed herein, and other than those in connection with the
Group reorganisation scheme prior to the Company’s listing of Shares,
at no time during the year was the Company or any of the companies
comprising the Group a party to any arrangement to enable the
Company’s Directors or their associates to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2005, the interest of the shareholders (not being
Directors and the chief executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO and required to be entered in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or entered in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
were as follows:

() Long positions of substantial shareholders in the ordinary
shares of the Company

Name of substantial shareholders

ETERRERE

Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd.
(Note 1) (Kfa£1)

Today’s Asia Limited (Note 2)
SBEMNBERIR (Hi72)

Notes:

1. Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd. is a subsidiary of STAR Group
Limited. News Cayman Holdings Limited holds 100% of the ordinary
voting shares of STAR Group Limited. News Publishers Investments
Pty, Limited holds 100% of the ordinary voting shares of News
Cayman Holdings Limited. News Publishers Investments Pty,
Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of STAR LLC Australia Pty
Limited, which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of New STAR
US Holdings Subsidiary, LLC. New STAR US Holdings Subsidiary,
LLC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of STAR US Holdings Subsidiary,
LLC, which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of STAR US
Holdings, Inc.. STAR US Holdings, Inc. is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of News Publishing Australia Limited, which is an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of News Corporation.
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R-ZEZERF+_A=1T—H RRQAFEELE
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() TEREREADLEROEA

Percentage of

Number of shares shareholding

EERHE REB DL
1,854,000,000 37.54%
1,854,000,000 37.54%

et -

1. Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd. &£ %=
BEEEFRARNMEBAR - MEEEES
EHBRAFAIENews Cayman Holdings
Limited# A £100% L@ Al R =D
News Publishers Investments Pty, Limited# &
News Cayman Holdings Limited#1100%
LA =R HER - News Publishers
Investments Pty, Limited ASTAR LLC Australia
Pty, Limited®2 &K B & * MSTAR LLC
Australia Pty, LimitedZNew STAR US Holdings
Subsidiary, LLCH) 2 & KB R] : New STAR
US Holdings Subsidiary, LLCASTAR US
Holdings Subsidiary, LLCEIZEKIB AR + M
STAR US Holdings Subsidiary, LLCA|&STAR
US Holdings, IncB2 &K@ A7 : STAR US
Holdings, Inc&News Publishing Australia
Limited®) 2 & KB &) + MNews Publishing
Australia Limited ZNews CorporationfJf&# &
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(i)

(ii)

Long positions of substantial shareholders in the ordinary
shares of the Company (Continued)

By virtue of the SFO, News Corporation, News Publishing Australia
Limited, STAR US Holdings, Inc., STAR US Holdings Subsidiary,
LLC, New STAR US Holdings Subsidiary, LLC, STAR LLC Australia
Pty Limited, News Publishers Investments Pty, Limited, News
Cayman Holdings Limited, STAR Group Limited are all deemed to
be interested in the 1,854,000,000 shares held by Xing Kong Chuan
Mei Group Co., Ltd.

Today’s Asia Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. LIU Changle and
Mr. CHAN Wing Kee as to 93.3% and 6.7% interests respectively.

Long position of other person in the ordinary shares of the
Company

Name of other person who has
more than 5% interest

FAEBRBS%ERNEMATHNER

China Wise International Limited (Note)

4.+b

Note:

BFRBR AR (Hat)

China Wise International Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Cultural Developments Limited, which in turn is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Bank of China Group Investment Limited. Bank of
China Group Investment Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Bank of China Limited, which in turn is a subsidiary of Central
SAFE Investments Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Central SAFE
Investments Limited, Bank of China Limited, Bank of China Group
Investment Limited and Cultural Developments Limited are all
deemed to be interested in the 412,000,000 shares held by China
Wise International Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other shareholders or other persons had
interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or, was directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of the issued share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meeting of any other member of the Group,
or any options in respect of such capital.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE S+ 2

N AR A

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

MA]JOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of programme purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and advertising end-
customers are as follows:

Programme purchases & B R
— the largest supplier — RAHER
— five largest suppliers — AAMER
Sales SHE
— the largest advertising end-customer — RAEERREP
— five largest advertising end-customers — ARBEERKEF

The film license fees paid/payable to STAR TV Filmed Entertainment
Limited (“STAR Filmed”) is not included in the above list of programme
purchases suppliers. Details of the transactions between the Group
and STAR Filmed are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
STAR Filmed is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of STAR Group
Limited, which holds 100% of Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd.,
a substantial shareholder of the Company.

In the opinion of the Directors, such transactions were carried out on
terms no more favourable than terms available to independent third
parties.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, their associates, or
any shareholder (which to the best knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the major suppliers or customers mentioned above.

ARABEREARRREEFRRMEARRES
RAZEFIYREREEREBEEABE - ARAK
FRAERKRFAEABREDAERNEAHT - £
BERKEERRTANEAER -

BEE AR

ARABRFRAL B LS FESRARREENE
MIEFAEARGFONERREENAL

FEMERREF
AEBEFZHERERESREEPEGEERNHEER
EEFEAED LT ¢
Year 2005 Year 2004
—EERF —ZETNF
18% 12%
55% 40%
2% 2%
8% 10%

B4,/ FERHFSTAR TV Filmed Entertainment Limited
([STAR Filmed)) 2 BRI B A B SR ERET B
REEMHER A - RNEE ESTAR Filmed®) 3z 5 5515 8
REATRIHIFES2 © STAR Filmed B E = E i E=EA
RARIMEEEZENBRAR  BERBLARFNE
Z[FERXing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd.&#J100%

R o
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 32 to the financial
statements also constituted connected transactions under the Listing
Rules, are required to be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The following transactions between certain
connected parties (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and the
Company have been entered into and/or are ongoing for which relevant
announcements, if necessary, had been made by the Company in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

1.  The following connected transactions with Satellite Television
Asian Region Limited (“STARL”), STAR Filmed, ATV Enterprises
Limited (“ATVE”) and Asia Television Limited (“ATV”) have been
approved by resolutions of independent shareholders passed on
26 June 2003:

(@ STARL is a subsidiary of Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co.,
Ltd., a substantial shareholder of the Company. The
connected transactions are:

(0

(i

STARL provides technical and administrative services
for the operations of the Phoenix Chinese Channel,
Phoenix Movies Channel, Phoenix InfoNews Channel,
Phoenix North America Chinese Channel and Phoenix
Chinese News and Entertainment Channel. For the
year ended 31 December 2005, the service charges
paid/payable to STARL amounted to approximately
HK$54,174,000 (2004: HK$52,917,000), which were
calculated under the terms of the executed service
agreement between a subsidiary of the Company and
STARL. Such amount did not exceed the annual cap
of HK$80,000,000 for each of the two years ending
30 June 2006 approved under the relevant resolutions.

STARL acts as an agent to promote international
subscription sales and marketing services for the
Group. For the year ended 31 December 2005,
commission for international subscription sales and
marketing services paid/payable to STARL amounted
to approximately HK$2,864,000 (2004:
HK$2,645,000), which was calculated based on 15%
of the subscription fees generated and received by
STARL on behalf of the Group. Such amount did not
exceed the annual caps of HK$7,500,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2005 and HK$10,000,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2006 respectively approved under the
relevant resolutions.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

(i) STARL acts as an exclusive advertising agent for the
Group at all territories outside the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”). For the year ended 31 December
2005, commission for advertising sales and marketing
services paid/payable to STARL amounted to
approximately HK$51,000 (2004: HK$944,000), which
was calculated based on 4%-15% of the net
advertising income generated and received by STARL
on behalf of the Group after deducting the relevant
amount of the third party agency fees incurred by it.
Such amount did not exceed the annual cap of
HK$20,000,000 for each of the two years ending 30
June 2006 approved under the relevant resolutions.
Pursuant to a letter of termination dated 18 October
2004, STARL ceased to act as the advertising sales
agent for the Group with effect from 30 September
2004 but will continue to provide services and receive
commission in respect of advertising sales contracts
concluded by STARL on behalf of the Group prior to
its cessation or as specifically agreed by the parties.

STAR Filmed is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of STAR
Group Limited, which holds 100% of Xing Kong Chuan Mei
Group Co., Ltd., a substantial shareholder of the Company.
The connected transaction relates to the granting of a non-
exclusive license to exhibit a selection of movies on Phoenix
Movies Channel in the PRC for a term of 10 years
commencing from 28 August 1998. For the year ended 31
December 2005, the film license fees paid/payable to STAR
Filmed amounted to approximately HK$20,355,000 (2004:
HK$20,337,000), which were charged according to the
executed film rights license agreement between a subsidiary
of the Company and STAR Filmed. Such amount did not
exceed the annual cap of HK$23,000,000 for each of the
two years ending 30 June 2006 approved under the relevant
resolutions.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS B xL 5 (48)
(CONTINUED)

ATVE, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ATV, is a connected
party by virtue of the fact that Mr. LIU Changle and Mr. CHAN
Wing Kee beneficially own 93.3% and 6.7% respectively, of
Today’s Asia Limited, which holds 100% of Vital Media
Holdings Limited, which in turn holds 46% indirect interest
in ATV. Mr. CHAN Wing Kee also owns 95% of Dragon Sheen
Holdings Limited which holds 16.25% indirect interest in
ATV as at 31 December 2005. He also owns 80% of Dragon
Goodwill International Limited, which has completed its
acquisition of 32.75% interests in ATV on 25 July 2008.
The connected transaction relates to the acquisition of
certain television programme licenses from ATVE. For the
year ended 31 December 2005, no programme license fees
was paid/payable to ATVE (2004: HK$709,000), under the
executed license agreement between a subsidiary of the
Company and ATVE. Therefore, the annual cap of
HK$15,000,000 for each of the two years ending 30 June
2006 approved under the relevant resolutions was not
exceeded.

A subsidiary of the Company entered into an agreement to
provide technical support services and equipment to ATV
for the operation of the ATV Home Channel (U.S. version)
via EchoStar Satellite Corporation, a direct-to-home satellite
television operator in the United States. For the year ended
31 December 2005, the service fees received/receivable
from the provision of technical support services and
equipment to ATV were approximately HK$1,278,000 (2004:
HK$1,402,000), which were charged according to the
executed service agreement between this subsidiary and
ATV. Such amount did not exceed the annual cap of
HK$2,000,000 for each of the two years ending 30 June
2006 approved under the relevant resolutions.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS B 2L 5y (4

(CONTINUED)

2. A subsidiary of the Company entered into an agreement with 2. ARQRETH—HEKHBAREFox News
Fox News Network L.L.C. (“Fox”), an associate of Xing Kong Network L.L.C. ([Fox]) Z&T 7% ° FoxAXing
Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd., a substantial shareholder of the Kong Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd. (KA &IH)=E
Company. The connected transactions relate to: TR MR QR - BEXSHR
(@ granting of non-exclusive and non-transferable license to (a) BHFTEFoxETERISHIIEER & r &

subscribe for Fox’s news service; FERTRIHE

(o) leasing of office space and access to workspace, subject (o) WMAEMERFERIIEE @ RTHMERE
to availability; and E &

(€) accessing Fox’s camera hook up at the United Nations, (c) fFEAFoxfINEA BB - 25
interview positions in various places in the United States RIEREh 35 A K2 i Fox{81 2 B IR B & X
and live shots from Fox’s satellite truck positions for events JFoXxBEETHEMNEHNRSER - &
that Fox is already covering, subject to availability. FHMFETE ©

For the year ended 31 December 2005, the service charges paid/ RBE_ZETRF+_A=1+—HLEFE ' [

payable to Fox amounted to approximately HK$3,782,000 (2004: Foxi‘iﬁ/f&“ Y IRTS B 493,782,000/ 7T (=

HK$3,792,000), which were charged under the license agreement TR : 3,792,000 7T) + JyiRRLILHTEB A

between this subsidiary and Fox. Such amount did not exceed A EFOXE] M MU HE I BN © sZsXRE L AR A

the annual cap of HK$4,314,000 for the year ended 31 December BREEERERIEEEZ_TTHF+ A

2005 approved under the relevant resolutions. =t+—HIFERNETF LRR4,314,00087T °

3. A 70% owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a 3. ARREETO%ERRHIEB AR EEXing Kong

transponder rental agreement and an electronic programme guide Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd. (R A RREZAK
(“EPG”) services agreement with British Sky Broadcasting Limited ) BB 52 B]British Sky Broadcasting Limited
(“BSkyB”), an associate of Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd., ([BSkyB)) #r] s as 23 E e N EFEIE 5
a substantial shareholder of the Company. These connected Sl ([EFEIB$E3l]) RISt - WEBERS
transactions relate to the provision of transponder capacity, FRAEBEERBUN A IREERIZAE - ML
uplinking and MPEG encoding services and EPG services for %i@&ﬁfgﬁriﬁ(MPEG)ﬂDfﬂﬁ?fk& BFEIEE
Phoenix Chinese News and Entertainment Channel. For the year SR - BE—ETRF+_A=+—HIF
ended 31 December 2005, the transponder rental and uplink & mBSkyBX T, FEfT Ry EE S K\
costs paid/payable to BSkyB amounted to approximately EHERLN2,771,0008 T (ZEFWNEF :
HK$2,771,000 (2004: HK$5,012,000), which were charged in 5,012,000/ 7T) * TR R EABSKyBE 7] HI AR TS
accordance with the service agreements with BSkyB. Such WA - Z PRV EBAB Y RRR T
amount did not exceed the annual cap of HK$6,600,000 for each —FENANBIERE—TERFA=1H
of the two years ending 30 June 2005 approved by the 1EFAE S Z ) &4 _EPR6,600,000/8 7T ©

independent shareholders on 6 August 2002.

4. A 70% owned subsidiary of the Company entered into an EPG 4. KRAREET0%ERKHIEB AR EEXing Kong

services agreement with BSkyB, an associate of Xing Kong Chuan Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd. (R AFIREZAK
Mei Group Co., Ltd., a substantial shareholder of the Company. R KB & A RIBSkyB%R 7] & 7 &1 B 5 5| IR 7S
This connected transaction relates to the provision of EPG ek o BER S H LA BEEREMN S REE
services for Phoenix Chinese News and Entertainment Channel. TEIBIESIRE - BE—TTRF T+ A=+
For the four months ended 31 December 2005, the costs paid/ —H1IEME R - [BSkyBX it FERTRIE R A
payable to BSkyB amounted to approximately HK$393,000, 893 0007 7T + JHIR R EABSkyB2: 2] #) AR 75 5
which was charged in accordance with the service agreement FUER - ZH BN RERABE T T RF =
with BSkyB. Such amount did not exceed the annual cap of H =t+—HIEFENESF ER433,0008 7T °

HK$433,000 for the year ended 31 December 2005.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS B xL 5 (48)
(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2005, news footage and data
transmission services were provided by ATV to a subsidiary of
the Company. The service charges paid/payable to ATV amounted
to approximately HK$28,000 (2004: HK$790,000), which were
charged based on terms mutually agreed upon between both
parties. This is a connected transaction but falls within Rule 20.31
of GEM Listing Rules. Such transaction is exempted from the
reporting, announcement and Shareholders’ approval
requirements of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

On 30 October 2000, a subsidiary of the Company had entered
into a license agreement with DIRECTV Inc. (“DIRECTV”) for the
non-exclusive distribution of Phoenix North America Chinese
Channel via its direct broadcast service satellite — delivered
television system in North America (“License Agreement”), which
term had been extended by various letters until the end of 2004.
DIRECTV is 34% indirectly owned by Fox. Fox is 100% owned
by News Corporation, the ultimate holding company of Xing Kong
Chuan Mei Group Co. Ltd., a substantial shareholder of the
Company. On 1 March 2005, a subsidiary of the Company and
DIRECTYV signed a letter which extended the term of the License
Agreement for four months from 1 January 2005 or until the First
Amendment (as defined below) became effective, whichever is
the earlier. Also on 1 March 2005, a subsidiary of the Company
entered into an amendment agreement with DIRECTV (“First
Amendment Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group further
granted DIRECTV the non-exclusive right to distribute Phoenix
InfoNews Channel in addition to the Phoenix North America
Chinese Channel and that the term of the License Agreement
was further extended for another six months commencing from
5 March 2005.  DIRECTYV, which has the right to extend for a
year after the expiry of the First Amendment, had chosen to extend
the License Agreement on a monthly basis with the view to
conclude new terms with the Group. On 25 January 2006, a
subsidiary of the Company entered into another amendment
agreement with DIRECTV (“Second Amendment Agreement”)
pursuant to which certain material terms of the License Agreement
have been supplemented and/or amended and the term of the
License Agreement has been extended for 3 years commencing
from 25 January 2006. The Company has made an
announcement in respect of these connected transactions with
DIRECTV on 7 February 2006.

REERF®R 2005

RNEE-_TERAFE+_A=1+—HIFE &
MNEREAR BN B R REEA &
N B ERRTS o M NER T TEMHAR
1% & F#28,0007 7T (ZZZ U4 : 790,000/
T0) ¢ BB E R RE ZGFUER o IHIER 5
BEERS - MBAIER ETRAIZE20.311%
FriltiE Rl - 2R B R EREIFER ETRA]
F20E 2 H3R - A RERAERTE ©

RZZZRF+A=1H  A26—HEHBA
FJEEDIRECTV, Inc. ([DIRECTV)) T2 #F A a5
([FFaltakl) @ SF Al DB BB E NI E
NOEEERTE — BEEEES  BRAE
BEREMNEHIEBRHHE - HEBREEH
ZRMEMEREE —TTEK AL Fox
R ADIRECTVAI34 %125 © Fox#)1009%1
zm FANews Corporation (A" A &)= Z & R Xing
Kong Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd.H) s 445 i
NENHER - RZTEZERF=A—H ' ZQF
—E B A FEEDIRECTVARE — D - LA#E
HApENSRE ST AF— A —HEBE
ROEAKEESE —XETHE (EERE T
Bk (UEREERBE) - @R RZTETRF=
A—H  XAR—HHE A R EDIRECTVEI AL
— BT (TR — BT D))  IRiL - &
EE#E—HX FDIRECTVIEBZHE - LUEHR D
HBEEIEEMNE AN D BB AR ER
& M= SRE — ST RAFE=ABE
BXER/NEA - DIRECTV (HBHEES X
Bl HREBEEHETRE—F) DBERA
BEECRT A - WEBENEE GG
K - R=ZTTEAF—HA=-+HB ' ARF—
B R & EEDIRECTVEI M. B — B 1ER] sk
(MFBoREEsTmaEl) « Bkt SRl ipZaE
TEEGREEFR R SMEFT - Tl
BE_EEXNF—A-_+RBRBEH=F - AR
RIER =TT NF— At HBLEDIRECTV#EST
M ERER ST DM ©



CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2005, the license fee received/
receivable from DIRECTV amounted to approximately
HK$1,751,000 (2004: HK$2,309,000), which were charged in
accordance with the License Agreement as amended by its
subsequent amendment agreements. There was no annual cap
for 2005 as no announcement was made at the material time
after the execution of the First Amendment, details of such
omission have been explained in the announcement of 7 February
20086.

A subsidiary of the Company entered into a sub-license
agreement for the sub-licensing of certain programmes and a
license agreement for the licensing of a television series with SGL
Entertainment Limited (“SGL”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xing
Kong Chuan Mei Group Co. Ltd., a substantial shareholder of
the Company. For the year ended 31 December 2005, the license
fees paid/payable to SGL amounted to approximately
HK$546,000 (2004: HK$1,182,000), which were charged in
accordance with the license agreement with SGL. These are
connected transactions but fall within Rule 20.34 of GEM Listing
Rules. Such transaction is exempted from the reporting,
announcement and Shareholders’ approval requirements of
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company had made
an announcement on 27 September 2004 in respect of the
connected transactions with SGL.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the above transactions and have considered the
procedures performed by the auditors of the Company in
reviewing them and confirmed that at the time of the transactions:

(@) the transactions have been entered into by the relevant
member of the Group in the ordinary and usual course of
its business;

(b) the transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length
basis and on normal commercial terms (to the extent that
there are comparable transactions) or, if there are not
sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they
are on normal commercial terms, or terms not less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as
the case may be) independent third parties; and

(c) the transactions have been entered into in accordance with
the relevant agreement governing them on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.
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COMPETING BUSINESS

Today’s Asia Limited, Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd. and China
Wise International Limited have interests in approximately 37.54%,
37.54% and 8.34% of the share capital of the Company, respectively.
Today’s Asia Limited, together with its shareholders, Mr. LIU Changle
and Mr. CHAN Wing Kee, Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd. and
China Wise International Limited are deemed to be the initial
management shareholders of the Company as defined under the GEM
Listing Rules.

Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd., together with its ultimate parent
company, News Corporation, are active in the television broadcasting
industry worldwide. News Corporation’s diversified global operations
in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, Australia, Latin
America and the Pacific Basin include the production of motion pictures
and television programming; television, satellite and cable broadcasting;
the publication of newspapers, magazines and books; the production
and distribution of promotional and advertising products and services;
the development of digital broadcasting; the development of conditional
access and subscriber management systems; and the creation and
distribution of popular on-line programming. Currently, STAR Group
Limited, the holding company of Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co.,
Ltd., owns and operates multimedia digital platforms, including satellite
television, in the Asia Pacific region and engages in programme licensing
and advertising agency business throughout the world, including China.
STAR Group Limited and its subsidiaries (including Xing Kong Chuan
Mei Group Co., Ltd.) operate and broadcast a range of channels, such
as STAR Movies and STAR Chinese Channel (which presently only
broadcasts in Taiwan) and Channel [V]. The broadcasting coverage of
Channel [V] includes China, Taiwan, Hong Kong, countries in South
East Asia, the Indian sub-continent and the Middle East. STAR Group
Limited announced on 19 December 2001 that it was granted landing
rights for a new 24-hour Mandarin — language general entertainment
channel, Xing Kong Wei Shi, in southern China by virtue of an agreement
signed among STAR (China) Limited (STAR Group Limited’s wholly-
owned subsidiary), China International Television Corporation (“CITVC”),
Guangdong Cable TV Networks Co. Ltd. and Fox Cable Networks
Services, L.L.C., an affiliate of STAR Group Limited. STAR Group
Limited further announced on 15 January 2003 that it has signed an
agreement with CITVC, enabling Xing Kong Wei Shi to be viewed
nationally in hotels with three-stars and above, and in foreign and
overseas Chinese compounds.
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COMPETING BUSINESS (CONTINUED)

Mr. LIU Changle and Mr. CHAN Wing Kee beneficially own 93.3% and
6.7%, respectively, of Today’s Asia Limited, which holds 100% of Vital
Media Holdings Limited, which in turn holds 46% indirect interest in
ATV, a Hong Kong based television broadcasting company. Mr. CHAN
Wing Kee also owns 95% of Dragon Sheen Holdings Limited which
holds 16.25% indirect interest in ATV as at 31 December 2005. He
also owns 80% of Dragon Goodwill International Limited, which has
completed its acquisition of 32.75% interests in ATV on 25 July 20083.
ATV is deemed to be a connected person of the Company pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules. Primarily aiming at audiences in Hong Kong,
ATV broadcasts its programmes via terrestrial transmission through
two channels, one in Cantonese and the other in English. Signals of
such two channels can also be received in certain parts of Guangdong
Province of the PRC. ATV announced in August 2002 that it had
received the approval from the authorities in China to broadcast its
Cantonese and English channels through the cable system in
Guangdong. ATV is also granted a non-domestic television programme
service license in May 2004, in addition to its existing domestic free
television programme service license.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the substantial
shareholders of the Company (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules)
has any interests in a business which competes or may compete with
the business of the Group.

SPONSORS’ INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2002, BOCI Asia Limited and Merrill Lynch Far East
Limited ceased to be the sponsors of the Company upon expiration of
the terms of contract after two years of service. The Company had no
sponsor since 1 July 2002. Accordingly, no additional disclosure is
made.

ADVANCES TO AN ENTITY

Details of the relevant advance to an entity from the Group which
exceeds 8% of the Group’s total assets, as defined in rules 17.14 of
the GEM Listing Rules, are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee had reviewed the annual results and provided
advice and comments thereon.
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AUDITORS 1% B

The financial statements have been audited by SRR EMBESBKESTMBISEZ - £
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer Bk B SR BISFT I R EL TG BB RE(E o
themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board REESE

LIU Changle FE

Chairman 2Rt

Hong Kong, 14 March 2006 HA ZZEEF=A+IA
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AUDITORS’ REPORT ¥ ZiEiiR & &

T K R ST B S A AT

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

PHOENIX SATELLITE TELEVISION HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 79 to 150 which
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial
statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing financial
statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our
audit, on those financial statements and to report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial
statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to
the circumstances of the Company and of the Group, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming
our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation
of information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

7% S
BREERAERBERAA
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AIZEENE e E RTINS 79B 2 F 1608 2 7175
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BERAIZESAAERBUATENTHOMBEERE -
EREZEVHRRE  EELRERRAEEN
SHEK  YEERERZESHE -

A EERRBER AR  BREVHR
REABYER  WERBBRE®RS Rtz
REREREEM B - AEBETERARENOA
RAEFMEMALE ERAREREE -

B

AEZHEERREE MG RM 2 EEREE
APETTEZI(F - BEREESENME T AE%HE
MBHRRMBBELBEBEFTREANEE  TEE
AHEEENRAEZ ST RERREZ EAMGEA
i FARAZ A BRREDES EARKk &
SEZARER  REDTERERY RAMIEZ
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AUDITORS’ REPORT #Z & i 3R & =

OPINION

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December
2005 and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year then
ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 14 March 2006
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 4% & Uk 25 %

For the year ended 31 December 2005 &%=
(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Revenue
Operating expenses

Selling, general and
administrative expenses

Other revenue
Exchange gain, net
Interest income, net
Other income, net

Provision for impairment loss in
a jointly controlled entity

Share of losses of jointly
controlled entities

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interests

Earnings per share for profit
attributable to the equity
holders of the company
during the year

Basic earnings per share,
Hong Kong cents

Diluted earnings per share,
Hong Kong cents

Dividends

SEERF I A= AUEE

(2L BTSIE)
2005 2004
. —TENF
Note(s) $’000 $000
BtaE FT Fr
(Restated)
(&E5)
(Note 2(v))
(Ktat2(v))
WA 5 1,034,768 959,660
reEEH 6, 32()) (633,189) (675,061)
HE  —RRITEER
6, 32(i) (242,894) (146,063)
HAnl A
PE H s #58 5 13,997 1,927
F B A F5E 5 14,723 6,486
E U A F5E 5 18,392 9,105
HEZEGEERESERE
19 (472) =
B HEEEHEEEE
19 (1,906) =
BRETSH AU 203,419 156,054
FrBBE A 7 (20,755) (4,826)
FERA 182,664 151,228
T 5 ZEELER
AAREEFEA 181,482 150,494
e 1,182 734
182,664 151,228
BRERARATERZEEA
E&ERNERER
ERGREF - B
10 3.67 3.05
BEreiRar -
10 3.67 3.04
i B 9 59,264 49,387
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#§ %R &

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET %4 & & & £

¥
it

As at 31 December 2005 R=EZEhFEF+=-H=+—H
(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Purchased programme and film rights, net B8 A8 B & &2 i F 58

Property, plant and equipment

Property deposit and development costs
Investments in jointly controlled entities

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Long-term deposit

Deferred income tax assets

Current assets
Accounts receivable, net
Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables
Inventories

Amounts due from related companies

Self-produced programmes

Purchased programme and film rights,

net, current portion

Profits tax recoverable

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

REERF®R 2005

W~ BB N
MER S RERKA
RAREZEHERNKE
BAHES IR IR AR
RIENFEEE
REHER
EIEFTSHEE

RBEE

PR BR R RE

BRFE  RZE N
HAth e W RIR

TE

e U5 BEsE N AR IR
EES: 1!

BARE REFREFEE
— R R ER D

AUk B R SR

RAFENIRL 18 E50R
BRIBR B 5 A B

Re MRS EE

HEE

(BB ETIE)

Note(s)
Kzt

16
17
18
19

20

24
28

12
13

14
15, 32(ii)

16

20
23

2005 2004
—EZRF —ETOF
$°000 $’000
Fr Fr
(Restated)
(&=71)
14,968 18,402
44,518 54,869
30,560 62,515
9,594 472
65,971 53,461
31,018 31,091
963 30
197,592 220,840
43,254 98,397
367,945 351,005
5,557 8,751
1,232 507
3,760 10,652
5,141 11,665
- 384
23,758
513,364 380,391
964,011 861,752
1,161,603 1,082,592




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET #%: & & i A i &
As at 31 December 20056 R=—ZFEFEAFF—H=+—H
(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B ETTSE)
2005 2004
—ETHF ZETF
Note(s) $’000 $000
HtaF Frr Frr
(Restated)
(& E5)
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERKEaE
Capital and reserves attributable to the A2 F#ERFIFE AEWS
Company’s equity holders IR AR &
Share capital A& AN 25 493,867 493,680
Reserves ] 27 505,220 369,968
999,087 863,648
Minority interests DR RAER 8,019 6,837
Total equity RS 1,007,106 870,485
Non-current liability FRBEE
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMSHRAE 28 963 30
Current liabilities REEE
Accounts payable, other payables FERTBRTR ~ E A FERTFRIE
and accruals N e A 22 95,948 165,078
Deferred income EIEWA 47,572 38,914
Amounts due to related companies e AE A RIFIR 15, 32(ii) 4,900 8,085
Profits tax payable JES RIS A% 5,114 =
153,534 212,077
Total liabilities wnas 154,497 212,107
Total equity and liabilities HESREE 1,161,603 1,082,592
Net current assets REBEEFE 810,477 649,675
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERS 1,008,069 870,515
Approved by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2006 and signed on R-ETRF= ﬂ ‘1’@ AEESemA - WHNT

behalf of the Board by EERRESFLEE

Michelle Lee GUTHRIE
Director &%

LIU Changle 2R %
Director %
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf# 3Rz

BALANCE SHEET % /& £ f& %

As at 31 December 2006 R=-ZEZERF+—-H=+—H

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ASSETS
Non-current asset
Interests in subsidiaries

Current asset
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to
the Company’s equity holders
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

LIABILITY
Current liability
Other payables and accruals

Total liability

Total equity and liability

BE
FRBEE
KB A R E

REBEE
RelkReEE

HEE

Rz
KA RERTAEAEMN
BRA R #E

[EEN

G

BiEm

8fE
REBRE

H b B RIR K BT SRR

waE

HEZRERE

Approved by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2006 and signed on

behalf of the Board by

LIU Changle 2R %
Director %

REERF®R 2005

(BELETTSE)
2005 2004
—ETRF —ETMF
Note(s) $’000 $000
Hiat FiT Fr
21 1,232,543 1,276,312
23 1,972 6,302
1,234,515 1,282,614
25 493,867 493,680
27 740,494 788,780
1,234,361 1,282,460
154 154
154 154
1,234,515 1,282,614

REIZBZRF=ATHEESEERE  YHAT

EERREFTERE

Michelle Lee GUTHRIE
Director &%



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt

A o ME g 5 B R

For the year ended 31 December 2005 Bt —FLEAF+ A =+—HILF/ZF

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Balance at 1 January 2004

Exchange differences arising on
translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries

Exercise of share options

Profit for the year

Balance at 31 December 2004

Balance at 1 January 2005

Exchange differences arising on
translation of the financial
statements of foreign
subsidiaries

Exercise of share options

Dividends relating to 2004

Profit for the year

Balance at 31 December 2005

(2L BTSIE)
Capital and
reserves
attributable
to Company’s Minority
equity holders interests Total
RAT R
BB AER DERRR
B R E= #et
Note(s) $'000 $’000 $°000
MiaE FiT Fr Fr
N_ZTZTNF— A —H#&EH 706,420 6,103 712,523
BREF NGB A RS RE
EERER =5
27 1,325 = 1,325
1T{E B AR #E 2,25, 26, 27 5,409 = 5,409
FER 150,494 734 151,228
R MF
+—A=+—H#&% 863,648 6,837 870,485
R-ZBTRF—H—B#&& 863,648 6,837 870,485
BREFING B D BB IR
EENERZSR
27 1,383 - 1,383
THEBRE 2, 25, 26, 27 1,961 - 1,961
EN—ZZNFERE 9 (49,387) - (49,387)
FERA 181,482 1,182 182,664
R-ZZTRF
+=-A=t+—H#&t 999,087 8,019 1,007,106

PHOENIX ANNUAL REPORT 2005

83



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf#$R3%

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT %4 S Bl 4 & %
For the year ended 31 December 2005 #Z —EEhF+—A=+—HIFFZE

(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BELETTSE)
2005 2004
—ZEERF —ETE
Note(s) $°000 $°000
HfaE Fr FIr
(Restated)
(Ccd==x7l))
Cash flows from operating REXEBTHNRSRE
activities
Cash generated from operations REEBEENR S 29 216,476 80,882
Interest received 2 UF & 13,937 6,489
Income from long-term deposit R EATF SRR 786 =
Hong Kong taxation paid B EBRIE (14,986) (10,794)
Overseas taxation paid EEINRIE (271) (355)
Net cash generated from REEBTHEENRESFE
operating activities 215,942 76,222
Cash flows from investing RETBNELSRE
activities
Increase in property deposit and YIRS KB R ARG AN
development costs (1,246) (1,395)
Purchase of property, plant and BAYE - BERE&E
equipment 17 (15,878) (16,761)
Purchase of programme and film rights AR E REXRE 16 (16,083) (20,414)
Investment in a jointly controlled entity R EEE S BRI E 19 (11,500) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE « BEMEE
plant and equipment JZIECE O 17 85 179
Proceeds from partial disposal of HEHS %%Tﬁ?(ﬁﬁéﬁé
property deposit interest FT153 5% 18 37,792 =
Purchase of financial assets at fair value E%)\?E@WE?'JEES\EEEE&EE
through profit or loss BRI EY A 75 B EE (206,768) (84,411)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets ~ H &% A F(EI BRI E25
at fair value through profit or loss BRIBMEIISE E TS 0E 171,898 29,986
Income from financial assets at fair value ZAFES R ERR
through profit or loss BRI B IS & E A N e 4,747 1,822
Interest paid BEAFLE - @3)
Net cash used in investing RETBDFARESFE
activities (36,953) (90,997)
Cash flows from financing AMEIENESRE
activities
Proceeds from exercise of share options 1T{E IR AT 1S 5K IE 25, 26 1,961 5,409
Dividends paid to Company’s equity B FAR T%ﬁﬂwﬁ/\
holders KRR 2. 9 (49,387) =
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEE (FTA) EEK
financing activities RERE (47,426) 5,409
Increase/(decrease) in cash and HERBESESEEM (RD)
cash equivalents 131,563 (9,366)
Cash and cash equivalents FORERESEE
at beginning of year 380,391 388,869
Effect of foreign exchange ExgmysE
rate changes 1,410 888
Cash and cash equivalents at FRESRESEE
end of year 513,364 380,391

BLEERFHR 2005



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Phoenix Satellite Television Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) engage principally in
satellite television broadcasting activities.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and domiciled in Hong Kong. The address of its
registered office is Century Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
PO Box 2681GT, George Town, Grand Cayman, British West
Indies, Cayman Islands.

The Company is listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2006.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Phoenix Satellite
Television Holdings Limited have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and applicable disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which is carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Company’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

BA RS ¥R AR MY R

— i & R

BERERERERAR ([ARR]) REMEA
Al(REAEE]) TEREHEERERE
7% o

RRA B RF SRS ML RATEREE
BWARRAR o QAR =R R Century
Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681GT, George Town, Grand Cayman, British
West Indies, Cayman Islands °

ARARREBEEBERZMARAR (BEPAT])
BIEMR L -

g EHRREAETEN _TTF=H
PO H BT -

HE G BURM =

AN EmEI SRV BERAMERNTIES
TR - BB AN - WEBRRERMZ7
MPTEFERNGEIERER -

(a) WHEEE
BRI EAR IR G IR R RAR & TR TS
REEESHMASRONEBUBRE
2R ([BEPHRELR]) REE DA
17163 PR 4 BE A5 E B 2 PRI R AR FE 5 b
mARRAIMARSR

AR B MTEHRER TR IR E S XA BB -
HERLE IR A FHES BRI 1R e AR R IR Y
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf# R &R izt

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

The adoption of new/revised HKFRS

In 2005, the Group adopted the new/revised Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS”), Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, and interpretations of HKAS (together
“HKFRSs”) below, which are relevant to its operations. The
2004 comparatives have been amended as required, in
accordance with the relevant requirements.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 2 Inventories

HKAS 7 Cash Flow Statements

HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors

HKAS 10 Events after the Balance Sheet Date

HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

HKAS 17 Leases

HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
and Presentation

HKAS 33 Earnings per Share

HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets

HKAS 38 Intangible Assets

HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement

HKFRS 2 Share-based Payments

HKAS-Int 12 Scope of HKAS-Int 12 Consolidation
— Special Purpose Entities

HKAS-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives

86 FRIEFERF®R 2005
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf iR &R izt

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Except for the following, the adoption of the HKFRSs did
not result in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting
policies, financial statement disclosures or presentation as
compared to that used in the preparation of the annual
financial statements as of and for the year ended 31
December 2004:

o HKAS 1 — Presentation of Financial Statements has
impacted the presentation of the following notable
elements in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements:

= Minority interests are presented within equity on
the face of the consolidated balance sheet while
it was presented outside of equity previously.

= Movement of minority interests is included in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity
while this was not required previously.

—  Allocation of profit/(loss) attributable to minority
interests and equity holders of the Company is
disclosed on the face of the consolidated income
statement after profit for the year while the
allocation to minority interests was previously
disclosed as a separate line item before arriving
at profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company.

o HKAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures has expanded
the definition of related parties to include key
management of the Group (see Note 32(iii)).

2. HEEFFEORME (H)

(a)

mREE ()
BRTXCPRFIIASL - RSB E —TTIF
T A=t B UEFENFEMBREAR
EREMRL - AT G R BREE
AN EEHAKEN SRR - MIFHREK
BEXZIIHRERES :

o FHESHENEIR -PBHRERNZ
JIEREAKEGEMBHRERP N
NEREAMNE

- JHERERERNGEEE
BEXRAEREERNZY - M
FERTAHERRIA B PASN 2T

— JHEREREFHREAL
SREEBERNA - MR E
ABEARE ©

—  ARFEDEBBREAESFAA
R, (BB M5BT
FR G NRIERR S Wan R AR
% MR DB RER DL
TIRA R B ER A AEE®
HMBIERIBIL — IR

o HBESIERF245 - EEHIFE
BEMBEINESE  BEAEE
MEZERE A B (R EE32(i) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R & izt

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(@)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The adoption of HKFRS 2 — Share-based Payments
has resulted in a change in accounting policy for
employee share options. Under HKFRS 2, the Group
is required to determine the fair value of all share-based
payments to employees as remuneration and
recognise an expense in the income statement. This
treatment results in a reduction in profit as such items
have not been recognised as expenses under the
previous accounting policy. Under the specific
transitional provisions of HKFRS 2, this treatment
applies to equity-settled share-based payment
transactions where shares, share options or other
equity instruments were granted after 7 November
2002 and had not yet vested by 1 January 2005 and
to liabilities arising from share-based payment
transactions existing on 1 January 2005. The Directors
consider the adoption of HKFRS 2 does not have
material impact on the consolidated financial
statements and accordingly, no adjustments have
been recorded to reflect the impact of applying HKFRS
2 in the accompanying financial statements.

Had the adjustments on application of HKFRS 2 been
applied, the Group’s opening accumulated deficits at
1 January 2004 and 2005 would increase by
approximately HK$560,000 and HK$840,000,
respectively, in accounting for the previously
unrecognised employee share-based compensation
expenses. Net profit for the year ended 31 December
2004 and 2005 of the Group would decrease and
accumulated deficit as at 31 December 2004 and 2005
of the Group would increase by approximately
HK$280,000 and HK$160,000, respectively.

The adoption of HKAS 32 — Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and Presentation and HKAS 39 — Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement has
resulted in a change in accounting policies for
recognition, measurement, de-recognition and
disclosure of financial instruments. In accordance with
the provisions of HKAS 39, the Group has classified
its investment in unlisted securities as at 31 December
2005 as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss. Interest income and net realised and unrealised
gain/(losses) for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are included as other income in the
consolidated income statement.

REERF®R 2005

2.

HEG B E ()

(a) ,‘F REE ()

RN B TS S 2RI 2B 25% — DARR
X ATH X BB R B RE i
VEETBRBEEETE - RIBEEN
TS ZERISE25%E - AEEARETE
BIERF A T1E 8 89 AR
REYE 2 R A a7 N
RBER - ANRIE A 5K
ﬁ'iﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁ%wﬁ%% ﬁ
I ERBEHHR D o RIBEEE
ISR YE RS 255 2 A5 B B E 1 {5
X WhEREEANAEREE
NRMZ e ZHR S - Rk
RZZZ_F+— At BRRERH

RZZEZERF—A—HRARER
2ty BERR S bR T A K
RZZZERF—A—BHFEZUR
NNz ERFGEEZEBE - &
RE - RNE BB S 2ERE2
SR AREGFE A TERREEERY
2 FHit - WERSEMAE - X
AR BB s 2RISR 255 4
BEPMBA TSk < 28 ©

A ER BB EHRE R F25
TR BLETE AR AR MR Z AR {5
SHTFREZFMERAMmMS @ A%
ERA-EENER —TTRE—F
— B Z B9 2T AL 2 Bl hn4Y
560,000 7T }2840,000/8 7T ° &=
—EENER_TERFE+ A=
+—BIFE 2GRN FEE N RTE
A& Bl K I AN49280,00078 7T
160,000 7T °

HNE B ST ERFEI25R — BT
B RBEREINRESSERE
39% — B T A : R RFTEEH
B HRR 2R~ 5HE - EUEER
R BRHLEEE - RIBFBEBSTE
RIZESRZIEX  RZEERF T
ZA=+—8  AEEZERIEL
MiEH 2 B ERRATFES R
Eﬁéﬁﬁ@mwﬁﬁéi%ﬁ
o N FEY BRI BRI
m%%QFZﬂEWA&E“ﬁ&
KEBEWA (BB FBEEENE
BRERAEMBATEET »



2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

“Other investments”, which were carried at fair value
at 31 December 2004 and whose interest income and
net realised and unrealised gain/(losses) were included
as other income in the consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2004 under
Statements of Standard Accounting Policy 24 —
Accounting for Investments in Securities, were
designated as “financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss” in the consolidated balance sheet on
adoption of HKAS 39.

A “Certificate of deposit” which was carried at historical
cost at 31 December 2004 was recorded in “long-
term deposit” in the consolidated balance sheet on
the Group’s adoption of HKAS 39 on 1 January 2005.
Under HKAS 39, the Group is required to state this
long-term deposit at amortised cost, which is arrived
at using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment and to adjust to the retained earnings
of the Group at 1 January 2005 the effect of measuring
this asset at amortised cost using the effective interest
method without restating comparative balances as at
31 December 2004. The Directors consider the
adoption of HKAS 39 with respect to this long-term
deposit does not have material impact on the
consolidated financial statements and accordingly, did
not record any adjustment to reflect the impact of
applying HKAS 39 on “long-term deposit” in the
accompanying financial statements.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made
up to 31 December.

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half
of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls another entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R AR MY RE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The
cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of
the assets given, equity instruments issued and
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange,
plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of
any minority interest. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of
the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the
difference is recognised directly to the income
statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments in
subsidiaries and amount due from a subsidiary are
stated at cost less provision for impairment losses.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Consolidation (Continued)

(ii)

Jointly controlled entities

The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are
accounted for by the equity method of accounting and
are initially recognised at cost.

The Group’s share of its jointly controlled entities’ post-
acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in a jointly controlled entity
equals or exceeds its interest in the jointly controlled
entity, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of
the jointly controlled entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled
entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of jointly
controlled entities have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products or services that are subject
to risks and returns that are different from those of other
business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in
providing products or services within a particular economic
environment that are subject to risks and returns that are
different from those of segments operating in other
economic environments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

B RS R AR MY RE

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HK
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the income statement.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such
as equity instruments held at fair value through profit
or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or
loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(@ assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(b) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates
on the dates of the transactions); and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Group companies (Continued)
(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
are taken to equity.

Investments in jointly controlled entities are
denominated in Renminbi and the net assets values
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet. The share of profits/(losses) of the jointly
controlled entities are translated at the average
exchange rates for equity accounting. All resulting
exchange differences are recognised as a separate
component of equity.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise leasehold
improvements, furniture and fixtures, broadcast operations
and other equipment and motor vehicles. They are stated
at historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are expensed in the income statement during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

15% or over the
terms of the leases
15% - 20%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fixtures
Broadcast operations

and other equipment
Motor vehicles

20%
20%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R AR MY RE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to
its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2(j)).

Property deposit and development costs

Property deposit and development costs are carried at cost.
They are not depreciated until such time the property is
ready for its intended use.

Purchased programme and film rights

Purchased programme and film rights are recorded at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
The cost of purchased programme and film rights is
expensed in the income statement either on the first and
second showing of such purchased programme and film
rights or amortised over the license period if the license
allows multiple showings within the license period.

Purchased programme and film rights with a remaining
license period of twelve months or less are classified as
current assets.

Self-produced programmes

Self-produced programmes represent programmes under
production and are stated at cost less provision for
diminution. Cost comprises direct production expenditures
and an appropriate portion of production overheads.
Programmes in production that are abandoned are written
off in the income statement immediately, or when the
revenue to be generated by these programmes is
determined to be lower than originally budgeted, the cost
is written down to a realisable value. Completed
programmes will be broadcast over a short period of time
and their costs are expensed in the income statement in
accordance with a formula computed to write off the cost
over the broadcast period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

0)

Impairment of assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units).

Investments
From 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2004

The Group classified its investments in securities, other than
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities, as other
investments.

Other investments were carried at fair value. At each balance
sheet date, the net unrealised gains or losses arising from
the changes in fair value of these investments were
recognised in the income statement. Profits or losses on
disposal of other investments, representing the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amounts,
were recognised in the income statement as they arose.

From 1 January 2005 onwards:

The Group classifies its investments into “financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss”, and “loans and
receivables”. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the investments were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its investments at initial
recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every
reporting date.

(i)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified in this category if the

financial asset is so designated by management at
inception.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

B RS R AR MY RE

0

Investments (Continued)

(ii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They arise when the
Group provides money, goods or services directly to
a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables.
They are included in current assets, except for assets
with maturities greater than twelve months after the
balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current
assets. Loans and receivables are included in long-
term deposit, accounts receivable and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables in the balance sheet
(Note 2())).

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on
trade-date — the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets. Investments are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or
have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from
changes in the fair value of the “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss” category are included in the income
statement in the period in which they arise.

If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted
securities), the Group establishes fair value by using the
most applicable valuation techniques feasible to the Group.
This could include the use of recent arm’s length
transactions, reference to other instruments that are
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and
option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific
circumstances.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

()

(m)

(n)

(0)

Inventories

Inventories, comprising decoder devices and satellite
receivers, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method.
The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

Long-term deposit, accounts receivable and
prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Long-term deposit, accounts receivable and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment is established when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of
receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective
interest rate. The amount of the provision is recognised in
the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Deferred income

Deferred income represents advertising revenue and
subscription revenue received in advance from third party
customers.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

B RS R AR MY RE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p)

(a)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, if the
deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled
entities, except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the balance
sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or
paternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.

(ii) Bonus plans
The expected bonus payments are recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within twelve months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf iR &R izt

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement
schemes for the Hong Kong employees based on local
laws and regulations. Contributions to the schemes
by the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit schemes’ costs expensed in the
income statement represent contributions payable by
the Group to the funds.

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution
retirement schemes are expensed as incurred and are
reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the schemes prior to vesting fully in the
contributions. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

Pursuant to the relevant local regulations of the
countries where the overseas subsidiaries of the Group
are located, these subsidiaries participate in respective
government retirement benefit schemes and/or setting
its own retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”)
whereby they are required to contribute to the
Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of the eligible
employees. Contributions made to the Schemes are
calculated either based on certain percentages of the
applicable payroll costs or fixed sums for each
employee with reference to a salary scale, as stipulated
under the requirements in the respective countries.
The Group has no further obligation beyond the
required contributions. The contributions under the
Schemes are expensed in the income statement as
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

B RS R AR MY RE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iv) Share-based compensation

The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of share options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over
the vesting period is determined by reference to the
fair value of the share options granted, excluding the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for
example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-
market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to
become exercisable. At each balance sheet date, the
Company revises its estimates of the number of share
options that are expected to become exercisable. It
recognises the impact of the revision of original
estimates, if any, in the income statement, and a
corresponding adjustment to equity over the remaining
vesting period. When the share options are exercised,
the proceeds received net of any transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium account.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it
is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been
reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)

Revenue recognition

Revenue mainly represents income from advertising sales,
net of the related agency commission expenses, and
subscription sales after eliminating sales within the Group.

Revenue is recognised as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Broadcasting advertising revenue

Broadcasting advertising revenue, net of agency
commission expenses, is recognised upon the
broadcast of advertisements.

Subscription revenue

Subscription revenue received or receivable from the
cable distributors or agents is amortised on a time
proportion basis to the income statement. The
unamortised portion is classified as deferred income.

Magazine advertising revenue

Magazine advertising revenue net of commission
expense is recognised when the magazine is
published.

Magazine subscription/circulation revenue
Magazine subscription or circulation revenue
represents subscription or circulation money received
or receivable from customers and is recognised when
the respective magazine is dispatched or sold.

Sales of decoder devices and satellite receivers
Revenue from sales of decoder devices and satellite
receivers is recognised on the transfer of risks and
rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with
the time when the goods are delivered to customers
and the title has passed.

Interest income and income from long-term
deposit

Interest income from bank deposits and income from
long-term deposit are recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method. When a
receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying
amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated
future cash flow discounted at original effective interest
rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the
discount as interest income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R & izt

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

() Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are expensed
in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

(u) Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s equity holders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s equity holders.

(v) Change in accounting policy and restatement of

comparatives

Prior to the fourth quarter of 2005, the Group reported its
advertising (broadcasting and magazines) revenue and the
agency commission expenses on a gross basis. Subsequent
to third quarter of 2005, the Group changed the presentation
of its advertising revenue by reporting the advertising
(broadcasting and magazines) revenue net of related agency
commission expenses, as in the opinion of the Directors,
this presentation improves the comparability with similar
companies in the Group’s industry and provide more relevant
information on the revenue transactions. This change has
no effect on financial position, profit for the year or the cash
flows of the Group. As a result of this change which has
been retroactively applied, the revenue and operating
expenses for the years ended 31 December 2005 and 2004
have been reduced by approximately HK$166,575,000 and
HK$153,388,000 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(@)

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest risk
and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest-
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

Risk management is mainly carried out by the finance
department (the “Finance Department”) headed by the Chief
Financial Officer of the Group. The Finance Department
identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation
with the Group’s operating units to cope with overall risk
management, as well as specific areas, such as foreign
exchange risk, interest-rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative
financial instruments and non-derivative financial
instruments, and investing excess liquidity.

(i) Market risk
(@)  Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to the HK dollar. Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.

To manage their foreign exchange risk arising
from future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities, entities in the Group engage
in transactions mainly in HK dollar, US dollar and
Renminbi to the extent possible. The Group
currently does not hedge transactions
undertaken in Renminbi but manages its
exposure through constant monitoring to limit as
mush as possible the amount of its Renminbi
exposures. Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the entity’s functional
currency. The Finance Department is responsible
for monitoring and managing the net position in
each foreign currency.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R AR MY RE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Market risk (Continued)

(@) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed to
foreign currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the
Group’s operations, such as those in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), the United
Kingdom and the United States (the “US”) is
managed primarily through operating liabilities
denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.

(b)  Price risk

The Group is exposed to unlisted equity securities
price risk because investments held by the Group
are classified on the consolidated balance sheet
as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, for which management adopts the indicative
market value provided by the issuers as their best
estimate of the fair values. The Group is not
exposed to commodity price risk. For further
details, see Note 20.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk of its financial assets and liabilities. The credit risk
related to accounts receivable, prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and long-term deposit are set
out in Note 12, 13, 20 and 24 respectively.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed
banking facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Finance Department aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by keeping committed banking
facilities available. Details of cash and cash equivalents
and banking facilities are set out in Note 23 and 30
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iv) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
As the Group has interest-bearing assets comprising
cash and cash equivalents and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, the Group’s income and
operating cash flows can be affected by changes in
market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-rate risk and cash flow interest-
rate risk primarily arise from bank deposits. Bank
deposits placed at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest-rate risk whereas those placed at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest-rate
risk. The Finance Department’s policy is to maintain
an appropriate level between fixed-rate and floating-
rate deposits. At the year end, 20% of bank deposits
were at fixed rates.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss that are not openly traded is determined with
reference to indicative market values provided by issuers
(Note 20).

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of
accounts receivable and accounts payable are assumed to
approximate their fair values.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

(@)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R & izt

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(Continued)

(i)  Provision for impairment of receivables
Significant judgement is exercised in the assessment
of the collectibility of accounts receivable from each
customer. In making its judgement, management
considers a wide range of factors such as results of
follow-up procedures performed by sales personnel,
customers’ payment trend including subsequent
payments and customers’ financial position.

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax payable based on
estimates of the potential tax liability due. Where the
final tax outcome is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made. Please also refer
to Note 7 for the detail in the Group’s PRC tax
exposure.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group adopted the indicative market value
provided by the issuers as their best estimate of the fair
values of these financial instruments (Note 20). The Group
considered that it would be more practicable to benchmark
the values of those financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss to the indicative market value provided by the
issuer of these financial instruments rather than selecting
another valuation method with similar assumptions. The
Group considered that the indicative market value provided
by the issuers of these financial instruments was prepared
based on a financial valuation model and can be relied on.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf iR &R izt

&

The Group is principally engaged in satellite television
broadcasting activities. An analysis of the Group’s revenue by

nature is as follows:

Revenue
Advertising sales
Subscription sales
Magazine advertising and
subscription or circulation sales
Others

Other revenue

Exchange gain, net

Interest income, net

Income from long-term deposit

Sales of programmes

Fair value gain on financial assets
at fair value through profit or
loss (realised and unrealised)

Gain from partial disposal of
property deposit and
development costs (Note 18)

Others, net

Total revenues
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2005 2004
“E2EEF —ETE
$’000 $000
Fr Fr
(Restated)

(&%)

(Note 2(v))

(Hia# 2(v))

937,825 878,083
38,973 41,920
19,786 13,412
38,184 26,245
1,034,768 959,660
13,997 1,927
13,937 6,486
786 -

768 1,494

6,424 858
11,599 -
(399) 6,753
47,112 17,518
1,081,880 977,178
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf# R &R izt

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Primary reporting format — business segments
The Group is organised into four main business segments
including:

(i)  Television broadcasting — broadcasting of television
programmes and commercials;

(i)  Programme production and ancillary services;
(i)  Internet services — provision of website portal; and

(iv) Other activities — merchandising services, magazine
publication and distribution, and other related services.
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5.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Primary reporting format - business segments (Continued)

Revenue
External sales
Inter-segment sales

Total revenue

Segment results

Unallocated expenses (Note a)

Profit before provision for
impairment, share of results
of jointly controlled entities,

income tax and minority interests

Provision for impairment loss in
a jointly controlled entity

Share of losses of jointly
controlled entities

Income tax expense

Profit for the year
Minority interests

Profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Segment assets (Note b)
Unallocated assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities (Note c)
Unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

Capital expenditure (Note d)
Unallocated capital expenditure

Depreciation
Impairment of purchased
programme and film rights
Impairment of inventories
Provision for impairment
of receivables
Amortisation of purchased
programme and film rights
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Year ended 31 December 2005
BE-—ETAE+-A=+—-HLEE

Programme
production
and Inter-
Television ancillary Internet Other segment
broadcasting services services activities elimination Group
BB RER
EREE XERY DBERYE 2 HtXHE 28EHH AEH
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Fr Fr Fr F Fr Fr
976,797 3,991 6,581 47,399 - 1,034,768
- 28,808 - - (28,808) -
976,797 32,799 6,581 47,399 (28,808) 1,034,768
281,610 3,489 (6,221) 205 - 279,083
(73,286)
205,797
472)
(1,906)
(20,755)
182,664
(1,182)
181,482
78,278 86,025 28,008 8,243 - 200,554
961,049
1,161,603
(27,118) (3,778) (11,959) (9,822) - (52,677)
(101,820)
(154,497)
(7,070) (1,276) (2,232) (299) - (10,877)
(5,001)
(15,878)
(21,431) (3,801) (919) (30) - (26,181)
(3,380) - - - - (3,380)
- - - (3,257) - (3,257)
(106,177) - - - - (106,177)
(22,325) - - - - (22,325)

PHOENIX ANNUAL REPORT 2005



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.

B RS R AR MY RE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(CONTINUED)

WA B oy B RL ()

Primary reporting format - business segments (Continued)

Revenue (Restated) (Note 2(v))
External sales
Inter-segment sales

Total revenue
Segment results
Unallocated expenses (Note a)

Profit before income tax and
minority interests
Income tax expense

Profit for the year
Minority interests

Profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Segment assets (Note b)
Unallocated assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities (Note c)
Unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

Capital expenditure (Note d)
Unallocated capital expenditure

Depreciation
Provision for impairment
of receivables
Amortisation of purchased
programme and film rights

REERF®R 2005

WA (EE) (FfaE2(v)
#IMEE
DIEMHEE

LI ON

oy ES

ADEER (Hiita)

B P 1S 75 B A B
Rz Bl A

FRSHE A

ARE R A
DER R

ARREGRFTAA
JE A8 A )

DIEE (Afatb)
AOWLEE
BAERE

DEREE Hatc)
ADEAE
BAE

EAX W (Hfatd)
ADEEARS

e

JRE TR IR
RERE

BAHEKEY
Rl A 5

Year ended 31 December 2004

TREHEA -EBI R (@

BE-TTMEI-_A=T+—RAILEE

Programme
production
and Inter-
Television ancillary Internet Other segment
broadcasting services services activities  elimination Group
i B BUHER
BRER XERS EBEERE HeXR SBEEYHE REE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FIE FIE T Fi Fi Fi
920,002 3,407 6,295 29,956 = 959,660
- 23,812 - - (23,812) -
920,002 27,219 6,295 29,956 (23,812) 959,660
274,477 1,733 (2,450) 430 - 274,190
(118,136)
156,054
(4,826)
151,228
(734)
150,494
106,723 41,528 25,824 7,214 - 180,289
902,303
1,082,592
(36,593) (1,762) (15,288) (10,361) - (64,004)
(148,103)
(212,107)
10,436 1,455 785 - - 12,676
4,085
16,761
(19,557) (4,396) (694) 2) - (24,649)
(22,960) - - - - (22,960)
(28,169) = = = = (28,169)



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf iR &R izt

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Primary reporting format — business segments (Continued)

Note:

(@)  Unallocated expenses represent primarily:

- corporate staff costs;

- office rental;

- general administrative expenses; and

= marketing and advertising expenses that relate to the Group

as a whole.

(b)  Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment,

inventories, receivables and operating cash.

(c)  Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities.

(d) Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and

equipment.

Secondary reporting format — geographical segments

The People’s Republic of China
(including Hong Kong)

United States

Europe

Others

The People’s Republic of China
(including Hong Kong)

United States

Europe

Others

Revenue is based on the country in which the customer is located.
Total assets and capital expenditure are based on the country

where the assets are located.

&

W A K SR (A

FREHEN -EB2 R (@

izt -

@ ROREREER:
- EKEBEIMNKAK:
-  WREMESE

- —ROBEX R
- %$$%%ﬁ%§%ﬁ%%&%&%%ﬁ
) PBWEEIZBEWE BERRE FE-
FEYGRIE R R ERE ©
© PBEABEBRELEEE-

(d) BAXHBIEEEYE  BEMRE -

E-2HKK - HESE

Year ended 31 December 2005
BE_ZEZTRAF+-_A=1+—HLEFE

Capital

Revenue Total assets expenditure
$:000 "$°000 $°000
Fr Fr Fir
956,182 1,119,743 10,782
41,151 24,073 1,240
12,547 13,045 232
24,888 4,742 3,624
1,034,768 1,161,603 15,878

Year ended 31 December 2004
BE_TTNE+_A=1AILFE

(Restated)
(& =351)

(Notes 2(v))

(Ktzt2w)
Capital
Revenue  Total assets  expenditure
YA BEE BEARY
$000 $000 $000
I I T
895,598 1,037,382 10,364
30,477 27,325 6,267
10,878 15,937 99
22,707 1,948 31
959,660 1,082,592 16,761

WATEREFHAENBEZRAE - @EENRE
AXHTEREBEEMENBRE
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf# R &R izt

Expenses included in operating expenses and selling, general
and administrative expenses are analysed as follows:

Amortisation of purchased programme
and film rights

Production costs of self-produced
programmes

Transponder rental (Note 32(i)(b), (o))

Provision for impairment of receivables

Employee benefit expenses
(including Directors’ emoluments)
(Note 11)

Operating lease rental in respect of
— Directors’ quarters
— land and buildings of third parties

Cost of inventories sold

Depreciation expenses

Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Auditors’ remuneration

Impairment of purchased programme
and film rights

Impairment of inventories

REERF®R 2005

BARTE R EFREHH
B 46 B SUERA

=TS (HE32()b) -~ (0)

JE WS SR IE R (B

EERMNER (BREESHS)
(Hiaz11)

KETHERS

—EEFEE

—E =M REF
BETFEMRA
TEEH
LEYE - BEREZEER

A &
BARNE REZRERE

FERE

S =% P bk P!

HEEEGEBARNEE - —BRRTRERARN

MWEROTN

2005
—ZTRF
$°000
T

22,325

91,710
16,368
106,177

242,207

1,185
15,567
566
26,181

2,230

3,380
3,257

2004
ZETPF
$'000
Fir

23,169

91,095
16,627
22,960

220,798

923
13,179
1,363
24,649

108
1,837




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5%
(2004: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year.
Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated
assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in
the countries in which the Group operates.

Current income tax R FTSHL
— Hong Kong profits tax —BBAEH
— Overseas taxation —/BHNEIR

— Over-provision of Hong Kong
profits tax in the prior year

Deferred income tax (Note 28) EIEFTIS R (Ff5£28)

On 20 January 1998, the PRC State Administration of Taxation
granted a Tax Ruling of Business Tax and Foreign Enterprise
Income Tax on certain of the Group’s advertising fee collected
from Shenzhou Television Company Ltd. (“Shenzhou”) in the PRC
(Note 13) (the “Ruling”). The Group has dealt with the
aforementioned taxes according to the Ruling in the consolidated
financial statements. However, PRC tax laws and regulations and
the interpretations thereof may change in the future such that
the Group would be subject to PRC taxation on certain income
deemed to be sourced in the PRC other than Hong Kong. The
Group will continue to monitor developments in the PRC tax
regime in order to assess the ongoing applicability and validity of
the Ruling.

P 75 Bt 22 1

BABFEH TR A FE b5 R B F A
17.5% (ZZEZT MG : 17.5%) Bt R o FI1
S ) JEAF 5 T T AR A AN 4F JE A 7 5T B AR o v
A RAEEEBAERERNBERREGE -

—REFEREMSHEBRE RS

2005 2004
—ETREF ZETPNF
$°000 $'000

F FIT
21,379 5,705

271 355

(895) (1,234)
20,755 4,826

R=NANNF—A=1+B  FEEXRHEER
PANEE B Bl N ERBR AR ([18H]) W
RETESBEREHEENMINGRECEMF
BBBEGE (HEE13) ([REFE)) - AREER
RZEENAR S MR ARE EAFHIE » R
i R EEETRUOER AR Ma B R AL
2E) - AAKEARE THRESNTEmIEE
REG 2 WA BT BITIE - REE SRS
R EHAGE 6 2 R AEERZEE < ER R
BR e

PHOENIX ANNUAL REPORT 2005

113



114

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf# R &R izt

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the taxation rate of country the

Company operates as follows:

Profit before income tax

Calculated at a taxation rate of 17.5%
(2004: 17.5%)

Income not subject to taxation

Expenses not deductible for taxation
purposes

Tax losses not recognised

Utilisation of previously unrecognised
tax losses

Provision for overseas operations

Over-provision in the prior year

Others

Tax expense

ERFT1S AL R A

RIEFEAT7 5% &
(ZZTWF : 17.5%)

BERFKRA

BT B ER A 0 R R 2

RERBIARER
B ERIARMER SRR

BIME & KI5

EEERERE
Hitp

BIA

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company to the extent of

HK$673,000 (2004: HK$437,000).

REERF®R 2005

Pris Bl A ()

B A AR S B 4R B AT B 2R B A R T G BRI
AEERBRHADE M E TR R E R AR

ZEINT

2005 2004
—BBHF —TTRF
$°000 $°000

F Fir
203,419 156,054
35,598 27,309
(13,925) (7,027)
8,925 13,431
6,389 5,946
(15,202) (33,444)
271 355
(895) (1,234)
(406) (510)
20,755 4,826

A m)HE 35 Fr AN RE A s 1R

NN R A ARG EE673,0008 7T (=&
ZPO4F : 437,000/87T) B aT AR AIK 53R

*x o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

DIVIDENDS

The 2004 final dividends paid during the year ended 31 December
2005 were HK$49,387,000 (HK$0.01 per share). A dividend in
respect of 2005 of HK$0.012 per share, amounting to a total
dividend of HK$59,264,000 estimated based upon the number
of outstanding shares of approximately 4,938,666,000 as at 31
December 2005, is to be proposed by the Directors at a Board
of Directors meeting to be held on 14 March 2006. These financial
statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

Proposed final dividend of HK$0.012
(2004: HK$0.01) per share

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Profit attributable to equity holders ARrE=RFE A

of the Company ($’000) [E1E &R (F7T)
Weighted average number of ordinary B 1T E AR A Nt

shares in issue (‘000) 8 (FAR)
Basic earnings per share BRERRBF CEML)

(Hong Kong cents)

AR E Z020.012/E 7T
(ZFZMEF : 0.0187T)

10.

% B

REE-—SERF+-_A=t—HIEEIH
B =TT IUF K EAR E 549,387,000/ T (B
B%0.0187m) - EEHR=ZEEF=A -+
BRTNEESSEHRE-_TTRAFREST
§%0.012%8 7T« BER=FFTAF+=A=+
— B Z R1T{ER S B E 494,938,666,000/% 5T
&) H5tA £ 559,264,000 7T © LB RE
W AR SRR R FE TR L

2005 2004
e —TTOF
$°000 $'000
F Fir
59,264 49,387
A 1% A
B-9iN

BRERBHNTIRBAR R R E ARG
MERAFAEHTE BRI LIS

2005 2004
—BEEF —TEmE
181,482 150,494
4,938,340 4,934,946
3.67 3.05
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf# R &R izt

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company
has one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares which is
share options. A calculation is done to determine the number of
shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined
as the average annual market share price of the Company’s
shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights
attached to outstanding share options. The number of shares
calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that
would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share
options.

10.

e

FRE SR TR TE B &N
EVPOHEE  WRREERAEEEEEE
B > NARIEA —REEEE SR - B
IRHE o AR R TYIRIBARTTERBAAE P IT A5 A0 22
BRNERERTEEENEEEAFEGR
ARRRD R FEETISREREE) BARN
BRIDBE o EAFTRTERARDEE BHEETH
PR BE (RERIE AR ETT(E) 481T

Profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company used to determine
diluted earnings per share ($°000)

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue ('000)
Adjustment for share options ("000)

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for diluted earnings per
share ("000)

Diluted earnings per share
(Hong Kong cents)

REERF®R 2005

BESREERNMANARBER
FA ARG (T7T)
BERTERRNINEFHE (TR
HERERE (TR
BRESE RN AR T AR

INAEFIB (TAR)

SEEEERN CEl)

2005 2004
—¥TEE  —TIMF
181,482 150,494
4,938,340 4,934,946
8,680 12,204
4,947,020 4,947,150
3.67 3.04




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 11. 1B B4 A& H (0 5EEFEME)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

Wages, salaries and other allowances TE - #HaekEAmER

Unutilised annual leave RAFER

Pension costs — defined contribution BRREKAR — ERRHEREE
plans, net of forfeited contributions (HBR O W) (ffata)
(Note a)

(@) Pensions - defined contribution plans

The Group operates a number of defined contribution
pension schemes in accordance with the respective
subsidiaries’ local practices and regulations. The Group is
obligated to contribute funding to these plans at various
funding rates of the employees’ salaries. The assets of these
schemes are generally held in separate trustee administered
funds.

(i)  Employees in Hong Kong are provided with a defined
contribution provident fund scheme and the Group is
required to make monthly contribution to the scheme
based on 10% of the employees’ basic salaries.
Forfeited contributions are used to offset the
employer’s future contributions. For the year ended
31 December 2005, the aggregate amount of the
employer’s contributions was approximately
HK$10,808,000 (2004: HK$10,014,000) and the total
amount of forfeited contributions was approximately
HK$1,210,000 (2004: HK$859,000).

The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group and are managed by independent
professional fund managers.

Since 1 December 2000, the employees in Hong Kong
can elect to join the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”). The MPF Scheme was
introduced pursuant to the Mandatory Provident Fund
legislation introduced in 2000. Under the MPF
Scheme, the Group and each of the employees make
monthly contribution to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.

(a)

2005 2004
—2PEE  —TIWF
$°000 $'000

F I T
231,305 210,232
75 347

10,827 10,219
242,207 220,798

RAERA — EREARKGE GIBREIRK

#%)

AEEIZRE M B AR PIENEHE G R
ERREZRERHTRAREE - NE
EARREEFENINRES L EAZES
RMES - ZFHENEE—ROME
BREESHNBIEEARE °

BB EETEREEHEERRES
HE MAEEAESARESEEAR
FEH10%RZT S EH R o #
SR U TR T FR A 55 1 = A R 2R 4
R BE-_TERE+_A=1+—
AIEFE  BEENHERBBLELY
10,808,000 T (ZEZF M4 :
10,014,000/87T) + ML BT AR
£ 5%91,210,0008 T (ZEZ M
£ : 859,000/67T) °

ZETENEBEEIRSAKEREEE
BRA  UTHBEYEXESKEE
B o

E-_ZEEEFE+_A—H#E FH
e B AR EMAGR S ATE S TS
([aESETEl) - MBS EITIR
BR T FEMHRFIERTE
G ML - BRIEARESE
AEERENIEES AiZESEEH
WAKI5% (EE R &G ATESE
Bl) [AFZ T BIVE L 5K o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R AR MY RE

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED)

(@) Pensions - defined contribution plans (Continued)

(0

(Continued)

Both the employer’s and the employees’ contributions
are subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$20,000 for each employee. For those employees
with monthly relevant income less than HK$5,000,
since 1 February 2003, the employees’ contributions
are voluntary.

For the year ended 31 December 2005, the aggregate
amount of employer’s contributions made by the Group
to the MPF Scheme was approximately HK$1,281,000
(2004: HK$1,148,000) and the total amount of forfeited
contributions was approximately HK$52,000 (2004:
HK$84,000).

Pursuant to the relevant local regulations of the
countries where the overseas subsidiaries of the Group
are located, these subsidiaries participate in respective
government retirement benefit schemes and/or set up
their own Schemes whereby they are required to
contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement
benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions made
to the Schemes are calculated either based on certain
percentages of the applicable payroll costs or fixed
sums for each employee with reference to a salary
scale, as stipulated under the requirements in the
respective countries. The Group has no further
obligation beyond the required contributions. The
contributions under the Schemes are charged to the
consolidated income statement as incurred.

REERF®R 2005

11. & B & A& (

HEIEHEREME) ()

(a) BAEHEA — EHEAREE GIRBURIK
#) ()

U

(4

BEREEBHHRKHBZSMNES
5 A 18RFU A 20,0007 7T A _EBR BT
R - 2RF A BRI A 75,000
BITHES BT =F_A—
Bt ZEEE T BRBIELMERK -

BE_TTREt-_A=1+—HL
FE $¢Iﬁ€§%@i;ﬁriﬂf’ﬁﬂjé’]

B HRBEE A 41,281 ,oooﬁ.éfyz
(ZZE=F m¢ 1,148,000/ 7T)
%Ez/xumft HARE 4952, ooo,%yz(

TPOLE ¢ 84,oooﬁ.§m)

RIBAREEEING B R B PIERR
MERE AR - REMBARS
HER E’JBZK?LPME?‘F'J%%U&/‘E
RUEARGEEE - B - REA
A% E 5T &I1E K *L‘M%éé%
BEMEKEMNRERES - MZF
sHEIEH MR TR B SR 8 &
ERFEKRANET B LLREE
SRFHE - WRERBEROERM
HRENFHEE - ANEEWEEM

BB ATRERKOEE - ZF
SHEIT ST E LR R S W
SRPER



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED)

(b)

Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended
31 December 2005 is set out below:

Name of Director

CIE SN

©

10.
11.

12.

LIU Changle
CHUI Keung
Michelle Lee GUTHRIE
LAU Yu Leung, John
CHEUNG Chun On,
Daniel
LO Ka Shui
KUOK Khoon Ean
(resigned on
10 March 2005)
CHEUNG San Ping
XU Gang
GONG Jianzhong
LEUNG Hok Lim
(appointed on
21 January 2005)
Thaddeus Thomas

BECZAK (appointed on

11 March 2005)

EEfS

1. BR%

2. ER

3. Michelle Lee GUTHRIE

4. BB=

5 REL

6. i

7. BILBEBMWR=TTREF
= A+B&D

8. RIE

9. FrMl

10. Bz

11.

REF R -FTHEF
— A=+ BEEE)

. Thaddeus Thomas
BECZAK(KR=—ZZR&F

ZA+—HEZD

Fees

wne
$°000
FT

189

162

As of 31 December 2005, Mr. LIU Changle had outstanding share
options to purchase 5,320,000 (2004: 5,320,000) shares at
HK$1.08 per share and Mr. CHUI Keung had outstanding share
options to purchase 3,990,000 (2004: 3,990,000) shares at
HK$1.08 per share. No options were exercised during 2005 and
the fair values of these options have not been included in the
directors’ emoluments disclosed above. The above outstanding
share options had vested as at 31 December 2005.

11.

B BmA AN (BEERME) ()

(b) EBERSREBEASNME
BREEHE_TTAF T _A=1—H
LFEERMEETIT

Quarters  Employer’s

and contribution

Discretionary housing to pension
bonuses allowance scheme Total

Exm

(92 BER EAREEHE
WAL FEE=ERE FHHERX et
$°000 $°000 $000  $000
Fr Fr Fr Fr
1,600 864 434 7,599
800 948 178 3,851
- - - 200
- - - 38
- - - 189
- - - 162

R-BEZRE+-A=1+—08  BIR&ELE
B AR 1.08/5 3R kE5,320,0008 (==
PU& : 5,320,0000%) & H K ARTTEEERR
T MeERLAEREE A IRER1.08BTRE
3,990,0000% (ZZZ M4 : 3,990,0000%) A% 1%
ROARTITIERENGAE - BBV ER T ANE
1318 - MZSEREN A FEIART A LT
BWENEEMEA o FlRITEBRED R
TTRHF+_A=+—HEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf# R &R izt

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED)

(b) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments
(Continued)
The remuneration of every Director for the year ended
31 December 2004 is set out below:

11. 1§ E

Ha A2 (RGN ) ()

(b)

ESREREEASNME @)

BREFRE_TTNFF-_A=1+—H
LFEERMEERTIT

Fees

Name of Director EEHR e
$000

Frr

1. LIU Changle 1. BR#% -
2. CHUI Keung 2. ER =
3. Michelle Lee GUTHRIE 3. Michelle Lee GUTHRIE -
4. LAU Yu Leung, John 4. FEm -
5. CHEUNG Chun On, Daniel 5. K% -
6. LO Ka Shui 6. #Ez=ih 200
7. KUOK Khoon Ean 7. BFE 200
8. CHEUNG San Ping 8. RIE -
9. XU Gang 9. Rl -
10. GONG Jianzhong 10. BEH =

(c) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2005 include
two (2004 two) executive directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented in (b) above. The
emoluments paid/payable to the remaining three (2004:
three) individuals during the year are as follows:

Salaries e
Discretionary bonus B 15 25 PR TEAT
Housing allowance FEEER

Other allowance H fth) 28
Pension fund BRRE

120 REEAERFR 2005

Quarters  Employer’s

and contribution

Discretionary housing to pension
Salary bonuses allowance scheme Total

Exm

(9 BER EAREEHE
e WAL FEEERER  /FHHERX st
$'000 $'000 $000 $000  $000
Frr Fir Fir Fir Fr
4,477 1,800 923 413 7,613
1,834 1,000 902 169 3,905
- - - - 200
- - - - 200

(c) EUZRSHAL

BE_TTRF+_A=1—HLFE "
AEERRRHFALT @ BEME (=

TENF  MB)PTES  FEMSH

REXO)EINNAIT - FRABRT =% (=

I =) ALXHA S EAHEE
T

2005 2004

—EZTREF —ZETNF

$°000 $°000

Fir FIr

5,227 5,077

2,400 3,000

2,781 2,539

435 423

523 509

11,366 11,548




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED)

(c)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
The emoluments of the remaining three (2004: three)
individuals fell within the following bands:

11

CEEEAEN (BEEEMNE) (F)

(© ERBEHAL (@)
BT=% (CBENE : =5) ALHBIE
AFIATERE :

Number of individuals

Emolument bands

HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000

During the year, no emoluments or incentive payments were
paid or payable to the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join the Group or as compensation for loss

of office (2004: Nil).

12. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

Accounts receivable
Less: Provision for impairment
of receivables

A"

2005 2004
<& g —EERF —ETNE
3,000,001 — 3,500,000/ 7T 2 -
3,500,00187C — 4,000,000/ 7T - 2
4,000,00187C — 4,500,000/ 7T 1 1

FA - WEATAHRHATAREN

ERENE SRR IE - MERIMAREHE

RERBSIEAREME (ZEZTWF ¢

=) o

12, JRE i BR 2K 3 4H
2005 2004
—BTEF —ETNE
$°000 $°000
FT FiT
JEURER R 170,319 136,505
Ui FRURBR TR B BB

(127,065) (38,108)
43,254 98,397

The carrying amounts of accounts receivable, net, approximate
their fair value.

The Group has appointed an advertising agent in the PRC to
promote the sales of the Group’s advertising air-time and
programme sponsorship and collect advertising revenues within
the PRC on behalf of the Group (see Note 13). The Group generally
requires customers to pay in advance, but grants a credit period
of 30 days to 90 days to some customers.

JEUs AR R O B T (B B4 T2 9 R SPAELARIAT.

AEBERTPRZE—EERE @ ZURTEH
BEAREASBMESRERHE RE B &) -
WRAEEREESRA (RHFE13) - XEH
—MBEBREFAEEAINTE  ERTIHNE
F30BE0HMEEH -
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12. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET (CONTINUED)

The ageing analysis of the accounts receivable from customers

is as follows:

0-30 days 0£30H

31-60 days 31£260H

61-90 days 61290H

91-120 days 91&120H

Over 120 days 1208 A £

Less: Provision for impairment of B FEURBRFOR BB R
receivables

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts
receivable because the Group has a large number of customers.

The Group has recognised a loss of HK$106,177,000 (2004:
HK$22,960,000) for the impairment of its accounts receivable
during the year ended 31 December 2005. The loss has been
included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated income statement.

13. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

Included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables is an
amount of approximately HK$299,805,000 (2004:
HK$314,763,000) owing from an advertising agent, Shenzhou,
in the PRC. The amount represents advertising revenue collected,
net of expenses incurred by Shenzhou on behalf of the Group.
The balance is unsecured and bears interests at prevailing bank
interest rates.

The Group has set up a commercial and trust arrangement with

Shenzhou, details of which have been disclosed in the
announcement made by the Company on 25 September 2002.

REERF®R 2005

13.

R SR o T L ()

EME PR AR DTN T

2005 2004
—ZEThHF —ZETF
$°000 $'000

F Fir
19,031 23,642
12,623 16,280
1,701 10,800
9,046 13,163
127,918 72,620
170,319 136,505

(127,065) (38,108)
43,254 98,397

HRAREREARBEF  HAKELESGRE
EUER R EESR T RE -

REBE-FTRFT_A=+—HLEFE &
SEREERERREMEREBR
106,177,000/ 7T (Z T4 : 22,960,000/8
L) - BB ARA RERTHE - — &
RITREMET -

FEATBIH ~ % % H At B UCRRR

TENRIE « mE REMBRKIBEIE—EEK
AR B S IR A9 A9 FRIE £9299,805,00058 7T
(ZZEM4E : 314,763,000/ 7T) ° WFIBA
BINRRAEERBOES KA (BB
) o R AEIKIR RIRRTIRITRRE -

ERBOUBNEA T ABR GRS
EEAAARN-EE-FNA=-+HATE
AR -



13.

14.

15.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 13.

RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The Trust Law in the PRC enacted in recent years has not laid
out specific detailed implementation rules to our trust arrangement
with Shenzhou, therefore the extent of the enforceability of such
arrangement is still unclear. Although the management recognises
that the present arrangement is the only legally viable
arrangement, the management will continue to monitor and
explore alternatives to improve the situation.

The Directors are of the opinion that the amount owing from
Shenzhou of approximately HK$299,805,000 as at 31 December
2005 is fully recoverable and no provision is required.

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables approximate their fair values.

INVENTORIES 14,

Decoder devices and satellite receivers RIS 25 R BT 2 IR ES
The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in
other income, net, amounted to HK$566,000 (2004:
HK$1,363,000).

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED 15.

COMPANIES

The outstanding balances with related companies are aged less
than one year and are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand (2004: same).

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/to related companies
approximate their fair values.

T BRIA - 4 B H At B ORRE (46)

A - PRI FRELEEEEEF RN
EFREREN = WEFANZERE - Bt - R
BEBTER LI A FORMITREE - BREIE
BT RRIT R AR EHE—RAITTRIZHE
BEIR B R ARE RS R TR EA AT THDE AR
ZFMIEN -

BEE=EZA R-TETHE+-A=1+—BmEM
# R 2 FIELI299,805,000 78 7T i AT B
[l - S BRI o

BNFOR 1R KA R IR M ARE E R
FHAFEMEET

&
2005 2004
—BBHF —TTOF
$°000 $'000
F Fir
5,557 8,751

FERNAE566,000/8T (ZETME :
1,363,0087T) ERERIEER - Wat AEAKA
SFRATE R ©

B i B A% IR 728 ] R OH

B AR MARK DN —F 2 RRE, T
HAAEEM R RREBREE (CFETN
F:HER) e

e, e R A R FURRBRE E R E M A
FEMRE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf# R &R izt

16. PURCHASED PROGRAMME AND FILM

RIGHTS, NET

Balance, beginning of year
Additions

Amortisation

Impairment loss

Others

Balance, end of year

Less: Purchased programme and
film rights
— current portion

REERF®R 2005

FHEESR
12
i
R ERE
Hit

FRGER
B BARBEREY

hiu
— R AR

16. WA HH K 76 5 hUHE 3 3R

2005 2004
—ZETHF ZETPUF
$°000 $°000
FT Fir
30,067 33,392
16,083 20,414
(22,325) (23,169)
(3,380) =
(336) (570)
20,109 30,067
(5,141) (11,665)
14,968 18,402




17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At 1 January 2004
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December
2004
Opening net book amount
Exchange differences
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation

Closing net book amount

At 31 December
2004
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December
2005
Opening net book amount
Exchange differences
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation

Closing net book amount

At 31 December
2005
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

RZZEZNF—-HA—H
B AN

2N E

BREFE
BEZ= usfeS
+ZA=t—HILEE
HYIRRE FE

IE =58
HHE

HeE
e

e
A=

HARR AR SHE

Ji

o A
=

F
+-8

1

+
X
RiETE
AREVFE

BE-ZZRF
+=-A=t+—HLEE
Y ERE R E
ERER
HE
HeE
e

B BRTENRE
R-BEHF
+=A=+—-H
2%
BETE

IREFE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

17. W - ME Bk i
Broadcast
operations
Leasehold Furniture and other Motor

improvements and fixtures equipment vehicles Total

HE BRE EEEER
YEEE ®E HitRE RE st
$'000 $'000 $°000 $000 $'000
F7T FiT FiT Fi Fi
18,472 2,784 96,602 6,219 124,077
(8,151) (1,368) (48,960) (2,991) (61,470)
10,321 1,416 47,642 3,228 62,607
10,321 1,416 47,642 3,228 62,607
91 46 289 1 437
4,429 60 9,377 2,895 16,761
(111) (12) (57) (107) (287)
(8,131) (434) (19,780) (1,304) (24,649)
11,599 1,076 37,471 4,723 54,869
22,824 2,913 106,613 8,764 141,114
(11,225) (1,837) (69,142) (4,041) (86,245)
11,599 1,076 37,471 4,723 54,869
11,599 1,076 37,471 4,723 54,869
(96) (20) 46 43 (27)
1,419 7 13,076 1,376 15,878
- - (6) (15) (21)
(3,717) (427) (20,465) (1,572) (26,181)
9,205 636 30,122 4,555 44,518
24,120 2,842 119,612 9,916 156,490
(14,915) (2,206) (89,490) (5,361) (111,972)
9,205 636 30,122 4,555 44,518

Depreciation expense of HK$26,181,000 (2004: HK$24,649,000)
has been included in selling, general and administrative expenses.

HEEMH26,181,0008T (2 E :
24,649,000/87T) BT AMEE « —MRITHE

BA e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R & izt

18. PROPERTY DEPOSIT AND DEVELOPMENT

COSTS

On 11 June 2001, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
agreement with =3I #3 2B 1 /5 (The Shenzhen National Land
Planning Bureau)' to acquire a land use right on a parcel of land
situated in Shenzhen, the PRC for the development of a building
(which includes a production centre) for the Group. The total
consideration for the acquisition was approximately
HK$57,354,000.

During the year ended 30 June 2002, the subsidiary transferred
the interest of the land use right to another subsidiary, &I Bl/El
& X ABPRAR], asino-foreign co-operation company incorporated
in the PRC, in which Phoenix Real Properties Limited (“Real
Properties”), then a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group had a
90% equity interest.

Pursuant to the payment terms of the agreement, the full amount
of approximately HK$57,354,000 had been paid to &3l 48 &l
B+ /5 (The Shenzhen National Land Planning Bureau)' as the
cost of the land acquisition, and was recorded as a property
deposit of the Group as at 30 June 2003.

Pursuant to an agreement dated 29 October 2003 entered into
by the Group and Qasiscity Limited (“Oasiscity”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Neo-China Group (Holdings) Limited (formerly known
as “Neo-Tech Global Limited”), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, Oasiscity acquired 60%
interest in Real Properties, which owns 90% interest in 7 3/11El /&
EXEABR AT (the “Agreement”). The acquisition was completed
on 13 January 2004.

On the same date, Oasiscity executed a share charge in favour
of the Group, under which it charged 30% equity interest in Real
Properties, as security provided to the Group for the due
performance of its obligations under the Agreement. According
to the Agreement Oasiscity will be responsible for providing all
required financing for the development of the building and the
fulfillment of such obligation has been guaranteed by Neo-China
Group (Holdings) Limited. The Group is not required to provide
any further financing for the development of the building but will
be entitled to a relevant portion of the non-saleable area of the
building on completion of the development. The carrying value
as at 31 December 2004 amounted to approximately
HK$62,515,000, comprising property deposits of approximately
HK$61,120,000 and renovation costs of approximately
HK$1,395,000.

REERF®R 2005

18.

Yy 36 4% & I 5k R A

AZEE—FXA+—H ' AREIN—EHE
AREFRYMREE L BETEE SR
BRI 2 d- b 0 -t fsE FRAE 1% - DAEREE —
EHEAREEEANEEY (EeiE—ERES
) o BB i {F B EX57,354,000
BT e

b”\%z%éfj EFRA=TRIEFEAR  ZM

Tﬂqiﬂ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁffgﬁ’ﬂié\ ﬁ%@z%$%lﬁ—
%Bﬁ% - HBREXBRAF  ZAA
TJ—%E’SEP %I‘ﬂﬁﬁkiﬁ@qﬂﬁl\é\{’ﬁﬁﬁj i
BEEXBRAR(BEEX]) MERRAEE
M2 EMERR) 75AHI0%M A o

RRHBROETIEE  EXNTRIIMREIE
+ B & BB FRIE4) A57,354,000/8 7T * 1EAUK
BriERENER IR BT =F A=
T B ARINWEAREEN Y EIZS ©

RIEA S E B R E (%) FR AR (B
[(RI2EEBRAR]) ERMDREFER L
M BE2EWNEBAROasiscity Limited
([Qasiscity ) R=—ZZF=F+ A =+ "HFIL
Bt ([a]) » Oasiscity B BIE B 2 (K%
ERYIBBEEERRQF0%HEES) HI160%1HE
o WEEEN _ZTTNE— A+ =H5%K °

HEB ' Oasiscitys] M —IBIARNEB AZZEA
AR DIEIRE - JRIL © OQasiscity i if LR
BEE £m30% B AER  (EAEZERETH
BATREB ERNER - BIEHE  Oasiscityi¥
BEXNBRZEEYH—JFEES  MT
B (2R BRARINE BBITZEEEM
{ELER - AEBEBEATRZELRME—F
SAEMES  HRERIES mﬁzﬁ 2R
Ky IEHEMBERAERBI GO ER - RZZTTW
F+ = A=+—HMIRAEXA62,515,00078
TC ' BIEYERE461,120,0008 T REEE
FB 491,395,000/ 7T °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

18. PROPERTY DEPOSIT AND DEVELOPMENT

COSTS (CONTINUED)

On 12 May 2005, the Group and Oasiscity entered into a
supplementary agreement (the “Supplementary Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Group transferred its entitiement to 10,000
square meters of the non-saleable area of the building currently
under construction to Oasiscity for RMB60,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$55,800,000) payable in 3 installments and
Qasiscity would also be allotted an additional 33 shares in Real
Properties at par value so that after the allotment Oasiscity should
hold approximately 70% interest therein. The Group’s entitlement
to the relevant portion of the non-saleable area of the building
will then be reduced to 10,000 square meters after this
transaction. A gain, after providing for estimated taxes, arising
from this transfer of approximately HK$11,599,000 has been
recorded in the income statement. In addition, the charge on the
30% equity interest owned by Oasiscity granted to the Group
under the Agreement was released.

As a result of the Supplementary Agreement, Real Properties
issued 33 new shares to Oasiscity on 12 May 2005 and the
shareholdings in Real Properties of the Group and Oasiscity are
30% and 70%, respectively, as at 31 December 2005.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group’s entitlement to
the non-saleable area on completion of the development is
expected to have a value of not less than the current carrying
value of approximately HK$30,560,000 as at 31 December 2005
and that the remaining proceeds receivable from Oasiscity of
approximately HK$19,192,000 as at 31 December 2005 are fully
recoverable and therefore no provision is required.

" name translated for reference only

18.

W) 36 15 o Mgk R R ()

R-ZTTZRFHA+=H » K&EEEOasiscity

Rl —rmzE e ([Hik]) - RIEMTH
& ARERENZEEY (R EEEET)

EEZAMIEHEMMEN10,000F 5 KEET
OQasiscity * 1E{B & AR %60,000,0007T (B
RK#%55,800,00087m) + =8 - M
Oasiscity V& 1R E{ERE/MNERC 233X Bl B & 5
M ES A& OasiscitytF A BEEEY
70%HIHER - RETTRRBE  AEB=ZHZ
EEYIEL E BRSO ERERSERE
10,000 757K o fE R BIIBEL B ER - Z
R TS U5 4911,599,000/8 7T E sE AES R
Wetsh  REHSE  BFASENH
Oasiscity# A F180% A AN a5 B B AR FR o

FEd e BEEER_STAFAA T
— BE1733R%#FA% (D FOasiscity * i AEE &
Qasiscity R —ZEZERAF+=-A=+—HEAI%H 7
A BB B 2£30% K& 70%HI A HE ©

EERA ASETREEA EREZAMIE
LEEENEERBATEONRRR TR
F+=- A=+—H®RMEE4I30,560,000/8
T ERR-_ZETERFE+-_A=1+—HBHERK
Oasiscity Ik IE£719,192,00058 7T GGt AFELS
FIE - Be REAMBEUFRIENR) #57] BEUK
[ - Btk BAVEL B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf# R &R izt

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED 19.

ENTITIES

Unlisted investments, at cost, beginning
of the year

Addition on formation of a jointly
controlled entity

Unlisted investments, at cost,
end of the year
Less: provision for impairment
Less: share of jointly controlled
entities’ results
— loss before taxation
— taxation

Unlisted investments, net,
end of the year

REERF®R 2005

FETREZUATIIR - F9)

P — AR E 0

FEEMIRBEILAATI - F8&

B R ER

R MR RESE
BES
—FBRIATEER
— R

FEMEREFER
FR

T e [] £ o B A O 4%

2005 2004
—ETRHF —ZETF
$’000 $'000

FT For

472 472
11,500 =
11,972 472
(472) =
(1,906) =
9,594 472




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the jointly controlled entities as at 31 December 2005

were as follows:

Name

=L

China Global Television
Limited

ERBRRE
REEHARAT

ERFAFEEEE
BRAR

Place and date

of incorporation

FE AR 3L
b 25 % B H

British Virgin
Islands,
18 October 2001

HEREURS
—ET-—&

—==

+A+NAH

The PRC,

27 June 2003
HE
—EE—g

—= ==

ANAZ+tER

The PRC,
7 January 2005

HE -
—EERF
—HtH

Place of
operation

EE MR

British Virgin
Islands

RKBELRS

The PRC

T

The PRC

HE

19. 7 3t A 2 i H M e B (4)

REZZEZRF+=A=+—HNLREH TS

ST
Percentage
of equity
Principal interest held
activity by the Group
AEEEE
BENRA
FEXK EREIL
Dormant 50%
TmEEx 50%
Dormant 40%
TmEEx 40%
Advertising 45%
business
in radio
broadcasting
industry in
the PRC
B EARE 45%
B
BEEEB

Issued and fully
paid share

capital/registered

capital
BBTR
BMERE
SEfEA

US$2

2%

RMB1,250,000

AR

1,250,0007T

RMB26,700,000

AR
26,700,0007T
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

Unaudited combined financial information of the jointly controlled
entities was as follows:

Assets B5E
Non-current assets JEmEEE
Current assets MENEE
Liabilities 8fE:
Long-term liabilities REBE
Current liabilities mEAE
Net assets EEZFE
Income WA
Expenses &

Loss after income tax BRETSBiR k518
On 5 August 2004, the Group signed an agreement with 1t 5 &
&2 7 to form a sino-foreign joint venture, 1t RFE & & E1EH
FR A A], in the PRC. Pursuant to the agreement, upon obtaining
all necessary approvals and licenses from the relevant authorities
in the PRC, the Group would have to inject approximately
HK$12,900,000 (equivalent to RMB13,500,000) for a 45%
shareholding interest in this joint venture. As at 31 December
2005, the outstanding capital injection for this investment
amounted to HK$1,439,000 (equivalent to RMB1,500,000) which
is required to be made before 4 August 2007.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest
in the jointly controlled entities, and no contingent liabilities of the
jointly controlled entities themselves.

REERF®R 2005

T 3 [a] 8 1 B B A B ()

Pt REEH BB AREEZE B E R
T ¢

2005 2004
—EETRE —ETFE
$’000 $'000
Fr F
457 =
22,002 886
22,459 886
97 =

97 =
22,362 886
= 27
(4,351) (70)
(4,351) (43)

R-ZETWENARR  AEBEILFEER
RIRI 7k - AR BIRZ RIME S EE — 4
RRFZEEEEFRAR  REHE - FIRE
FEERERBEEN N ER SR F
% AEEERZAEEDENISNIAEETEL
12,900,000/ 7T (FHE M A R#13,500,000
T) M-BERFE+-_A=1+—8  ZEK
BEHARMNEARET,439,000/8 7T HBERARE
1,500,0007t) * AR =ZZ-tF/\ A AA]
AT e

AR SR B R A (o] B AN ER BT LRI I B AR O A
HnERNNBEE  BARZEGHERAS E
ERREEE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20. H&AF-{E 5 WG 7E 48 4 HR R 3 19 B 05
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS B
2005 2004
—EERF —ETNEF
$°000 $'000
F Frr
Unlisted equity-linked notes at fair value 3 ETIREEHTIE - IR AF(ETIR 89,729 53,461
Less: Non-current portion 8 IEREHEAER D (65,971) (53,461)
23,758 -
The above investments were designated as fair value through LB EERRIEW AP ERIEAT
profit or loss on initial recognition. Investments with a maturity B - e BRI BE BB —FNRE D8
longer than one year at the inception date are classified as non- YEIERE BB 1D © IR AT AR EIBmRIEIE
current. Changes in fair values (realised and unrealised) of financial NI EENBE SRR RERATFEES T
assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in other A RP EABATET (i7E5) °

income in the income statement (Note 5).

As these equity-linked notes are not publicly traded and in the AR SR ERNZRIEL TN AR EE Mk Al
absence of readily available information to determine the fair values AREFRER - LEBETZEREEBEEHA
of these equity-linked notes, the Company has adopted the TE - BARRQ RN T ARMTEEImEE
indicative market value provided by the issuers as its best estimate BZERABZBENREGTAFE -

of the fair values of these equity-linked notes.

21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNT Q1. T B JE 2 E A RE 2 R IR s — ] B I 2 D

DUE FROM A SUBSIDIARY, NET E QSR
Company
NG|

2005 2004

s —TETMNF

$7000 $'000

Fi T

Unlisted shares, at cost (Note i) JE LM - BAANME (i) - -

Amount due from a subsidiary, FEURHI B A B IR 5 (K ati)
net (Note ii) 1,232,543 1,276,312
1,232,543 1,276,312
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNT

B RS R AR MY RE

21.

DUE FROM A SUBSIDIARY, NET (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

Details of subsidiaries as at 31 December 2005 were as follows:

Name

&8

Phoenix Satellite Television
Company Limited

B &R
BRAA]

Phoenix Satellite Television
(Chinese Channel)
Limited

BEGERHPXE
BRRATA

Phoenix Satellite Television
(Movies) Limited

BEEHEZ S
BRAA]

Phoenix Satellite Television
Trademark Limited

KT
ARERAR

Phoenix Satellite Television
(Europe) Limited

BEESEEME
BRAA]

PCNE Holdings Limited

PCNE Holdings Limited

REERF®R 2005

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity

AL
HE R EEERER

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

)
ERAEERAT

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company
RBRUHS
BREERTA

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company
RBRUHS
BREERTA

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company
RBRUHS
BREERAT

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company
RBRUHS
BREERTA

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company
RBRUHS
BREERAT

Place of
operation

EE MR

Hong Kong

&%

British Virgin
Islands
HBRL
BE
British Virgin
Islands
HBRL
BB
British Virgin
Islands
HEBRL
S
British Virgin
Islands

] s
S
British Virgin
Islands

RBREL
S

T R Ja 2 ) ) HRE i D B s — P R ) 2
H

() RIZETRAFT_A=+—HNNBARFE

T

Principal activities

FTEEK
Provision of
management and
related services
REEER

| RS

Satellite television
broadcasting

HEER
EE

Satellite television
broadcasting

HEER

B

Trademark holding

HAEBR

Investment holding

REZER

Investment holding

REZER

Percentage

of equity

interest

held by the

Group

AR @A

&S £

BHAK

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

70%

70%

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/

registered

capital

ERTRAE

e

EMEAR

HK$20

20/ 7T

US$1

E

US$1

E

US$1

E

US$1

E

US$1,000

1,000% 7T



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNT 21.
DUE FROM A SUBSIDIARY, NET (CONTINUED)
Notes: (Continued)

Place of

incorporation and Place of

Name kind of legal entity operation
E AL

=t WK EEERER EEMWE

Phoenix Chinese News The United Kingdom, The United

& Entertainment Limited limited liability Kingdom
company

Phoenix Chinese News HE HE
& Entertainment Limited BREMEAR]

Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin

Information Limited limited liability Islands
company

BEEMERAR EEELES EBEL

BREEAR BB

PHOENIXi Investment British Virgin Islands, British Virgin

Limited limited liability Islands
company

PHOENIXi Investment RBRELHS HEEL

Limited BREEAT BB

PHOENIXi, Inc. The United States of The United

America, limited States of

liability company America

PHOENIXi, Inc. ENBERE EMRE

BREFERATA B

Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin

(B.V.I.) Holding Limited limited liability Islands
(Note a) company

BEER EBELES EBRL

SEERAA BREEAT HE

(Ftata)

T R JaS 2 ) HRE i e B o — o B e 2

NIH R (A

M« ()

Principal activities

FEXHK

Satellite television
broadcasting

HEER

[

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Dormant

Investment holding

AR

Percentage
of equity
interest
held by the
Group
rEE R
RA
ADk

70%

70%

100%
100%

94.3%

94.3%

94.3%

94.3%

100%

100%

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/
registered
capital
ERTRAE
RA,
AEMEAR

£9,831,424

9,831,424 5 %

US$1

1%7T

US$123,976
(Ordinary
shares)
123,976 T
(FiBmAR)
UsS$7,500
(Series A
preferred
shares)
7,500% 7T
(AREBER)

US$0.1

RE

US$1

127
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134

21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNT Q1. T JE 2 A HE 2 R JRE e — [ B I 2 D
DUE FROM A SUBSIDIARY, NET (CONTINUED) AIE AR (AE)
Notes: (Continued) Miat - (#8)

Name

=L

Phoenix Weekly Magazine
(BVI) Limited

Phoenix Weekly Magazine
(BVI) Limited

Hong Kong Phoenix
Weekly Magazine Limited

EERRBETIERAR

Phoenix Satellite Television
(InfoNews) Limited

RE#RERE
ARRA

Phoenix Satellite Television
Development (BVI)
Limited

Phoenix Satellite Television
Development (BVI)
Limited

Phoenix Satellite Television
Development Limited
BEERER
BRAR

Guofeng On-line (Beijing)
Information Technology
Company Limited

BEEER JER) ER
BATERA A

Phoenix Film and
Television (Shenzhen)
Company Limited

BLERAR CRYI)
BRAR

REERF®R 2005

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity

SR L
R REE B RER

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company
RBRUHS
BIREERTA

Hong Kong,
limited liability
company
&
AREERTA

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company
KBRS
EREERA]

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company
HBRUHS
AREERTA

Hong Kong, limited
liability company
BB
AREMEAA

PRC, limited
liability company

I
BREMEAA

PRC, limited
liability company

HE
EREERAR

Place of
operation

BEmR

British Virgin
Islands

EE )i ke

S

Hong Kong

B

British Virgin
Islands

SREB 2L
HE

British Virgin
Islands

RBRL
S

Hong Kong

BB

PRC

HE

PRC

Principal activities

FEXHK

Investment holding

REZER

Publishing and
distribution of
periodicals
AR R BEAT
)

Satellite television
broadcasting

HEBHR

i

Investment holding

wEZERK

Investment holding

REZER

Internet services

B B ABIRTS

Ancillary services
for programme
production

i B SUE

X ERS

Percentage
of equity
interest
held by the
Group
REBATR
B2z
EPid
100%

100%

77%

77%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

94.3%

94.3%

60%

60%

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/
registered
capital
ERTRAZE
R
=& A
US$1

13X7T

HK$100

1004 7T

US$1

17T

US$1

12E7T

HK$2

28T

US$500,000

500,0003 7T

HK$10,000,000

10,000,000/ 7T



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNT 21.
DUE FROM A SUBSIDIARY, NET (CONTINUED)
Notes: (Continued)
Place of
incorporation and Place of
Name kind of legal entity operation
FE AL
=t WK EEERER EEMWR
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin
(Universal) Limited limited liability Islands
company
Phoenix Satellite Television REEZES REBRZ
(Universal) Limited BREEATA S
Phoenix Satellite Television The United States The United
(U.S)) Inc. of America, limited States of
liability company America
Phoenix Satellite Television EFIERE RE EHNBE
(U.S)) Inc. BREFEAT R
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin
(Taiwan) Limited limited liability Islands
company
TEARSRUER EBRELES EBRL
ABRAT BREERAT S
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin
Investments (BVI) limited liability Islands
Limited company
Phoenix Satellite Television REEZES EBRL
Investments (BVI) AREEAT] HS
Limited
Hong Kong Phoenix Satellite Hong Kong, limited Hong Kong
Television Limited liability company
&R EER HE BE
BRAT BREERAT
Phoenix Glow Limited British Virgin Islands, British Virgin
limited liability Islands
company
BEZ XERAR EBELES EBEL
ABREERATA i

T R JaS 2 ) HRE i e B o — o B e 2

NIH R (A

Hiat - (&)
Percentage
of equity
interest
held by the
Principal activities Group
AEE R
BRA
FEXK Aotk
Investment holding 100%
B 100%
Provision of 100%
management and
promotional related
services
R EE 100%
kA
HEEIRRS
Programme 100%
production
£ B 8UE 100%
Dormant 100%
TEmEE 100%
Investment holding 100%
AL 100%
Provision of 100%
agency services
TRAUEAIE 100%
AR

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/
registered
capital
ERTRAE
R
AEfEAE
US$1

17T

US$1

12E7T

US$1

1%E7T

US$1

12E7T

HK$2

27T

US$1

12E7T
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf# R &R izt

21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNT

21.

DUE FROM A SUBSIDIARY, NET (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

Name

=1

Shenzhen Wutong Shan
Television Broadcasting
Limited

RN
BEERBRAR

Phoenix Global Television
Limited

BUEERIRER
BERAR

Fenghuang On-line (Beijing)
Information Technology
Company Limited (Note b)

FEER L) 5 BBl
BRAT (Hztb)

Phoenix Pictures Limited

Phoenix Pictures Limited

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity

AR AL
B R A EERER

PRC, limited
liability company

I
BEREMERA]

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company
RBRUHS
BIREERTA

PRC, limited
liability company

i
BEREMERR]

Hong Kong, limited
liability company
5

BEREERAT

Place of
operation

EE MR

PRC

il

British Virgin
Islands

B )ik
BE

PRC

Hong Kong

e

Phoenix Satellite Television (B.V.l.) Holding Limited is directly
held by the Company, while all other subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company through Phoenix Satellite Television
(B.V.I.) Holding Limited.

On 20 December 2005, the Group set up a wholly-owned
subsidiary, BEZELZ (AtR) EEEMER AR, with a
registered capital of US$1,850,000 (equivalent to
HK$14,346,000) in the PRC. The business scope of the
subsidiary is the provision of internet services. 15% of the
registered capital, amounting to US$278,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,156,000), shall be injected by the Group within three
months from the date of issue of the business license of the
subsidiary on 20 December 2005 and the remaining amount
of US$1,572,000 (equivalent to HK$12,190,000) shall be paid
within one year from the said date. Subsequent to year end,
a capital contribution of US$1,850,000 was made by the
Group.

REERF®R 2005

A& B Ja 73 ]

14 HE 2t % M8 i — [] B %

RIH G (A

Hiat : (&)

Percentage Issued and

of equity fully paid

interest  share capital/

held by the registered

Principal activities Group capital

A T BITRHE

RAfE = B,

FEEK Aotk =& A

Programme 54% RMB5,000,000
production

#i B 2E 54% 5,000,000 A R#

Investment holding 100% US$1

REER 100% IE

Internet services 100%  US$1,850,000

B 48 AR 75 100%  1,850,000%7C

Dormant 100% HK$1

TmE 100% 18T

BEFREERRARBAANR R EER
B MAAEMKE A BRI hAREE
BREEFEREEFRARBESS

R-ZTEZRFE+-_A=-1+H XEAR
BRI —REEHB R RBEELR (Gt
R EERMAERAR @ #MELRAE
1,850,000 7T (185 7414,346,0007%
JT) ° &W%@Tm%a‘%ﬁ R E B
BRI - AEEAR_ZTZTRE+_-A
ZTHZWNBAREREERRZ AR
ZEAREALSE % B M E R A
278,000% 7T (1851 2,156,000% 7T)
MER T &HE1,572,0003% 7T (AER
12,190,000/%7T) 78 Ll B Bt —F R
Tt o REREE - NEBIEEERE
A#%81,850,0003% T ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

21. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNT Q1. T BB 2 D A RE g R R e — [ B S A

DUE FROM A SUBSIDIARY, NET (CONTINUED) PIH TR ()

Notes: (Continued) HiaE - (&)

(i)  Amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured, non-interest bearing (i) FERHBARFEAERIR @ £8 RIFERE
and repayable on demand. = o

(i)  The Company has undertaken to provide necessary financial (i) AR AEERE RV IEERAST N B AR
resources to support the future operations of the subsidiaries. The HIRREE - EFRA - MBARWENEE
Directors are of the opinion that the underlying value of the MERHB AR —EZHAF+_A=+—H
subsidiaries was not less than the carrying amount of the SRR

subsidiaries as at 31 December 2005.

22. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, OTHER PAYABLES AND 900 WEATHE 2K ~ A JE A 2K B % JE ST 2 0A
ACCRUALS
2005 2004
—ETRE —EENF
$’000 $°000
o FT
Accounts payable FEFERFX 10,780 11,615
Other payables and accruals H {th B FRIE K FEET SRR 85,168 153,463
95,948 165,078
The ageing analysis of the accounts payable is as follows: FERBRZARETAT ¢
2005 2004
—EZTREF —ETNF
$’000 $°000
FiT FIT
0-30 days 02 30H 5,730 6,851
31-60 days 31260H 1,828 2,711
61-90 days 61290H 907 468
91-120 days 912120H 457 343
Over 120 days 120HM £ 1,858 1,242
10,780 11,615
The carrying amounts of accounts payable, other payables and FEERFR ~ H AL FERIEIE KBTI R BREE
accruals approximate their fair values. BFER A FEEL -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

24.

25,

Cash at bank and in hand
Short-term bank deposits

B RS R AR MY RE

23. Ble& kB 4% H
Group Company
rEH PN

2005 2004 2005 2004
—EERFE —TTNF —ZBBHE —TTNF
$’000 $°000 $’000 $'000
FiT FT FiT FIT
RITRFHERAS 105,413 75,556 1,972 6,302
REHASRITI7 K 407,951 304,835 = =
513,364 380,391 1,972 6,302

The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 2.63%
(2004: 1.23%); these deposits have an average maturity of 53

days.

LONG-TERM DEPOSIT

Long-term deposit represented the certificate of deposit placed
with the bank which will be mature in October 2007 and is stated

at the amortised cost.

The carrying amount of the long-term deposit approximated to
the fair value (2004: N/A).

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
Ordinary share
of HK$0.1 each

Issued and fully paid:

Beginning of year
Exercise of share
options

End of year

REERF®R 2005

EE
S EEO. 1T
T3k

BERTRAR :
F4
1TERERAE

FH

4,938,666,000

24.

RHRITERNERNER2.63% (ZFFH

F 1.23%) * ZEFRTEROFHEIHAR
53H -
= W17 3K

REEFEFESR 2T CF 1+ A2HNF AR
TTENTFRAE  AWIR B SR AT B

R RHRE(ERE QP

& NEA) -
25. WA
2005 2004
—ESRE —TETE
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
R X} BREL X}
$°000 $°000
Fr Fr
10,000,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
4,936,796,000 493,680 4,931,730,000 493,173
1,870,000 187 5,066,000 507
493,867 4,936,796,000 493,680




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

26. SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has several share option schemes under which it
may grant options to employees of the Group (including Executive
Directors of the Company) to subscribe for shares of the

26. [ I AE

ARARRABEBERERTS - RIBAEIRA
SENREE (BRARRMNATES) XT AR
BAR BRI o PTIR B A i

BRAGTBIRY M IRRITE - AERELEEMX
FESEE M B AR S RO S H AR -

Company. Options are granted and exercisable in accordance
with the terms set out in the relevant schemes. The Group has
no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the
options in cash.

Details of the adoption of HKFRS 2 are set out in Note 2(a). BB B RS ER E 25 FF B A I
2(a) °

RITEERBRERR B B E) S EAR B hiE T 13 1T
EEHKIIAT

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

2005 2004
—EERF ZEEF
Average Average
exercise exercise
price in HK$ Options price in HK$ Options
per share ’000 per share ‘000
Bl BTFH
THEE BB AE 17218 B RRE
AT FR I T
At 1 January ®n—H—H 1.11 56,942 1.10 62,256
Exercised BT 1.05 (1,870) 1.07 (5,066)
Lapsed B 1.06 (694) 1.08 (248)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—8

As at 31 December 2005, out of the 54,378,000 outstanding
options (2004: 56,942,000 options), 53,946,000 options (2004:
53,392,000) were exercisable. Options exercised in 2005 resulted
in 1,870,000 shares (2004: 5,066,000 shares) being issued at
HK$1.05 each (2004: HK$1.07 each). The related weighted
average share price at the time of exercise was HK$1.48 (2004:
HK$1.45) per share.

1.11 54,378 1.11 56,942

R-ZETRFE+=-A=+—H * 454,378,000
9 (ZZZTM4E : 56,942,00017 BERLHE) RIT{E
B E Rt - 53,946,000 B (— T2
£ : 53,892,000) HA] F17fE - R=ZZETREF
TEMEBRED EEURBREAET.058 T (=
TP - FRREEL.07787T) 3£171,870,000
HER% (D (ZZZ Y4 : 5,066,0000%8%15) B
TERMNEENET S RERTR 488
(ZZTZTF : 1.4587T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R & izt

26. SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 26.

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following RERKRITEBIENEIEA R RATHEEWT ¢

expiry date and exercise prices:

Exercise price Share options

TEE AR RE
Expiry date Z8 A HK$ per share 2005 2004
BT —ETRF ZETPF
’000 ‘000
Fig FR
13 June 2010 —E-TFRAT=H 1.08 40,358 40,972
14 February 2011 —T——4%-A+mA 1.99 1,700 1,700
9 August 2011 —T——FN\ANHA 1.13 10,588 12,040
19 December 2012 —ET——F+-A+AhH 0.79 1,732 2,230
54,378 56,942
27. RESERVES 27. fitif
Group AEH
Movements in reserves of the Group during the year were as AEEFANREEEESOT -
follows:
Share Exchange Accumulated
premium reserve deficit Total
R EE BB R BB Bet
$°000 $°000 $°000 $'000
Frr Fir Fir Fir
At 31 December 2003 RZTE=F 824,839 879 (612,471) 213,247
+=-—A=+—H~
Exchange differences arising on HEGINHT B
translation of the financial NG R e
statements of foreign EENER
subsidiaries =¥ - 1,325 - 1,325
Exercise of share options 1T RS AR 4,902 - = 4,902
Profit for the year F R Al - - 150,494 150,494
At 31 December 2004 R-TTEE 829,741 2,204 (461,977) 369,968
t=A=t+—H
Exchange differences arising on BRERINKTE
translation of the financial NGILp s E
statements of foreign EENER
subsidiaries =5 - 1,383 - 1,383
Exercise of share options TIER IR RE 1,774 - - 1,774
Profit for the year FRRA - - 181,482 181,482
Dividends paid relating to 2004 EN=ZZTNFEE
e\ (49,387) - - (49,387)
At 31 December 2005 R=BThHF
+=A=+—H 782,128 3,587 (280,495) 505,220

REERF®R 2005




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

27. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

280

Company

Movements in the reserves of the Company during the year were

as follows:

At 31 December 2003

Exercise of share options
Loss for the year

At 31 December 2004

Exercise of share options
Loss for the year

Dividends paid relating to 2004

At 31 December 2005

TIERE IR
FREE
EN-EENFERE

R=ZBERAF+=-A=+—H

Pursuant to Section 34 of the Companies Law (Revised) of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of the Company,
share premium of the Company is available for distribution to
equity holders. As at 31 December 2005, in the opinion of the
Directors, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to
equity holders, comprising the share premium account and

accumulated deficit,

amounted to approximately

HK$740,494,000 (2004: HK$788,780,000).

DEFERRED INCOME

TAX

Deferred taxation for the year ended 31 December 2005 is
calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability
method using a principal taxation rate of 17.5% (2004: 17.5%).

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit
through the future taxable profits is probable. The Group has
unrecognised tax losses of HK$433,000,000 as at 31 December
2005 (2004: HK$496,000,000) to carry forward against future
taxable income. Included in the unrecognised tax losses,
approximately HK$423,000,000 (2004: HK$485,000,000) have
no expiry date and the remaining balance will expire at various
dates up to and including 2025.

. it ()

ZSN|
RARFARFEEEHIT

Share Accumulated

premium deficit Total
iR 13518 ZEEE ey
$’000 $’000 $’000
Frr Fr Fr
824,839 (40,524) 784,315
4,902 = 4,902

- (437) (437)
829,741 (40,961) 788,780
1,774 - 1,774

- (673) (673)

(49,387) - (49,387)
782,128 (41,634) 740,494

RIFR SRS A ADE IER]) E3HERAR AR
HBEER - AR ARG R E RS IR T i
BEA R-ZTERF+-_A=+—H B=F
RE - AIHDIRTERZEE ANKRQRFE
(BIERMEER R 2EEE) £9740,494,000
BT (ZZTZTPY4E ¢ 788,780,000 7T) ©

28. R SE iy 15 Bt

HE_ZZTRAF+-_A=1t—HILFEMNELT
REDREEELIANEREEZE  REB/RE
17.5% (ZZEZPE : 17.5%) E2EGTE -

sEUﬁ SHEETIRLET A 2 BiTE B8 (F L
52+ MELART BE35 1B AR PR FE 3R B s A1l P 15 Bl 2 48
Fammu SBR REER -_ZTRF+ A
=+ — A2 R ERMIBEE 4 /2433,000,000
BT (ZZZ P4 : 496,000,000/87T) @ Al4E
B LR SH AR SR PE R BN BéiEﬁEuBZW%Eﬁ
A - 49423,000,0008 7T (Z T4 ¢
485 ooo 00078 T) FEEIHIE - MRS AEL
ZRF (RIEZF) MZE B BHEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R & izt

28. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 28. MRIEFTISBL ()
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities (prior REAEEFHIEEERBEZH (EIKHER
to offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) —HFHE A RRAD AT ¢

during the year is as follows:

Deferred income tax liabilities EZFESHEas
Accelerated Purchased programme
tax depreciation and film rights Total
IR EITE BAREREXRE st
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
—E2EERE —ZENFE ZZBERF —_TITNF —BETHFE —_TTHEF
$°000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $’000 $'000
Fr Fir Fr Fr Fr Fr
At the beginning of the year 4] 30 60 - 683 30 743

Charged/(credited) to the na/ GtA) e lkask
consolidated income

statement 933 (80) - (683) 933 (713)
At the end of the year FR 963 30 - - 963 30
Deferred income tax assets EEFEBHEE

Accelerated

Tax losses tax depreciation Total
BIREE INEEBLIR T E st
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
“ERRF —_TTNFE —BTRF —_TTWFE —BFTRF _—TTOEF
$°000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $’000 $'000
FT T FT Frr FT Frr
At the beginning of the year & #] (3,263) (3,547) 3,233 2,804 (30) (743)
Charged/(credited) to the na/ GtA) e lkask
consolidated income
statement 2,300 284 (3,233) 429 (933) 713
At the end of the year FR (963) (3,263) - 3,233 (963) (30)
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29. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 20. R EWE LN A

REFFNRGEEERRSRAFEHRR

Reconciliation of profit from operations to net cash inflow

from operating activities

2005 2004
—EERF —EENF
$’000 $°000
Fr Fr
Profit before income tax KR FT 1S AR A 203,419 156,054
Depreciation of property, plant and Y~ BEREETE
equipment 26,181 24,649
Amortisation of purchased programme BARE - EhEREA
and film rights and other charges s 45 26,041 23,739
Provision for impairment of inventories GFERERE 3,257 =
Provision for impairment of receivables JE W SR IE R (B H 106,177 22,960
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEME « BEIREDN
plant and equipment (Ukzs) E51E (64) 108
Provision for impairment loss in a jointly HEEHE R E R R R G
controlled entity 472 -
Share of losses of jointly (b KRB EE
controlled entities 1,906 -
Interest income, net A EWAHEE (14,723) (6,486)
Other income, net H AU A SRR (30,134) (858)
Increase in accounts receivable JFEE Lk BR XA N (51,034) (88,919)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TEFRIR « 12e RE ML
deposits and other receivables IR, () 2,531 (73,354)
Increase in long-term deposit & BT SR 0 - (31,091)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories HFE@Em (63) 436
Increase in amounts due from related JEU BR S A RIZIEIE AN
companies (725) (284)
Decrease in self-produced programmes B &E B 6,892 685
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable, FETBRFR « H b 718 K&
other payables and accruals fEETFRIAE (Rid) /10 (69,130) 68,646
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income EIEUL AL N (k) 8,658 (13,506)
Decrease in amounts due to related FEASTRAE A R IR
companies (3,185) (1,897)
Cash generated from operations REEBRELENRS 216,476 80,882
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R & izt

30. BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31 December 2005, the Group had banking facilities
amounting to approximately HK$18,407,000 (2004:
HK$18,700,000) of which approximately HK$12,600,000 (2004:
HK$12,600,000) was unutilised. The facilities are covered by
counter indemnities from the Group.

As at 31 December 2005, deposits of approximately

HK$3,407,000 (2004: HK$3,700,000) were pledged with a bank
to secure a banking guarantee given to the landlord of a subsidiary.

31. COMMITMENTS

(@) Programme and film rights acquisition

As at 31 December 2005, the Group had aggregate
outstanding programme and film rights related commitments
of approximately HK$53,902,000 (2004: HK$74,373,000)
of which all (2004: All) was in respect of a film rights
acquisition agreement with STAR TV Filmed Entertainment
Limited (“STAR Filmed”) extending to 27 August 2008. Total
programme and film rights related commitments are
analysed as follows:

Not later than one year TER—F
Later than one year and BR—F
not later than five years BTNERRF

REERF®R 2005

|ATHEE

REZZETRF+=—A=1+—8 ' ~EERIRTT
ZE%4918,407,000/8 7T (Z 224 ¢
18,700,000/7T) - & 4912,600,000% 7T (=
TEPULE : 12,600,000/ 7T) iAENAH - B
FEHAEERENRIERERE

BA422£¢+:HE+*H » #93,407,000
/%75( ZTRPULE : 3,700,000/ 7T) & I F
AEBRT B AR EEMRITER -

KA

(a) BABBEREEMNE
RZZEZRF+-A=1+—8  £E£EH
AT B RERRENFRITRIEETEL
53,902,0008 L (ZEFTWMF :
74,373,000 7T) - EFEE (CEEN
£ 2E)JESTAR TV Filmed
Entertainment Limited ([STAR Filmed]) &
FIRIEE S RE R A - ZIRRTEE

2T N\FNAZ++tH - - BEHE &
B RER R EBREA T ¢

2005 2004
—BFEF —ETNE
$°000 $'000

Fr TIT
20,295 20,343
33,607 54,030
53,902 74,373




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

31. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Service charges

As at 31 December 2005, the Group had total committed
service charges payable to Satellite Television Asian Region
Limited (“STARL”) and Fox News Network L.L.C (“Fox”) of
approximately HK$20,912,000 (2004: HK$62,741,000) and
HK$5,225,000 (2004: HK$8,580,000) in respect of a service
agreement expiring on 30 June 2006 and 25 July 2007,
respectively. Total committed service charges payable to
STARL and Fox are analysed as follows:

Not later than one year TERR—F
Later than one year and BR—F
not later than five years BTNERRAF

As at 31 December 2005, the Group had committed service
fee receivable from Asia Television Limited (“ATV”) of
approximately HK$637,000 (2004: HK$1,953,000) in
respect of the provision of technical support services and
equipment to ATV for the operation of the ATV Home
Channel (U.S. version) in the US. Total future minimum
service fees receivable are analysed as follows:

Not later than one year TER—F
Later than one year and BR—F
not later than five years BNERRF

31. AKIE (45)

(b) PRIEE

R-ZEZTHF+-_A=1+—8  ~"&EES
AR —ETNFANA=TEER_TT+
F+ A= +0 AR RF e m g T
FEBERBER QA ([STARLI) & Fox
News Network L.L.C. ([Fox|) By iRTE & 49
20,912,0008 L (ZEZWM4F :
62,741,000/ 7T) K& 5,225,000/ 70 (==
T4 : 8,580,000%7T) © FETSTARLK
FoxHIARTS & A EERED T T ¢

2005 2004
—BFEF —ETNE
$°000 $'000

Fr TIT
24,246 45,122
1,891 26,199
26,137 71,321

R-ETRE+-A=1+—08  KEBGRHE
BT R RS MR E T RNERARAR ([38
MER]) NEEEBEEFEMNERNSE RE
(ZEBIHR) M e U Ze N E 43 &I BR 75 & £9637,000
BT (ZZZPOEE : 1,953,000/87T) ° KKK
KA EW RS BAEBELIAT ¢

2005 2004
—ZETHF ZTTPNF
$°000 $'000

FT Fir

637 1,302

= 651

637 1,953
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B 53R & izt

31. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Operating lease
As at 31 December 2005, the Group had rental
commitments of approximately HK$18,401,000 (2004:
HK$32,062,000) under various operating leases extending
to September 2011. Total future minimum lease payments
payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as

follows:
Not later than one year TRR—F
Later than one year and BR—F

not later than five years BETERAESF
Later than five years BRAF

(d) Other commitments
As at 31 December 2005, the Group had other operating
commitments of approximately HK$20,887,000 (2004:
HK$17,416,000) under various agreements as follows:

Not later than one year TER—F
Later than one year and EBR—F
not later than five years BTERRSF

146 EEBERFR 2005

31.

AYE (4H)

(c)

BEREN

R-ZEZTHF+-_A=1+—8  AEER
BEZEERE =T ——FNALEHL
JEEHEHI18,401,000/8 7T (—ZEZ4E ¢
32,062,00077T) KITHE © AR AT HsH
R ETRAY - REARIRAF S B AT
I

T

2005 2004
—EZRF —ETNF
$°000 $'000

Fr Frr

7,367 12,647
9,771 16,181
1,263 3,234
18,401 32,062

H fthRE

R-ZEZRF+-_A=1+—0 ' &~"&ER
B Z 1B A AL E & IE4)20,887,000
(ZZZPU4F : 17,416,000/ 7T) * DTN
I

2005 2004
—ETRE  —TITMF
$°000 $'000

F7 FI
11,510 14,159
9,377 3,257
20,887 17,416




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32.

M

The Group had the following significant transactions with
the related parties as defined in HKAS 24 — Related Party

Disclosures:

Service charges paid/payable to STARL

Commission for advertising sales and

[RISTARLZ 1,/ & #O IR TS &

[RISTARLX ¥,/ &V E S &

marketing services paid/payable to STARL K 15 & R#F &

Commission for international subscription
sales and marketing services
paid/payable to STARL

Sales of decoder devices to STARL

Film license fees paid/payable to
STAR Filmed

Purchase of broadcast operations and
engineering equipment from STARL

Programme license fees paid/payable to
Asia Television Enterprise Limited
(“ATVE")

Service charges paid/payable to ATV

Service charges received/receivable
from ATV

Service charges paid/payable to Fox

Service charges paid/payable to British
Sky Broadcasting Limited (“BSkyB”)

Service charges received/receivable from
DIRECTYV, Inc. (“DIRECTV”)

Programme license fees to SGL
Entertainment Limited

(“SGL”)

Key management compensation

MSTARLY f+/ FEfS
MBI ETRE S & &
iSRRG AES

[MSTARLSH & fR %5 28 8311

[MISTAR Filmedsz s,/ & {5 &Y

BEXAHE

MSTARLBE BEHEEER
THEEEM

AEMNEREEERATF]
(IFEREZE]) R
&R B TR &

R MEAR A AT IR TS

R IR EARYER, FEUER )
IR &

[AIFoxSZ A5,/ FES Y AR5 2

[ RENE )

() AEETEREBAL(ERLEESE

[ British Sky Broadcasting Limited

([BSkyBl) 32,/ FEAS Y R 75 B

MDIRECTV, Inc. ([DIRECTV])
IER, UK ) AR 75 22

[MSGL Entertainment Limited
([SGL) X4 B
A&

BIZE245% — BEE A THER) #1T NHIEXR
R :
2005 2004
—EERF ZTTMF
Note(s) $’000 $000
HizF Fir Fir
a, b 54,174 52,917
a, c 51 944
a, d 2,864 2,645
a, e = 64
a, f 20,355 20,337
a,9 = 98
h,i - 709
h,j 28 790
h, k 1,278 1,402
I, m 3,782 3,792
n, o 3,164 5,012
p, g 1,751 2,309
a, r 546 1,182
iii 25,605 26,015

PHOENIX ANNUAL REPORT 2005

147



148

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf# R &R izt

32. RELATE

D PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

STARL, STAR Filmed, SGL and other STAR TV group
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of STAR Group
Limited, which owns 100% of Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group
Co., Ltd., a substantial equity holder of the Company.

Service charges paid/payable to STARL covering a wide range
of technical services provided to the Group are charged based
on the terms of the service agreement dated 29 May 2003.
The summary of the terms of the service agreement is set
out in the section headed “New Star Services Agreement” of
the circular of the Company dated 10 June 2003 (the
“Circular”). Either fixed fees or variable fees are charged
depending on the type of services utilised.

The commission for advertising sales and marketing services
paid/payable to STARL is based on 4%-15% (2004: 15%) of
the net advertising income generated and received by it on
behalf of the Group after deducting the relevant amount of
the third party agency fees.

The commission for international subscription sales and
marketing services paid/payable to STARL is based on 15%
(2004: 15%) of the subscription fees generated and received
by it on behalf of the Group.

Sales of decoder devices to STARL are charged based on
terms mutually agreed upon between both parties.

The film license fees are charged in accordance with a film
rights acquisition agreement with STAR Filmed.

Purchases of broadcast operations and engineering
equipment from STARL are charged in accordance with the
equipment purchase agreement.

ATVE is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ATV which is considered
to be a connected party to the Company pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules. Mr. LIU Changle and Mr. CHAN Wing
Kee beneficially own 93.3% and 6.7 % respectively of Today’s
Asia Limited, which indirectly owns approximately 46% of
ATV as at 31 December 2005. Mr. CHAN Wing Kee also owns
95% of Dragon Sheen Holdings Limited which holds 16.25%
indirect interest in ATV as at 31 December 2005. He also
owns 80% of Dragon Goodwill International Limited, which
has completed its acquisition of 32.75% interests in ATV on
25 July 2003.

REERF®R 2005

32. BHHEA

+32 5 (#)

et -

STARL * STAR Filmed * SGLK &8 %£ 2
AEMAR - HRETEEEEERRA
AIMEEMB AR - H#EAXing Kong
Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd. (AN A &)=
BRRE) K100%4ES ©

[FISTARL ¥,/ FEAS KO iR & & R AR
SERHHZ TR - IRIBETS
RER -TZ fﬁﬂﬂ THRAFIZH
RIS AT - ZIRTE B A0 R 2
%W‘Zli’/ljﬁf‘f-‘, Z=FRATHME
i K ([R2 3B KD o R RTAR AR TS
@8 DREERESFEIRER

% RFAEABARIERAITE °

MISTARLZ {4 /{69 B &5 45 & k5
HREREHAEE HIREE R R AL E R
B RME E SR AERE (BMBRE=R
REEE;E’V%E%,A%E) 4% E15% (ZTZ
PU4E : 15%) 51 &

RISTARLZ Y,/ FEA HO BB ATRB S I
S ERBNAS IREERRARE
B R AR B AR ER B AR B 19 16% (— B2
F15%)ETH ©

[RISTARLSH & BRI saea v T ARIR&E 75
REMGEREE

B0 B IR EESTAR Filmeds] 328
AT R IR o

MSTARLEE B M EE2E R TREM Ty

RIEEH B E BRI E -

DREEDTNERHNEZEWRE AR
M ARIR Bl AR L T 4R RIAEAR AR A R1EY
BEAT © §‘J§§?é‘5‘ﬁ$&ﬁ%ﬂ<’fﬁ5‘ﬁiﬂ
ZETRFT A=+ —HARERE
BSHEMNERAR (EREZEHEETDMNE
R46%HE%m) 93.3% K% 6.7% s ° R=F
THFETZA=+—H ' BKEEAED
BAEEREEER AR5 %ER © 8
REBAERABDANFEEMNE ﬁﬁ’]
16.25%fEZ# s - K IM#E B Dragon
Goodwill International Limited#)80% 1

» mDragon Goodwill International
leltedb"\f?gfitﬂ —t+HRHBEZEK
WS TR BAR AI32.75% 5 ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B7 #& 3R 3 i 5

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(0)

Pursuant to a programme licensing agreement dated 29 May
2003, the programme license fees paid/payable to ATVE with
respect to a list of programmes as stipulated in the schedule
of the agreement are charged at a fixed fee or fees to be
mutually agreed. The summary of the terms of the agreement
are set out in the section headed “ATV Programme Licensing
Agreement” of the Circular.

Service charges paid/payable to ATV cover news footage
and data transmission services provided to the Group which
are charged based on terms mutually agreed upon between
both parties.

Service charges received/receivable from ATV cover the
following services provided to ATV which are charged based
on terms specified in a service agreement:

the use of floor area for the location of receivers;

- the use of master control room equipment and
transmission equipment (including maintenance for
daily wear and tear);

- fibre optic transmission; and
- video tapes administration and playout services.

Fox is an associate of Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co., Ltd.,
a substantial equity holder of the Company.

Service charges paid/payable to Fox cover the following
services provided to the Group which are charged based on
the terms specified in a service agreement:

= granting of non-exclusive and non-transferable license
to subscribe for Fox’s news service;

- leasing of office space and access to workspace,
subject to availability; and

- accessing Fox’s camera hook up at the United Nations,
interview positions in various places in the US and live
shots from Fox’s satellite truck positions for events that
Fox is already covering, subject to availability.

BSkyB is 36.3% owned by News Holdings Limited (formerly
known as The News Corporation Limited) (“NHL”) which
indirectly owns 100% of Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co.,
Ltd., a substantial equity holder of the Company.

32. B N385 (4)

HfeE - (%)

0] @ﬁﬁqu_ﬁﬁﬂ +Hh BT
&1 B A Al s - R RATAEE R —
%W BRSEMNEREEXN EMH
HEFAE - BREESREZEEE

EIRE - %ZT&E%{\%?KE’HE%E%E@%Z@&I
(SRR EARED B 7 el ikl —6f ©
() MEMNERARNEERENFERERK

HRERRE N BRNOREE - T
BE T REBM R -

() FEZEEMNERE R RS E R
THIRE T BN ER AR - ]U;z
PR 195 s FE BR O 6 I
— (ERRKESPAE RS
—  ReENEREREXRE (2
5t B R AR fﬂ%%)

- tEEX R

Fine MR RTS o

()  FoxJ3AZAAIZEZRREXing Kong Chuan
Mei Group Co., Ltd. BB & A A °

(m)  [MAFox3Z 1+, BN RIBRTS B 848 T 53R
FAEEEBRRE - RS E THIRRTS
Toha +5 BB B IR R URER -

—  FIEFoxTEIRBHIEBR LA

SRR

- BREMEE EFHI{”E P ARFE
HEME

—  (ERFoxfuREEBEMEEM - 2

EZ B EREH 51 A K R Fox 1 2
EREBEMERSFoxBEHEITRERN
EHMBEISER ST HEHER

E °

()  The News Holding Limited (3% [The
News Corporation Limited]) (TNHL]) #E
B BSkyB#I36.3%/%# + NHLEEZ 2 &
A ANAR]Z EZIXEXing Kong Chuan
Mei Group Co., Ltd.#J100%# & °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R AR MY RE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

(i)

)

Notes: (continued)

(0)  Service charges paid/payable to BSkyB cover the following
services provided to the Group which are charged based on
terms specified in the service agreements:

- transponder rental;
- uplinking services; and
- encoding and electronic programme guide services.

(p) DIRECTV is 34% indirectly owned by Fox. Fox is an associate
of Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co. Ltd., a substantial equity
holder of the Company.

()  Service charges received/receivable from DIRECTV are
charged based on terms specified in a service agreement.

(n  Programme license fees to SGL are charged based on terms
specified in a license agreement.

Year end balances arising from related parties transactions
as disclosed in Note 32(i) above were as follows:

Amounts due to related companies  FEfBsE A B5KIE

The outstanding balances with related companies are aged
less than one year and are unsecured, non-interest bearing
and repayable on demand.

Key management compensation

Salaries e
Discretionary bonuses BB 2 A TEAL
Quarters and housing allowance BE REEEM
Pension fund RRE

REERF®R 2005

32. BIEHANL35 ()

Bzt : (&)

(0) MIBSkyBXft ARG E ©E T 5
RETAEEERORY - RSB TIIE
BR765 175 7% 45 BR B (6K UL -

—  HEERAEE:
- RALEEHRE &
—  MERETEA EAR -

(o) DIRECTVJhEFoxMEHEA34 % o
FoxJ3Xing Kong Chuan Mei Group Co.,
Ltd. (RA B EZRF) KB AR o

(@) MDIRECTVUER, /FE Uk i AR 75 2 TH3% AR
51546 PR B IR R URER -

(N [ASGLXHOER B Mtk B T IR h s
R A fERRUER

(i) W EXHIES2()FENEEALRIESE

BRI -
2005 2004

—EFIF —TEmE

$°000 $000

T T

1,232 507

(4,900) (8,085)

RIE R BN BRI DR —F » I
REER - RERIZEREE -

@iy FEEEASH

2005 2004
—BBHF —TTOF
$°000 $'000

F Fir
13,499 12,787
5,800 7,300
5,062 4,748
1,244 1,180
25,605 26,015




FINANCIAL SUMMARY BIiSiEE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS Y
(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B ETTZE)
Six months
Year ended Year ended ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 30 June 30 June
2005 2004 2003 2003 2002
“EEBRF —TEME —ET=F ZET=F —TEF
+=-—HA=+—-H +=A=+—H +=ZA=+—8H ~NA=+H8 ~NA=+H
IHFE IFFE 1E7X1E A IEFE IEFE
$°000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000
Fr Fr Fr Fr Fir
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
('e=71)) ('&E71)) (#&E71) (#&E71)
Results ES
Revenue* 1 oN 1,034,768 959,660 304,030 615,462 591,670
Operating expenses* 4 S (633,189) (675,061) (280,001) (566,730) (616,327)
Selling, general and HE  REA
administrative expenses 1THE (242,894) (146,063) (68,608) (142,065) (140,356)
Other income/(expenses), net  HAUkA /(B H) F58 44,734 17,518 7,958 21,631 (29,216)
Profit/(loss) before taxation C S
and minority interests AR A (B518) 203,419 156,054 (36,621) (71,702) (194,229)
Taxation BiIR (20,755) (4,826) (2,559) (3,811) (3,141)
Profit/(loss) before minority B D BUAR SR R E Al
interests wmH (E518) 182,664 151,228 (39,180) (75,513) (197,370)
Minority interests DER R A (1,182) (734) 314 3,150 (2,346)
Profit/(loss) attributable to RARE=IFBA
equity holders of FEEEF (B518)
the Company 181,482 150,494 (38,866) (72,363) (199,716)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY BIiEHE

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EREMAME
(Amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B ETTSE)
As at 31 December As at 30 June
R+=A=t+—8 RA<A=tH
2005 2004 2003 2003 2002
—ETHF —ETIEF ZET=F ZET=F ZETF
$°000 $'000 $000 $°000 $°000
Fr Fr Fir Fir Fir
Total assets BERE 1,161,603 1,082,592 878,039 932,603 997,806
Total liabilities afEEs (154,497) (212,107) (165,516) (180,563) (171,054)
Minority interests DEAR R RS (8,019) (6,837) (6,1083) (6,832) (9,982)
Capital and reserves ARARERFEA
attributable to the AR R
Company’s equity holders 999,087 863,648 706,420 745,208 816,770

On 8 January 2004, the Company changed its financial year end
from 30 June to 31 December. The Directors consider the reason
for the change of financial year end is to align the Group’s business
cycle with that of its advertising customers, and the agents who
represent them, which normally have year end on 31 December
and determine their advertising budgets and operate on a
calendar year basis.

As a result of the change of financial year end from 30 June to 31
December, the consolidated results and consolidated assets and
liabilities have shown two different financial year end.

Due to the change of accounting policy in 2005 on the presentation
of "Advertising Revenues”, relevant figures were restated and the
change had no effect on the profit or loss of the Group. Please
refer to Note 2(v) to the financial statements for details.

As at the date of this report, the executive directors of the
Company are Mr. LIU Changle and Mr. CHUI Keung, the non-
executive directors of the Company are Ms. Michelle Lee
GUTHRIE, Mr. LAU Yu Leung, John, Mr. CHEUNG Chun On,
Daniel, Mr. XU Gang (alternate director: Mr. GONG Jianzhong)
and Mr. CHEUNG San Ping and the independent non-executive
directors are Dr. LO Ka Shui, Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim and Mr.
Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK.
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R-ZZTNE—AN\R  ARRBEVMBEERR
NA=ZtRERART-—A=t—H -BFRR &
B BELEENRESEREEREESER (KK
TEMTFPHRE) WEBBHMRES 3 EHEMH
BFE—RAT-A=+—HAARFHARZEFEH
IREHBERENEE -

BRI BRFARERANA=TEERAS T A==+
— B BERERERSAEERABRIITMEN
RIFARFELER -

* HRE—FETRAFHHAZI[EERA NSRS
FT#E - RS FTEELES) - (EZE TS K
FERREEK I E - BRIF IERS U BERE
Bfat2(v) »

RAEBEFZEAR - AR ZHTEFREIRLES
EREZRITTE - AN A2 IFHTTEF ZMichelle Lee
GUTHRIE &+ ~ & 2ot ~ REBZSEE - FFHIFE
£ (BEEFE BEPSLE) RRFTESLLE - MEL
IERNTTEFERESInesE ~ RE L E KThaddeus
Thomas BECZAK 76 4 »
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PHOENIX SATELLITE TELEVISION HOLDINGS LIMITED

9th Floor, One Harboutfront, 18 Tak Fung Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
TEL 852 2621 9888 FAX 852 2621 9898 WEBSITE http://www.phoenixtv.com

BRERERERA A
NEAHMELEHI8HEERES1EE
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